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The aggregate market value of the registrant’s common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing price of a share of the registrant’s common stock on July 31, 2020, which
was the last day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, as reported by The NASDAQ Global Select Market on such date, was $4.1 billion. Shares of the registrant’s
common stock held by each executive officer, director, and holders of 5% or more of the outstanding common stock who have been deemed to be affiliates have been excluded. This determination
of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.
There were 94,367,482 shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding as of March 26, 2021.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement") are incorporated herein by reference in Part II and Part III of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent stated herein. Such Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year
ended January 31, 2021.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on our beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to us.
Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or assumed future results of operations, business strategies and plans, trends, market
sizing, competitive position, industry environment, potential growth opportunities and product capabilities, among other things. Forward-looking statements
include all statements that are not historical facts and, in some cases, can be identified by terms such as “aim,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “goal,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “strive,” “will,” “would,” or similar expressions and the
negatives of those terms. As used in this report, the terms “nCino,” the “Company,” “Registrant,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean nCino, Inc. and its subsidiaries
unless the context indicates otherwise.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements,
including those described in “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and elsewhere in
this report. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Some of the key factors that could cause
actual results to differ from our expectations include:
•

our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenues, cost of revenues, operating expenses, and our ability to
achieve and maintain future profitability;

•

our ability to execute strategies, plans, objectives, and goals;

•

our ability to compete with existing and new competitors in existing and new markets and offerings;

•

our ability to develop and protect our brand;

•

our ability to effectively manage privacy, information, and data security;

•

costs associated with research and development and building out our sales, professional services and customer support teams;

•

increases in spending by financial institutions in cloud-based technology;

•

our ability to add and retain customers;

•

our ability to expand internationally and associated costs;

•

our ability to comply with laws and regulations;

•

our expectations and management of future growth based on subscription revenues over the term of our customer contracts;

•

our expectations concerning relationships with our customers, partners, and other third parties;

•

the short and long-term impact of COVID-19 on our industry, business, and results of operations;

•

economic and industry trends;

•

projected growth or trend analysis;

•

our relationship with Salesforce and our systems integrators ("SIs");

•

seasonal sales fluctuations;

•

our ability to add capacity and automation to our operations; and

•

our ability to attract and retain key personnel.
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Any forward-looking statement made by us in this report speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Except as required by law, we disclaim
any obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in
these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future. In addition, statements such as “we believe” and similar
statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date on which it is
made and, although we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our
statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted a thorough inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These
statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements
prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not regard
these statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all.
Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein, whether as a result of any
new information, future events, or otherwise.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview
Our mission is to transform financial services through innovation, reputation and speed.
nCino is a leading global provider of cloud-based software for financial institutions. We empower banks and credit unions with the technology
they need to meet ever-changing client expectations and regulatory requirements, gain increased visibility into their operations and performance, replace
legacy systems, and operate digitally and more competitively. Our solution, the nCino Bank Operating System®, digitizes, automates, and streamlines
inefficient and complex processes and workflow and utilizes data analytics and artificial intelligence and machine learning ("AI/ML") to enable financial
institutions to more effectively onboard new clients, make loans and manage the entire loan life cycle, open deposit and other accounts, and manage
regulatory compliance. We serve financial institution customers of all sizes and complexities, including global financial institutions, enterprise banks, regional
banks, community banks, credit unions, and new market entrants, such as challenger banks. Our customers deploy and utilize our digital platform, which can
be accessed anytime, anywhere and from any internet-enabled device, for mission critical functions across their organizations.
Built as a single, multi-tenant SaaS platform, the nCino Bank Operating System transforms the way financial institutions operate, go to market,
and interact with their clients, while delivering measurable return on investment by enabling them to:
•

digitally serve their clients across commercial, small business, and retail lines of business,

•

improve financial results,

•

operate more efficiently,

•

manage risk and compliance more effectively, and

•

establish a data, audit, and business intelligence hub.

We were founded in a bank with the goal of improving that institution’s operations and client service. Realizing the problems we were addressing
were endemic to virtually all banks and credit unions, we were spun out as a separate company in late 2011 with the vision of providing a comprehensive
solution to onboard clients, originate any type of loan and open any type of account on a single cloud-based platform. We initially focused the nCino Bank
Operating System on transforming commercial and small business lending for community and regional banks. We introduced our solution to enterprise banks
in the United States in 2014, and then internationally in 2017, and have subsequently expanded across North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific ("APAC").
Throughout this market expansion, we broadened our solution by adding functionality for retail lending, client onboarding, deposit account opening, analytics
and AI/ML. Our holistic solution enables us to provide a single digital banking platform for financial institutions of all sizes on a global basis. We work with
some of the world’s leading SIs to help implement our solution, which has increased our capacity to deliver and deploy the nCino Bank Operating System and
enabled us to scale more quickly.
As a native cloud platform that utilizes a single code base regardless of the size and complexity of the financial institution, the nCino Bank
Operating System is highly scalable and configurable for the specific needs of each of our customers. Once implemented, our solution becomes deeply
embedded in our customers’ business processes, enabling mission critical workflow across the financial institution on a single platform and allowing our
customers to serve their clients without locality or access constraints. The nCino Bank Operating System connects the front, middle, and back office
employees of a financial institution with clients and third parties across lines of business. We deliver data analytics and AI/ML capabilities through our nCino
IQ ("nIQ") application suite to provide our customers with automation and insights into their operations, such as tools for analyzing, measuring, and
managing credit risk, as well as to improve their ability to comply with regulatory requirements. Fundamental elements of the nCino Bank Operating System
are built on the Salesforce platform (the "Salesforce Platform"), which allows us to focus our product development efforts on building deep vertical
functionality specifically for banks and credit unions while leveraging the Salesforce Platform’s global infrastructure, reliability, and scalability.
We offer the nCino Bank Operating System on a subscription basis pursuant to non-cancellable multi-year contracts that typically range from
three to five years, and we employ a “land and expand” business model. Our initial
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deployment with a customer generally focuses on implementing a client onboarding, loan origination, and/or deposit account opening application in a specific
line of business within the financial institution, such as commercial, small business, or retail. The nCino Bank Operating System is designed to scale with our
customers and once our solution is deployed, we seek to have our customers expand adoption within and across lines of business. The nCino Bank Operating
System leverages common data sets and functionality across applications, which optimizes and accelerates the deployment of our solution throughout a
financial institution.
Our business has achieved rapid growth since its inception. We plan to continue investing in expanding the breadth and depth of the nCino Bank
Operating System and expanding internationally. We believe our product development and global expansion initiatives will continue to drive revenue and
customer growth. Our total revenues were $91.5 million, $138.2 million, and $204.3 million for fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, representing a
49.4% compound annual growth rate. We also had recurring, subscription-based revenues of $64.5 million, $103.3 million, and $162.4 million for fiscal
2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, representing a 58.7% compound annual growth rate. For fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021, we had subscription revenue
retention rates of 163%, 147%, and 155%, respectively. Net losses attributable to nCino for fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021, were $22.3 million, $27.6 million,
and $40.5 million, respectively.

Benefits of the nCino Bank Operating System®
The nCino Bank Operating System is a single, multi-tenant cloud platform that digitizes client onboarding, loan origination, and deposit account
opening across commercial, small business, and retail lines of business. Our solution streamlines employee, client, and third-party interactions and drives
increased profitability, efficiency, transparency, and regulatory compliance across a financial institution. The nCino Bank Operating System was designed by
bankers who understand how financial institutions operate and delivers a significant and measurable return on investment by enabling them to:
•

Digitally Serve Their Clients Across Commercial, Small Business and Retail Lines of Business. The nCino Bank Operating System
delivers a seamless experience across devices, channels, and products, enabling a unified digital relationship between a financial institution,
its employees, clients, and third parties, such as appraisers, lawyers, and regulators. This empowers financial institution employees to be
more efficient and effective and enhance relationships with their clients. Additionally, because nCino is cloud native, these employees are
able to work from the office or remotely 24/7/365, which is a particularly attractive feature given COVID-19 limitations faced by certain of
our customers.

•

Improve Financial Results. Our customers leverage nCino’s capabilities to drive revenue growth by digitally expanding their brand
presence and reach, increasing access and convenience for their employees and clients, delivering new products to grow client wallet share,
and improving client satisfaction and retention. Our SaaS platform can reduce total cost of ownership by eliminating redundant legacy
systems and simplifying our customers’ internal information technology landscape. The nCino Bank Operating System increases
transparency at all organizational levels across lines of business, enabling our customers to measure their operations and performance more
effectively.

•

Operate More Efficiently. Utilizing the nCino Bank Operating System’s automation, workflow, and digitization capabilities allows
financial institutions and their employees to focus on value-add work, reduce time spent on clearing exceptions, reduce duplicative data
entry and data rekeying, help eliminate manual processes, decrease the use of paper files, and accelerate document collection.

•

Manage Risk and Compliance More Effectively. The nCino Bank Operating System helps financial institutions reduce regulatory, credit,
and operational risk through workflow and automation, data reporting, standardized risk rating calculations, and financial modeling. For
example, the content management, automated workflow, and digital audit trail and snapshot functionality within the nCino Bank Operating
System helps our customers more effectively and efficiently prepare for regulatory examinations.

•

Establish a Data, Audit and Business Intelligence Hub. With an open API technology framework and integrations with third-party data
sources, financial institutions can use the nCino Bank Operating System to augment their client and operational data and create a paperless
centralized data hub that enhances data-driven decision-making. This centralized hub enables data to be more easily accessed, modeled, and
analyzed to help
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deliver greater operational, portfolio, and financial intelligence, a more complete client view, improved compliance monitoring and metrics,
as well as the opportunity to more successfully leverage AI/ML.
How Our Solution Works
The nCino Bank Operating System connects financial institution employees, clients, and third parties on a single, cloud-based platform,
eliminating silos and bringing new levels of coordination and transparency to the institution. By utilizing a single platform across business lines, processes,
and channels, banks and credit unions are able to leverage the same data and information across their entire organization. This unified platform provides all of
the functionality necessary to complete mission-critical workflow, enabling client onboarding, loan origination, deposit account opening, analytics, and
compliance.

nCino Applications
Client Onboarding. Built into the nCino Bank Operating System is client onboarding functionality that supports the front, middle, and back
office onboarding process, allowing financial institutions to effectively evaluate the risk of doing business with a client while providing clients an efficient
and personalized user experience. Clients are able to upload documents directly into the nCino Bank Operating System, complete identity verification, and
provide information about
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themselves and their business, providing transparency to the financial institution that enables regulatory compliance, such as Know-Your-Customer (“KYC”).
With enhanced onboarding reporting tools, banks and credit unions can generate customized reports and use real-time analytics and data from government
watchlists and other third-party systems to achieve a holistic client view, enabling our customers to provide more value-added services and custom-tailored
offerings.
Loan Origination. The loan origination functionality embedded within the nCino Bank Operating System combines an innovative and intuitive
framework with automated workflow, checklists, document management, analytics, and real-time reporting to provide a complete, end-to-end loan origination
system from application, to underwriting, to adjudication, to document preparation, to closing. In one view, all stakeholders have visibility into where the loan
process stands and what data is needed to complete the process. Post-closing, the nCino Bank Operating System provides a view into loan performance and
tools for portfolio management, providing financial institution employees the ability to utilize information to maximize efficiency. Each stakeholder in the
loan process works from a single digital loan file allowing clients to apply for loans and upload documents, third parties, such as appraisers, lawyers, and
regulators, to access and review loan files, and employees to seamlessly manage the entire loan process efficiently and compliantly.
Our loan origination functionality supports a wide range of lending products across commercial, small business, and retail lines of business. The
nCino Bank Operating System can facilitate the origination of an institution’s most complex commercial lending products, including syndicated loans,
commercial and industrial loans, commercial real estate loans, and construction loans, while also supporting the depth required for specific products such as
agriculture lending, asset based lending, SBA loans, and leasing. Our solution also supports the speed and convenience required for small business and
consumer loans across products, such as home equity lines of credit, home equity term loans, uncollateralized lines of credit, automobile loans, and credit
cards, while providing the tools needed to address regulatory compliance, including fair lending and the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act.
Deposit Account Opening. The nCino Bank Operating System’s deposit account opening application optimizes the process for opening checking,
savings, debit/ATM cards, money market, certificates of deposit, and retirement accounts. Financial institutions can utilize the intuitive, scalable, and flexible
workflow to open retail, commercial, or small business accounts efficiently while maintaining individual account processes and requirements. Seamlessly
embedded within the account opening experience, the nCino Bank Operating System provides the new client onboarding capability to collect KYC related
information to meet compliance standards. The deposit account opening application allows clients to open a deposit account digitally, across any device, in a
branch, or through a call center, with speed and flexibility.
nCino Platform
The client onboarding, loan origination and deposit account opening applications are built on the nCino platform, which contains common data
sets and functionality including:
•

Business process automation that provides workflow to define, streamline, and connect the business processes associated with a financial
institution’s front, middle, and back office operations. Within the nCino platform, framework components use workflow to initiate and
complete tasks in an efficient, reliable, and effective manner which includes the ability to support complex processes and calculations across
client onboarding, loan origination, and deposit account opening, such as underwriting and automated decisioning.

•

Compliance and risk management tools that provide financial institutions with audit, analytics, and snapshot capabilities to more effectively
manage internal regulation and risk, the examination process, and overall compliance standards. The nCino Bank Operating System helps
establish baseline performance metrics and sets standards and goals to achieve regulatory requirements and institution specific risk
thresholds including with respect to Current Expected Credit Losses ("CECL"), Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (“ALLL”) and fair
lending. Because the nCino platform is highly configurable, it can adjust as regulations and the institution's risk requirements evolve.

•

An intelligent enterprise content management system that includes a standardized filing system across applications, providing instant and
ongoing access to digital documentation and checklists to help ensure that compliance and credit requirements are met. For example, client
documents are associated with a unique identifier eliminating the need for repeat document collection and duplicative data input.

•

A 360-degree client view and reporting capabilities that provide financial institutions the ability to break down internal business line silos
and have visibility into the entire client banking relationship, making it easy
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to connect individuals and businesses to their accounts and products. The reporting capabilities in the nCino platform provide a view into a
financial institution’s portfolio and pipeline to more effectively manage and measure operational performance and forecasting. Reports can
be set to instantly display everything from loan, deposit and branch information to relationship data offering banks and credit unions greater
transparency into their operations.
nIQ
nIQ uses AI/ML to increase efficiency through automation and provides insights through analytics across interactions and into portfolio
management. As part of the nCino Bank Operating System, nIQ works across a financial institution’s front, middle, and back office to empower bank and
credit union employees to respond to client needs more quickly and remain compliant by providing increased visibility and actionable insights. Leveraging
optical character recognition technology, financial institutions can utilize nIQ to automate data extraction, such as extracting data from scanned tax returns
and financial statements, providing new levels of automation in underwriting and greatly reducing loan origination timeframes. Financial institutions can also
leverage predictive analytics to measure performance and monitor risk across the organization, including assessing the credit risk and cash flows of loans and
supporting automated loan decisioning. nIQ provides information when it’s needed, at the point of interaction, allowing bank and credit union employees to
focus on their client’s needs with increased levels of personalized, predictive data.
Open APIs
By leveraging open APIs and productized integrations, the nCino Bank Operating System creates an open ecosystem that brings together
disparate data sources and systems, acting as a data hub that integrates with core systems, credit reporting agencies, and other third-party applications to
centralize a financial institution’s data creating an actionable single data platform and warehouse.
Our Competitive Advantages
We believe our position as a leading global provider of cloud banking software for financial institutions is built on a foundation of the following
strengths:
•

Built by Bankers for Bankers. Our company was started by banking professionals who recognized the need for a single cloud platform to
address the endemic challenges faced by financial institutions. This heritage is the foundation of our deep banking domain expertise, which
differentiates us and continues to drive our strategy to design software that addresses the unique challenges of our financial institution
customers globally.

•

Cloud Banking Technology Pioneer and Market Leader. The nCino Bank Operating System was developed from inception as a native
cloud application and we believe our over nine year track record of technology innovation in digitally transforming financial institutions
distinguishes us in the market. As a first mover in this sector, we have developed trusted relationships and a reputation for successfully
implementing our solution with financial institutions of all sizes in multiple geographies.

•

Single SaaS Platform. We deliver a single SaaS platform that spans business lines and replaces point and other legacy technology solutions
for client onboarding, loan origination, and deposit account opening. This approach allows financial institutions to leverage common data
sets and workflow across lines of business, providing a consistent and engaging digital experience for their employees and clients and a
more comprehensive view of client relationships.

•

Measurable Return on Investment. The nCino Bank Operating System provides quantifiable results for our customers, including increased
client growth and retention, loan volume and efficiency and reduced loan closing times, policy exceptions and operating costs. We enable
our customers to digitally serve their clients across products and channels, providing increased client engagement, enhanced
communication, and increased opportunities to grow wallet share. Our solution allows our customers to operate more efficiently by
increasing employee accountability and productivity and shortening the time it takes to onboard a client, make a loan, and open an account.
Our solution empowers our customers with data driven, real-time insights into their business performance, enabling them to better measure
and manage their operations.
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•

Empowering the Intelligent Enterprise. Through our nIQ applications, we leverage analytics and AI/ML to help financial institutions
become more predictive, personalized, and proactive. nIQ automates data extraction and analysis, allowing our customers to focus on more
value-add activities, and employs predictive analytics to, for example, assist in understanding risk and fair lending compliance. nIQ drives
personalized experiences by embedding actionable information throughout the nCino Bank Operating System, which enables our customers
to make more informed decisions in real time at the point of production.

•

Award-Winning Culture. We are in the business of fundamentally changing the way financial institutions operate. To transform an industry,
we believe it is essential to have a company culture that not only empowers its employees to challenge the status quo, but also emboldens
them to drive change and have a passion for customer success. For these reasons, we have built nCino with a cultural foundation based on
our six core values: Bring Your A-Game, Do the Right Thing, Respect Each Other, Make Someone’s Day, Have Fun, and Be a Winner! We
believe our culture is the foundation for the successful execution of our strategy and, as a result, is a critical strength of our organization. In
recognition of our continued focus on employee engagement, satisfaction, and culture, we have received numerous awards, including being
named the 2019 #1 Best Place to Work in Financial Technology by American Banker and one of the Top 25 Large Companies with the Best
Culture in 2020 by Comparably.

How nCino Will Grow
We intend to continue growing our business by executing on the following strategies:
•

Expand Within and Across our Existing Customers. We believe there is a significant opportunity to further expand within our existing
customer base both vertically within business lines and horizontally across business lines. Our revenues from existing customers continue to
grow as additional users are added, creating strong customer cohort dynamics.

•

Expand our Customer Base. We believe the global market for cloud banking is large and underserved. With banks and credit unions
needing to replace legacy point products with more efficient technology and banking services continuing to shift to digital, we believe there
is a significant opportunity to deliver our solution and expand our customer base to financial institutions of all sizes and complexity around
the world. Currently deployed in 12 countries, we have made significant investments to expand our presence in EMEA and APAC, and our
solution can currently support over 120 languages and over 140 currencies. We promote sales in North America out of our offices in the
United States and Canada, in APAC out of our offices in Australia and Japan, and in EMEA out of our office in the UK.

•

Continue Strengthening and Extending our Product Functionality. We plan to extend the depth and breadth of the nCino Bank Operating
System’s client onboarding, loan origination and deposit account opening functionality across lines of business, while further enhancing its
international capabilities. Additionally, we plan to continue to develop our portfolio analytics and credit modeling capabilities as well as our
AI/ML capabilities through automation, predictive analytics, digital assistant services, and data source integration. These innovations will
further reduce the human resources required for routine but time-consuming tasks, allowing our customers to spend more time on value
creating activities. By continuing to expand the functionality of the nCino Bank Operating System, we can further help our customers
improve financial results, operate more efficiently, manage risk and compliance more effectively, and establish a data, audit, and business
intelligence hub.

•

Foster and Grow our SI and Technology Ecosystem. We have developed strong relationships with a number of leading SIs, including
Accenture, Deloitte, PwC, and West Monroe Partners, that increase our capacity to onboard new customers and implement the nCino Bank
Operating System, extend our global reach, and drive increased market awareness of our company and solution. To date, over 2,000 SI
consultants have completed our training program to implement the nCino Bank Operating System. Through the open architecture of the
nCino Bank Operating System, an increasing number of third-party technology partners, including Docusign, Equifax, Experian,
TransUnion, IDology, LexisNexis, OneSpan, and The Risk Management Association, are integrated with our solution.

•

Selectively Pursue Strategic Transactions. In addition to developing our solution organically, we may selectively pursue acquisitions, joint
ventures, or other strategic transactions. We expect these transactions to

6

Table of Contents

focus on innovation to help strengthen and expand the functionality and features of the nCino Bank Operating System and/or expand our
global presence. For example, in fiscal 2020 we acquired Visible Equity, LLC ("Visible Equity") and FinSuite Pty Ltd ("FinSuite") as part
of our strategy to build out our nIQ capabilities and we established our nCino K.K. joint venture to facilitate our entry into the Japanese
market.
Our Customers
nCino has a diverse customer base ranging from global financial institutions, such as Bank of America, Barclays, Santander Bank, and TD Bank,
to enterprise banks, such as KeyBank, Allied Irish Bank, First Horizon Bank, and Truist Bank, to regional and community banks, as such ConnectOne Bank,
Pacific Western Bank, and Coastal States Bank, to credit unions, such as Corning Credit Union, Navy Federal Credit Union, SAFE Credit Union, and WrightPatt Credit Union, to new market entrants, such as challenger banks like B-North, DBT Företagslån, Recognise Financial, and Judo Bank. These companies
represent a cross-section of global financial institutions, enterprise banks, regional and community banks, credit unions, and challenger banks, and each of
these customers represent a substantial level of Annual Contract Value ("ACV") in its respective category.
As of January 31, 2021, we had over 330 financial institutions that have contracted for the nCino Bank Operating System for client onboarding,
loan origination, and/or deposit account opening, of which 224 each generated more than $100,000 in subscription revenues for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2021. In addition, we have over 930 financial institutions that have contracted for our Portfolio Analytics solution that we acquired with the
Visible Equity acquisition in fiscal 2020. In total, we had over 1,260 financial institution customers as of January 31, 2021. No single customer represented
more than 10% of total revenues in fiscal 2021.
Our Relationship with Salesforce
From our inception, we built the nCino Bank Operating System on the Salesforce Platform to leverage its global infrastructure, reliability, and
scalability. Building on the Salesforce Platform has allowed us to benefit from Salesforce’s investment in the continual improvement of the Salesforce
Platform. We believe we have a mutually beneficial strategic relationship with Salesforce.
Salesforce Ventures, an affiliate of Salesforce, made investments in our common stock in January 2014, March 2015, July 2017, January 2018,
and September 2019. As of January 31, 2021, Salesforce was our second largest stockholder and beneficially owned 10.6% shares of our common stock.
Pursuant to our agreement with Salesforce ("the Salesforce Agreement"), when we sell our client onboarding, loan origination, and/or deposit
account opening applications, we include a subscription to the underlying Salesforce Platform and remit a subscription fee to Salesforce. In exchange,
Salesforce provides the hosting infrastructure and data center for these applications, as well as configuration, reporting, and other functionality within the
Salesforce Platform. In addition, under the Salesforce Agreement, we are an authorized reseller of Salesforce’s CRM functionality to certain financial
institutions in the United States. Our original agreement with Salesforce was entered into in December 2011. On June 19, 2020, this agreement was
superseded and replaced by the Salesforce Agreement which expires on June 19, 2027 unless earlier terminated by either party in the event of the other
party’s material breach, bankruptcy, change in control in favor of a direct competitor, or intellectual property infringement. The Salesforce Agreement
automatically renews for additional one-year periods thereafter unless notice of termination is provided.
Sales and Marketing
Our sales team includes business development representatives, account executives, field sales engineers, and customer success managers. This
team is responsible for outbound lead generation, driving new business, and helping to manage account relationships and renewals, further driving adoption
of our solution within and across lines of business. These teams maintain close relationships with existing customers and act as an advisor to each financial
institution to help identify and understand their unique needs, challenges, goals, and opportunities.
Our marketing team oversees all aspects of the nCino global brand including public relations, digital marketing, social media, product marketing,
graphic design, conferences, and events. Our marketing efforts are focused on promoting direct sales, inbound lead generation, and brand building. We
leverage online and offline marketing channels by sponsoring customer conferences, participating in trade shows, and using webinars, digital marketing, and
social media.
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Customer Success
Once a customer contracts for the nCino Bank Operating System, we either directly or working with SIs, provide configuration and
implementation services to assist the customer in the deployment of our solution. Configuration and implementation engagements typically range in duration
from three to 18 months, depending on scope. For enterprise financial institutions, we generally work with SIs such as Accenture, Deloitte, and PwC. For
regional financial institutions, we work with SIs such as West Monroe Partners, and for community banks we work with SIs such as Enforce or we perform
configuration and implementation ourselves. Where we work with SIs, we generally field a small team of advisory consultants alongside the SIs to help
ensure the success of the engagement.
We support our customers with 24/7 access to engineers and other technical support personnel, outcome based support offerings, release
management, managed services, and also offer technical support via online chat. To help our customers achieve success with the nCino Bank Operating
System, we offer in-depth change management workshops, classroom and virtual end user and administrator training, consultative functionality adoption
services, and best practices. The nCino Customer Success Management team is the customer’s central touch point, whose primary job is to manage the longterm health and success of each customer.
Over 36,000 of our customers’ employees, representing over 95% of our financial institution customers utilizing our client onboarding, loan
origination, and/or deposit account opening applications, participate in our online nCino User Community. In this community, users can access over 7,500
product guides and technical documents, engage and share best practices with other users and nCino subject matter experts through over 30 unique user
groups, suggest and vote for future product development ideas, and access training videos, materials and product certifications.
Research and Development
Our research and development organization is responsible for the design, development, and testing of the nCino Bank Operating System. We
utilize Agile software development methodologies and industry best practices, such as continuous integration/continuous deployment, automated testing, and
distributed version control, to develop new functionality and enhance our existing solution. We provide opportunities for innovation through hackathons and
new technology pilots, and we encourage customers to participate in our Product Design Programs to provide us with input on our product development
roadmap. Our research and development spend was $58.3 million or 28.5% of total revenues in fiscal 2021.
Competition
The primary competition for our solution has historically been point solution vendors and, to a lesser extent, systems internally developed by
financial institutions. We believe our ability to provide client onboarding, loan origination, deposit account opening, analytics, and AI/ML on a single
platform across commercial, small business, and retail lines of business, our deep banking domain expertise, our reputation for high-quality professional
services and customer support, and the culture of our company distinguish us from our competition. We believe our success in growing our business will
depend on our ability to demonstrate to financial institutions that our solution provides superior business outcomes to those of third-party vendors or
internally developed systems. In this regard, we are likely to be assessed on a number of factors, including:
•

breadth and depth of functionality;

•

ease of deployment, implementation and use;

•

total cost of ownership and return on investment;

•

level of customer satisfaction;

•

brand awareness and reputation;

•

cloud-based technology platform and pricing model;

•

quality of implementation and customer support services;

•

capability for configurability, integration, and scalability;
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•

domain expertise in banking technology;

•

security and reliability;

•

ability of our solution to support compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

•

ability to innovate and respond to customer needs quickly; and

•

ability to integrate with third-party applications and systems.

We believe we compete favorably with respect to these factors but we expect competition to increase as existing competitors evolve their
offerings and as new companies enter our market. Our ability to remain competitive will depend on our ongoing efforts in research and development, sales
and marketing, professional services, customer support, and our business operations generally. For additional information, see the section titled “Risk Factors
—The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive and highly fragmented, and pricing pressure, new technologies, or other competitive
dynamics could adversely affect our business and results of operations.”
Intellectual Property
Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our core technology and innovations. We rely on federal, state, common law, and
international rights, as well as contractual restrictions, to protect our intellectual property. We control access to our proprietary technology by entering into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and confidentiality agreements with third parties. We seek patent
protection for certain of our key innovations, protocols, processes, and other inventions. We pursue the registration of our trademarks, service marks, and
domain names in the United States and in certain other locations. These laws, procedures and restrictions provide only limited protection and the legal
standards relating to the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain and still evolving. Furthermore, effective
patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our products are available.
As of January 31, 2021, we had 12 issued U.S. patents as well as 1 patent application pending in the U.S. We file patent applications where we
believe there to be a strategic technological or business reason to do so. Although we actively attempt to utilize patents to protect our technologies, we believe
that none of our patents, individually or in the aggregate, are material to our business.
Human Capital Management
We are in the business of fundamentally changing the way financial institutions operate. To transform an industry, we believe it is essential to
have a company culture that not only empowers its employees to challenge the status quo, but also emboldens them to drive change and have a passion for
customer success. For these reasons, we have built nCino with a cultural foundation based on our six core values: Bring Your A-Game, Do the Right Thing,
Respect Each Other, Make Someone’s Day, Have Fun, and Be a Winner! We believe our culture is the foundation for the successful execution of our strategy
and, as a result, is a critical strength of our organization. In recognition of our continued focus on employee engagement, satisfaction and culture, we have
received numerous awards, including being recognized by Comparably for having one of the Best Company Cultures (Large Companies), one of the Best
Large Companies for Diversity, and one of the Best Large Companies for Women in 2020.
As of January 31, 2021, we have 1,115 employees, of which approximately 85% were in the United States and 15% were in our other locations
around the globe. We have not experienced work stoppages, as a result of COVID-19 or otherwise, and believe our employee relations are good.
Diversity, Community, and Inclusion
nCino’s core values reflect our culture of humanity and humility; providing a place for us to be who we are, appreciate one another, and excel
together. To demonstrate a commitment to a culture of inclusiveness, nCino proudly sponsors an employee-led Diversity, Equality, and Inclusion Council as
well as Employee Resource Groups respectively focused on our Veteran, LGBTQ, and Diaspora employee populations. nCino has recently hired a full-time
Diversity, Community, and Inclusion leader to champion these initiatives, with support and oversight from nCino’s CEO, Board of Directors, and Human
Resources leadership.
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nCino prioritizes giving back to our communities and volunteering time by providing all global employees paid volunteer days separate from
regular leave or holidays. nVolve, nCino’s employee-led volunteer and community service team, sponsors and supports projects, programs, and charitable
organizations across our global communities. Committed to community service and inspiring the next generation through technology and education, nVolve
makes a difference by mobilizing nCino employees when and where there is a need, dedicating thousands of volunteer hours each year.
Compensation, Benefits and Well-being
nCino’s future success is dependent on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel. nCino offers competitive compensation,
opportunities for equity ownership, and generous, country-specific benefit packages. Our retirement plans help employees invest in their future. In addition,
we offer competitive parental leaves, holiday pay, and vacation time. As part of our response to COVID-19, nCino offered incremental benefits to our
employees, including childcare consultations, childcare stipends, and home office allowances. Our Global Job Framework promotes transparency of career
progression by levelling compensation for jobs with common expectations, competency requirements, and scope of responsibilities across geographies and
business units. nCino supports healthy employee lifestyles and wellness by offering office step challenges, complimentary healthy snacks, cycle to work
programs, on-site flu shots, and recreational outings. These offerings demonstrate a commitment to our employees’ well-being and play a critical role in
engaging and retaining the talented individuals that comprise our organization.
Available Information
Our website is located at www.ncino.com and our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K,
and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and all amendments to these filings, can be obtained free of charge from our
website. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are not incorporated into this filing. Further, the Company’s references to the
URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
You should consider and read carefully all of the risks and uncertainties described below, as well as other information included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our
consolidated financial statements and related notes before making an investment decision with respect to our common stock. The risks described below are
not the only ones we face. The occurrence of any of the following risks or additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently
believe to be immaterial could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In such case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Summary Risk Factors
The below summary of risk factors provides an overview of many of the risks we are exposed to in the normal course of our business activities. As
a result, the below summary risks do not contain all of the information that may be important to you, and you should read the summary risks together with the
more detailed discussion of risks set forth following this section under the heading “Risk Factors,” as well as elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additional risks, beyond those summarized below or discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, may apply to our activities or operations as
currently conducted or as we may conduct them in the future or in the markets in which we operate or may in the future operate. Consistent with the
foregoing, we are exposed to a variety of risks, including risks associated with the following:
•

We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future operating results, and we may not achieve our expected
operating results in the future.

•

We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

•

If we are unable to attract new customers or continue to broaden our existing customers’ use of our solution, our revenue growth will be
adversely affected.

•

If the market for cloud-based banking technology develops more slowly than we expect or changes in a way that we fail to anticipate, our
sales would suffer and our results of operations would be adversely affected.
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•

We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate in the future.

•

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.

•

We may not accurately predict the long-term rate of customer subscription renewals or adoption of our solution, or any resulting impact on
our revenues or operating results.

•

A breach of our security measures or those we rely on could result in unauthorized access to customer or their clients’ data, which may
materially and adversely impact our reputation, business, and results of operations.

•

Fundamental elements of the nCino Bank Operating System are built on the Salesforce Platform and we rely on our agreement with
Salesforce to provide our solution to our customers.

•

Because we recognize subscription revenues over the term of the contract, downturns or upturns in our business may not be reflected in our
results of operations until future periods.

•

We derive all of our revenues from customers in the financial services industry, and any downturn or consolidation or decrease in
technology spend in the financial services industry could adversely affect our business.

•

The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive and highly fragmented, and pricing pressure, new technologies, or other
competitive dynamics could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

•

We depend on data centers operated by or on behalf of Salesforce, Amazon Web Services ("AWS") and other third parties, and any
disruption in the operation of these facilities could adversely affect our business and subject us to liability.

•

We may acquire or invest in companies, or pursue business partnerships, which may divert our management’s attention or result in dilution
to our stockholders, and we may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits
of such acquisitions, investments or partnerships.

•

Because two of our stockholders collectively hold a substantial amount of our total outstanding common stock, the influence of our public
stockholders over significant corporate actions will be limited and sales by either of these stockholders could adversely affect the value of
our common stock.

•

Our customers are highly regulated and subject to a number of challenges and risks. Our failure to comply with laws and regulations
applicable to us as a technology provider to financial institutions could adversely affect our business and results of operations, increase
costs and impose constraints on the way we conduct our business.

•

We are presently subject to a government investigation and a civil suit involving alleged violations of antitrust laws relating to our hiring
and wage practices. These matters or future litigation against us could adversely affect our operations and prospects, damage our reputation,
and be costly and time-consuming to defend.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future operating results, and we may not achieve our expected operating
results in the future.
As a result of our limited operating history, our ability to forecast our future operating results, including revenues, cash flows, and profitability, is
limited and subject to a number of uncertainties. We have encountered and will encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing
companies in the technology industry, such as the risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If our assumptions regarding these
risks and uncertainties are incorrect or change due to changes in our markets, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial
results may differ materially from our expectations and our business may suffer.
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We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
We began operations in late 2011 and have experienced net losses since inception. We generated net losses attributable to nCino of $22.3 million,
$27.6 million, and $40.5 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of $161.1 million at
January 31, 2021. We will need to generate and sustain increased revenue levels in future periods in order to become profitable, and, even if we do, we may
not be able to maintain or increase our level of profitability. We intend to continue to expend significant resources to support further growth and extend the
functionality of the nCino Bank Operating System, expand our sales and product development headcount, increase our marketing activities, and grow our
international operations. We will also face increased costs associated with growth and the expansion of our customer base and have seen increased costs in
becoming a public company. Our efforts to grow our business may be more costly than we expect, and we may not be able to increase our revenues enough to
offset our increased operating expenses. We expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in product development, and we cannot
predict whether or when we will achieve or sustain profitability. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the value of our business and common
stock may significantly decrease.
If we are unable to attract new customers or continue to broaden our existing customers’ use of our solution, our revenue growth will be adversely
affected.
To increase our revenues, we will need to continue to attract new customers and succeed in having our current customers expand the use of our
solution across their institution. For example, our revenue growth strategy includes increased penetration of markets outside the United States as well as
selling our retail applications to existing and new customers, and failure in either respect would adversely affect our revenue growth. In addition, for us to
maintain or improve our results of operations, it is important that our customers renew their subscriptions with us on the same or more favorable terms to us
when their existing subscription term expires. Our revenue growth rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including customer
spending levels, customer dissatisfaction with our solution, decreases in the number of users at our customers, changes in the type and size of our customers,
pricing changes, competitive conditions, the loss of our customers to other companies, and general economic conditions. Our customers may also require
fewer subscriptions for our solution as its use may enable them to operate more efficiently over time. Therefore, we cannot assure you that our current
customers will renew or expand their use of our solution. If we are unable to sign new customers or retain or attract new business from current customers, our
business and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
If the market for cloud-based banking technology develops more slowly than we expect or changes in a way that we fail to anticipate, our sales would
suffer and our results of operations would be adversely affected.
Use of, and reliance on, cloud-based banking technology is still at an early stage and we do not know whether financial institutions will continue
to adopt cloud-based banking technology such as the nCino Bank Operating System in the future, or whether the market will change in ways we do not
anticipate. Many financial institutions have invested substantial personnel and financial resources in legacy software, and these institutions may be reluctant,
unwilling, or unable to convert from their existing systems to our solution. Furthermore, these financial institutions may be reluctant, unwilling, or unable to
use cloud-based banking technology due to various concerns such as the security of their data and reliability of the delivery model. These concerns or other
considerations may cause financial institutions to choose not to adopt cloud-based banking technology such as ours or to adopt them more slowly than we
anticipate, either of which would adversely affect us. Our future success also depends on our ability to sell additional applications and functionality, such as
nIQ, to our current and prospective customers. As we create new applications and enhance our existing solution, these applications and enhancements may
not be attractive to customers. In addition, promoting and selling new and enhanced functionality may require increasingly costly sales and marketing efforts
and if customers choose not to adopt this functionality, our business and results of operations could suffer. If financial institutions are unwilling or unable to
transition from their legacy systems, or if the demand for our solution does not meet our expectations, our results of operations and financial condition will be
adversely affected.
We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate in the future.
Our revenues increased from $91.5 million for fiscal 2019 to $138.2 million for fiscal 2020 to $204.3 million for fiscal 2021. We may not be able
to sustain revenue growth consistent with our recent history, if at all. Our revenue growth in recent periods may not be indicative of our future performance.
Furthermore, to the extent we grow in future periods, maintaining consistent rates of revenue growth may be difficult. Our revenue growth may also slow or
even reverse in future periods due to a number of factors, which may include slowing demand for our solution, increasing competition, decreasing growth of
our overall market, the impact of COVID-19, our inability to attract and retain a sufficient number of financial institution customers, concerns over data
security, our failure, for any reason, to capitalize on growth opportunities, or general
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economic conditions. If we are unable to maintain consistent revenue growth, the price of our common stock could decline or otherwise be volatile and it may
be difficult for us to achieve and maintain profitability.
Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.
Our quarterly results of operations, including the levels of our revenues, gross margin, profitability, cash flow, and deferred revenue, may vary
significantly in the future and, accordingly, period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful. Thus, the results of any one
quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many
of which are outside of our control, and may not fully or accurately reflect the underlying performance of our business. For example, purchases of our
Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP") solution during the COVID pandemic may have had the effect of accelerating demand that might have otherwise
materialized as new business in later periods as well as accelerating the activation of the licenses and recognition of subscription revenues associated with the
PPP solution. Further, while subscriptions with our customers include multi-year non-cancellable terms, in a limited number of contracts, customers have an
option to buy out of the contract for a specified termination fee. If such customers exercise this buy-out option, or if we negotiate an early termination of a
contract at a customer’s request, any termination fee would be recognized in full at the time of termination, which would favorably affect subscription
revenues in that period and unfavorably affect subscription revenues in subsequent periods. Fluctuation in quarterly results may negatively impact the value
of our common stock. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results include, without limitation, those listed below:
•

our ability to retain current customers or attract new customers;

•

the activation, delay in activation, or cancellation of large blocks of users by customers;

•

the timing of recognition of professional services revenues;

•

the amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations, and infrastructure;

•

acquisitions of our customers, to the extent the acquirer elects not to continue using our solution or reduces subscriptions to it;

•

customer renewal rates;

•

increases or decreases in the number of users licensed or pricing changes upon renewals of customer contracts;

•

network outages or security breaches;

•

general economic, industry, and market conditions (particularly those affecting financial institutions);

•

changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

•

seasonal variations in sales of our solution, which have historically been highest in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year;

•

the timing and amount of litigation and litigation-related expenses;

•

the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive dynamics of our
industry, including consolidation among competitors, customers, or strategic partners; and

•

the timing of expenses related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses and potential future charges for impairment
of goodwill from acquired companies.
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We may not accurately predict the long-term rate of customer subscription renewals or adoption of our solution, or any resulting impact on our revenues
or operating results.
Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our solution after the expiration of the initial or current subscription term, and
our customers, if they choose to renew at all, may renew for fewer users or on less favorable pricing terms. Since the average initial term of our customer
agreements is three to five years, and we only began selling our solution in 2012, we have limited historical data with respect to rates of customer subscription
renewals and cannot be certain of anticipated renewal rates. Our renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our
customers’ satisfaction with our pricing or our solution or their ability to continue their operations or spending levels. If our customers do not renew their
subscriptions for our solution on similar pricing terms, our revenues may decline and our business could suffer.
Additionally, as the markets for the nCino Bank Operating System develop, we may be unable to attract new customers based on the same
subscription model we have used historically. Moreover, large or influential financial institution customers may demand more favorable pricing or other
contract terms from us. As a result, we may in the future be required to change our pricing model, reduce our prices, or accept other unfavorable contract
terms, any of which could adversely affect our revenues, gross margin, profitability, financial position, and/or cash flow.
A breach of our security measures or those we rely on could result in unauthorized access to customer or their clients’ data, which may materially and
adversely impact our reputation, business, and results of operations.
Certain elements of our solution, particularly our analytics applications, process and store personally identifiable information (“PII”) such as
banking and personal information of our customers’ clients, and we may also have access to PII during various stages of the implementation process or during
the course of providing customer support. Furthermore, as we develop additional functionality, we may gain greater access to PII. We maintain policies,
procedures, and technological safeguards designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of this information and our information technology
systems. However, we and our third party service providers, frequently defend against and respond to data security incidents. We cannot entirely eliminate the
risk of improper or unauthorized access to or disclosure of PII or other security events that impact the integrity or availability of PII or our systems and
operations, or the related costs we may incur to mitigate the consequences from such events. Further, the nCino Bank Operating System is a flexible and
complex software solution and there is a risk that configurations of, or defects in, the solution or errors in implementation could create vulnerabilities to
security breaches. There may be continued unlawful attempts to disrupt or gain access to our information technology systems or the PII or other data of our
customers or their clients that may disrupt our or our customers’ operations. In addition, because we leverage third-party providers, including cloud, software,
data center, and other critical technology vendors to deliver our solution to our customers and their clients, we rely heavily on the data security technology
practices and policies adopted by these third-party providers. A vulnerability in a third-party provider’s software or systems, a failure of our third-party
providers’ safeguards, policies or procedures, or a breach of a third-party provider’s software or systems could result in the compromise of the confidentiality,
integrity, or availability of our systems or the data housed in our solution.
Cyberattacks and other malicious internet-based activity continue to increase and evolve, and cloud-based providers of products and services
have been and are expected to continue to be targeted. In addition to traditional computer “hackers,” malicious code (such as viruses and worms), phishing,
employee theft or misuse, and denial-of-service attacks, sophisticated criminal networks as well as nation-state and nation-state supported actors now engage
in attacks, including advanced persistent threat intrusions. Current or future criminal capabilities, discovery of existing or new vulnerabilities, and attempts to
exploit those vulnerabilities or other developments, may compromise or breach our systems or solution. In the event our or our third-party providers’
protection efforts are unsuccessful and our systems or solution are compromised, we could suffer substantial harm. A security breach could result in
operational disruptions, loss, compromise or corruption of customer or client data or data we rely on to provide our solution, including our analytics initiatives
and offerings that impair our ability to provide our solution and meet our customers’ requirements resulting in decreased revenues and otherwise materially
negatively impacting our financial results. Also, our reputation could suffer irreparable harm, causing our current and prospective customers to decline to use
our solution in the future. Further, we could be forced to expend significant financial and operational resources in response to a security breach, including
repairing system damage, increasing security protection costs by deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, and defending against and
resolving legal and regulatory claims, all of which could be costly and divert resources and the attention of our management and key personnel away from our
business operations.
Federal and state regulations may require us or our customers to notify individuals of data security incidents involving certain types of personal
data or information technology systems, and those laws and regulations continue to evolve
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to add more reporting requirements on faster timelines. Security compromises experienced by others in our industry, our customers, or us may lead to public
disclosures and widespread negative publicity. Any security compromise in our industry, whether actual or perceived, could erode customer confidence in the
effectiveness of our security measures, negatively impact our ability to attract new customers, cause existing customers to elect not to renew or expand their
use of our solution, or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines, or other actions or liabilities, which could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations.
In addition, some of our customers contractually require notification of data security compromises and include representations and warranties in
their contracts with us that our solution complies with certain legal and technical standards related to data security and privacy and meets certain service
levels. In certain of our contracts, a data security compromise or operational disruption impacting us or one of our critical vendors, or system unavailability or
damage due to other circumstances, may constitute a material breach and give rise to a customer’s right to terminate their contract with us. In these
circumstances, it may be difficult or impossible to cure such a breach in order to prevent customers from potentially terminating their contracts with us.
Furthermore, although our customer contracts typically include limitations on our potential liability, there can be no assurance that such limitations of liability
would be adequate. We also cannot be sure that our existing general liability insurance coverage and coverage for errors or omissions will be available on
acceptable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more claims, or that our insurers will not deny or attempt to deny coverage as to
any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more claims against us, the inadequacy or denial of coverage under our insurance policies, litigation to
pursue claims under our policies, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or
coinsurance requirements, could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Fundamental elements of the nCino Bank Operating System are built on the Salesforce Platform and we rely on our agreement with Salesforce to provide
our solution to our customers.
Fundamental elements of the nCino Bank Operating System, including our client onboarding, loan origination, and deposit account opening
applications, are built on the Salesforce Platform and we rely on the Salesforce Agreement to use the Salesforce Platform in conjunction with our solution,
including for hosting infrastructure and data center operations. Any termination of our relationship with Salesforce would result in a materially adverse
impact on our business model.
The Salesforce Agreement expires on June 19, 2027, unless earlier terminated by either party in the event of the other party’s material breach,
bankruptcy, change in control in favor of a direct competitor, or intellectual property infringement, and automatically renews for additional one-year periods
thereafter unless notice of non-renewal is provided. If we are unable to renew our agreement with Salesforce, there would be, absent a termination for cause, a
wind-down period during which existing customers would be able to continue using the nCino Bank Operating System in conjunction with the Salesforce
Platform, but we would be unable to provide our solution to new customers and could be limited in our ability to allow current customers to add additional
users. In addition, if we are unable to renew our agreement with Salesforce, our customers would need to obtain a separate subscription from Salesforce in
order to access the nCino Bank Operating System. This could cause a significant delay in the time required to enter into agreements with customers, place us
and our customers at a disadvantage in negotiating with Salesforce, and lead customers not to renew or enter into agreements with us. We also cannot assure
you that the pricing or other terms in any renewal with Salesforce would be favorable to us, and if not, our business and operating results may be materially
and adversely affected.
In addition, Salesforce has the right to terminate its agreement with us in certain circumstances, including in the event of a material breach of the
Salesforce Agreement by us. If Salesforce terminates our agreement for cause, it would not be required to provide the wind-down period described above. We
are also required to indemnify Salesforce for claims made against Salesforce by a third party alleging that the nCino Bank Operating System infringes the
intellectual property rights of such third party.
An expiration or termination of the Salesforce Agreement would cause us to incur significant time and expense to acquire rights to, or develop, a
replacement solution and we may not be successful in these efforts, which could cause the nCino Bank Operating System to become obsolete. Even if we
were to successfully acquire or develop a replacement solution, some customers may decide not to adopt the solution and may, as a result, decide to use a
different product. If we were unsuccessful in acquiring or developing a replacement solution or acquire or develop a replacement solution that our customers
do not adopt, our business, results of operations, and brand would be materially and adversely affected.
Furthermore, there are no exclusivity arrangements in place with Salesforce that would prevent them from developing their own offerings that
compete directly with ours, acquiring a company with offerings similar to ours, or investing
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greater resources in our competitors. While we believe our relationship with Salesforce is strong, Salesforce competing with us could materially and adversely
affect our business and results of operations.
Privacy and data security concerns, data collection and transfer restrictions and related domestic or foreign regulations may limit the use and adoption of
the nCino Bank Operating System and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Personal privacy, information security, and data protection are significant issues in the United States, the European Union (“EU”), and a number
of other jurisdictions where we offer the nCino Bank Operating System. The regulatory framework governing the collection, processing, storage, and use of
certain information, particularly financial and other PII, is rapidly evolving. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with applicable privacy, security,
or data protection laws, regulations, or industry standards may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We expect that there will continue to be new proposed and adopted laws, regulations, and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection,
and information security in the United States, the EU, and other jurisdictions in which we operate. For instance, the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA)
became effective on January 1, 2020. The CCPA gives California residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal information, receive detailed
information about how their personal information is used and shared by requiring covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers (as
that term is broadly defined), and provide such consumers rights to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for
violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. Although there are exemptions for certain
personal information and the CCPA’s implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, the CCPA
may increase our compliance costs and potential legal privacy and cybersecurity risks. Additionally, a new California ballot initiative, the California Privacy
Rights Act (CPRA), passed in November 2020. The CPRA will impose additional data protection obligations on companies doing business in California,
including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive
data. It will also create a new California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and could result in increased privacy and
information security enforcement. The majority of the provisions will go into effect on January 1, 2023, and additional compliance investment and potential
business process changes may be required. Similar laws have been proposed in other states and at the federal level, and if passed, such laws will require
additional resources to ensure compliance, and may have potentially conflicting requirements that would make compliance challenging. Similarly, the
European Commission adopted the GDPR, which became fully effective on May 25, 2018, and imposes similarly complex and stringent data protection
requirements with regard to the processing of EU PII. Violations of the GDPR carry penalties of up to 4% of gross annual turnover. In July 2020, the Court of
Justice of the European Union (“CJEU”) issued its Schrems II decision that invalidated the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework as set forth by the U.S.
Department of Commerce that provided one basis for the transfer of personal data from the European Union to the United States under the GDPR. The CJEU
decision also requires additional safeguards be considered for the use of standard contractual clauses. nCino participates in and has certified to the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield Framework, but is also implementing alternative transfer mechanisms, such as standard contractual clauses, following the Schrems II decision.
We continue to evaluate the impact of the Schrems II decision and any additional steps needed to continue to safeguard data and comply with evolving data
transfer requirements under applicable regulations and regulatory guidance. Additional GDPR interpretations and guidance have been and may continue to be
issued related to the recent CJEU decision, as well as with regard to the GDPR and other European data protection requirements. These evolving legal and
regulatory requirements may require us to modify our practices and policies and incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply or to adjust to
changes in the law or EU member state implementing legislation. The E.U. has also proposed the draft ePrivacy Regulation, which will replace both the
ePrivacy Directive and all the national laws implementing this Directive. The ePrivacy Regulation, as proposed, would impose strict opt-in marketing rules,
change rules about cookies, web beacons, and related technologies, and significantly increase penalties for violations. It would also retain the additional
consent conditions under the EU GDPR. Such regulations may have a negative effect on businesses, including ours, that collect, process, and use personal
data, including online usage information for consumer acquisition and marketing and may increase the potential civil liability and cost of operating a business
that collects, processes, or uses such information and undertakes online marketing.
We cannot yet fully determine the impact these or future laws, rules, and regulations may have on our business or operations. Any such laws,
rules, and regulations may be inconsistent among different jurisdictions, subject to differing interpretations or may conflict with our current or future
practices. Additionally, we may be bound by contractual requirements applicable to our collection, use, processing, and disclosure of various types of
information including financial and PII, and may be bound by, or voluntarily comply with, self-regulatory or other industry standards relating to these matters
that may further change as laws, rules, and regulations evolve.
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Any failure or perceived failure by us, or any third parties with which we do business, to comply with these laws, rules, and regulations, or with
other obligations to which we or such third parties are or may become subject, may result in actions or other claims against us by governmental entities or
private actors, the expenditure of substantial costs, time, and other resources, or the incurrence of fines, penalties, or other liabilities. In addition, any such
action, particularly to the extent we were found to be guilty of violations or otherwise liable for damages, would damage our reputation and adversely affect
our business and results of operations.
Because we recognize subscription revenues over the term of the contract, downturns or upturns in our business may not be reflected in our results of
operations until future periods.
We generally recognize subscription revenues ratably over the terms of our customer contracts, which typically range from three to five years.
Most of the subscription revenues we report each quarter are derived from the recognition of deferred revenue relating to subscriptions activated in previous
quarters. Consequently, a reduction in activated subscriptions in any single quarter may only have a small impact on our subscription revenues for that
quarter. However, such a decline will negatively affect our subscription revenues in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales
or market acceptance of our solution may not be reflected in our results of operations until future periods.
We derive all of our revenues from customers in the financial services industry, and any downturn or consolidation or decrease in technology spend in the
financial services industry could adversely affect our business.
All of our revenues are derived from financial institutions whose industry has experienced significant pressure in recent years due to economic
uncertainty, low interest rates, liquidity concerns and increased regulation. In the past, financial institutions have experienced consolidation, distress and
failure. It is possible these conditions may reoccur. If any of our customers merge with or are acquired by other entities, such as financial institutions that have
internally developed banking technology solutions or that are not our customers or use our solution less, we may lose business. Additionally, changes in
management of our customers could result in delays or cancellations of the implementation of our solution. It is also possible that the larger financial
institutions that result from business combinations could have greater leverage in negotiating price or other terms with us or could decide to replace some or
all of the elements of our solution. Our business may also be materially and adversely affected by weak economic conditions in the financial services industry.
Any downturn in the financial services industry may cause our customers to reduce their spending on technology or cloud-based banking applications or to
seek to terminate or renegotiate their contracts with us. Moreover, even if the overall economy is robust, economic fluctuations caused by things such as the
U.S. Federal Reserve lowering interest rates may cause potential new customers and existing customers to become less profitable and therefore forego or
delay purchasing our solution or reduce the amount of spend with us, which would materially and adversely affect our business.
The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive and highly fragmented, and pricing pressure, new technologies or other competitive
dynamics could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We currently compete with providers of technology and services in the financial services industry, primarily point solution vendors that focus on
building functionality that competes with specific components of the nCino Bank Operating System. From time to time, we also compete with systems
internally developed by financial institutions. Many of our competitors have significantly more financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we
have, may devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their systems than we can, have more extensive customer bases and
broader customer relationships than we have and have longer operating histories and greater name recognition than we do.
We may also face competition from new companies entering our markets, which may include large established businesses that decide to develop,
market or resell cloud-based banking technology, acquire one of our competitors or form a strategic alliance with one of our competitors or with Salesforce.
In addition, new companies entering our markets may choose to offer cloud-based banking applications at little or no additional cost to the customer by
bundling them with their existing applications, including adjacent banking technologies. Competition from these new entrants may make attracting new
customers and retaining our current customers more difficult, which may adversely affect our results of operations.
If we are unable to compete in this environment, sales and renewals of the nCino Bank Operating System could decline and adversely affect our
business and results of operations. With the introduction of new technologies and potential new entrants into the cloud-based banking technology market, we
expect competition to intensify in the future, which could harm our ability to increase sales and achieve profitability.
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We depend on data centers operated by or on behalf of Salesforce, Amazon Web Services ("AWS"), and other third parties, and any disruption in the
operation of these facilities could adversely affect our business and subject us to liability.
The nCino Bank Operating System is primarily hosted in data centers operated by or on behalf of Salesforce, AWS, and other third parties and we
do not control the operation of these data centers. Problems associated with these data centers could adversely affect the experience of our customers. Any
disruptions or other operational performance problems with these data centers could result in material interruptions in our services, adversely affect our
reputation and results of operations, and subject us to liability.
We may acquire or invest in companies, or pursue business partnerships, which may divert our management’s attention or result in dilution to our
stockholders, and we may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of such acquisitions,
investments, or partnerships.
From time to time, we consider potential strategic transactions, including acquisitions of, or investments in, businesses, technologies, services,
solutions, and other assets. For example, in fiscal 2020, we acquired Visible Equity and FinSuite and established our nCino K.K. joint venture in Japan. We
also may enter into relationships with other businesses to expand our solution, which could involve preferred or exclusive licenses, additional channels of
distribution, discount pricing, or investments in other companies. Negotiating these transactions can be time-consuming, difficult, and expensive, and our
ability to close these transactions may be subject to approvals that are beyond our control. In addition, nCino has limited experience in acquiring other
businesses. If an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our operating results, business, and financial position may suffer. We may not be able to
find and identify desirable acquisition targets, we may incorrectly estimate the value of an acquisition target, and we may not be successful in entering into an
agreement with any particular target. If we are successful in acquiring additional businesses, we may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired
business due to a number of factors, including:
•

our inability to integrate or benefit from acquired technologies or services;

•

unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition;

•

incurrence of acquisition-related costs;

•

difficulty integrating the technology, accounting systems, operations, control environments, and personnel of the acquired business and
integrating the acquired business or its employees into our culture;

•

difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy solutions and infrastructure of the acquired business;

•

difficulty converting the customers of the acquired business to our solution and contract terms, including disparities in licensing terms;

•

additional costs for the support or professional services model of the acquired company;

•

diversion of management’s attention and other resources;

•

adverse effects to our existing business relationships with business partners and customers;

•

the issuance of additional equity securities that could dilute the ownership interests of our stockholders;

•

incurrence of debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;

•

incurrence of substantial liabilities;

•

difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired business; and

•

adverse tax consequences, substantial depreciation, or deferred compensation charges.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets,
which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions
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do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment assessment process, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.
Because two of our stockholders collectively hold a substantial amount of our total outstanding common stock, the influence of our public stockholders
over significant corporate actions will be limited and sales by either of these stockholders could adversely affect the value of our common stock.
Based on the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of January 31, 2021, entities affiliated with Insight Partners (“Insight
Partners”) and Salesforce hold 33.3% and 10.6% of our total outstanding common stock, respectively. As a result, Insight Partners by itself, and to a lesser
degree, Salesforce, will have the ability to influence the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, the
approval of mergers, or other changes of corporate control, any of which may be in opposition to the best interests of our other stockholders and may
adversely impact our results of operations and the value of our common stock. Further, although we have what we consider to be a deep commercial
relationship with Salesforce, it has the right to, and has no duty to abstain from exercising its right to, engage or invest in the same or similar business as us,
and do business with any of our customers and any other party with which we do business. Conflicts of interest could arise between us and Salesforce, and
any conflict of interest may be resolved in a manner that does not favor us. Sales of our common stock by Insight or Salesforce could have an immediate and
substantial adverse effect on the value of our common stock.
Our customers are highly regulated and subject to a number of challenges and risks. Our failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to us as
a technology provider to financial institutions could adversely affect our business and results of operations, increase costs, and impose constraints on the
way we conduct our business.
Our customers and prospective customers are highly regulated and are generally required to comply with stringent regulations in connection with
performing business functions that the nCino Bank Operating System addresses. As a provider of technology to financial institutions, we have been, and
expect to continue to be, examined on a periodic basis by various regulatory agencies and may be required to review certain of our suppliers and partners. In
addition, while much of our operations are not directly subject to the same regulations applicable to financial institutions, we are generally obligated to our
customers to provide software solutions and maintain internal systems and processes that comply with certain federal and state regulations applicable to them.
For example, as a result of obligations under some of our customer contracts, we are required to comply with certain provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act related to the privacy of consumer information and may be subject to other privacy and data security laws because of the solution we provide to financial
institutions. Matters subject to review and examination by federal and state financial institution regulatory agencies and external auditors include our internal
information technology controls in connection with our performance of data processing services, the agreements giving rise to those processing activities, and
the design of our solution. Any inability to satisfy these examinations and maintain compliance with applicable regulations could adversely affect our ability
to conduct our business, including attracting and maintaining customers. If we have to make changes to our internal processes and solution as result of these
regulations, we could be required to invest substantial additional time and funds and divert time and resources from other corporate purposes to remedy any
identified deficiency.
The evolving, complex, and often unpredictable regulatory environment in which our customers operate could result in our failure to provide a
compliant solution, which could result in customers not purchasing our solution or terminating their contracts with us or the imposition of fines or other
liabilities for which we may be responsible. In addition, federal, state, and/or foreign agencies may attempt to further regulate our activities in the future
which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Any legal proceedings against us could adversely affect our operations and prospects, damage our reputation, and be costly and time-consuming to
defend.
We are presently subject to a government investigation and a putative class action civil suit involving alleged violations of antitrust laws. We
may, in the future, become subject, from time to time, to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims
brought by our customers in connection with commercial disputes or employment claims made by current or former employees. Legal proceedings might
result in damages and harm to our operations and prospects, reputational damage, substantial costs, and may divert management’s attention and resources,
which might adversely impact our business, overall financial condition, and results of operations. Insurance might not cover such claims, might not provide
sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims, and might not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. Moreover, any
negative impact to our reputation will not be adequately covered by any insurance recovery. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured
could result in unanticipated costs, thereby
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reducing our results of operations and leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our performance, which could reduce the value of
our common stock.
Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain it as we grow, we could lose the innovation, creativity and teamwork
fostered by our culture, and our business may be adversely affected.
We believe our corporate culture is one of our fundamental strengths, as we believe it enables us to attract and retain top talent and deliver
superior results for our customers. As we grow, we may find it difficult to preserve our corporate culture, which could reduce our ability to innovate and
operate effectively. In turn, the failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect our ability to attract, recruit, integrate and retain employees, continue to
perform at current levels and effectively execute our business strategy.
We may encounter implementation challenges, including in situations in which we rely on SIs, which would materially and adversely affect our business
and results of operations.
We may face unexpected challenges related to the complexity of our customers’ implementation and configuration requirements. Implementation
of our solution may be delayed or expenses may increase when customers have unexpected data, software, or technology challenges, or unanticipated
business requirements, which could adversely affect our relationship with customers and our operating results. In general, the revenues related to
implementation and other professional services we provide are recognized on a proportional performance basis, and delays and difficulties in these
engagements could result in losses on these contracts. In addition, our customers often require complex acceptance testing related to the implementation of
our solution. We also leverage the services of SIs, including Accenture, Deloitte, PwC, and West Monroe Partners, among others, to implement and configure
the nCino Bank Operating System for our larger financial institution customers, and we are increasingly using other SIs for smaller engagements as we
continue to scale our business. While SIs generally contract directly with our customers, any failure or delay by the SIs we work with in providing adequate
service and support would likely adversely affect our brand and reputation. For implementations we conduct ourselves, project delays may result in
recognizing revenues later than expected. Further, because we do not fully control our customers’ implementation schedules, if our customers do not allocate
the internal resources necessary to meet implementation timelines or if there are unanticipated implementation delays or difficulties, our ability to take
customers live and the overall customer experience could be adversely affected. We rely on existing customers to act as references for prospective customers,
and difficulties in implementation and configuration could therefore adversely affect our ability to attract new customers. Any difficulties or delays in
implementation processes could cause customers to delay or forego future purchases of our solution.
We have experienced rapid growth, and if we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels
of service and customer satisfaction, or adequately address competitive challenges, any of which may materially and adversely affect our business and
results of operations.
Since our inception, our business has grown rapidly, which has resulted in a large increase in our employee headcount, expansion of our
infrastructure, enhancement of our internal systems, and other significant changes and additional complexities. Our revenues increased from $91.5 million for
fiscal 2019 to $138.2 million for fiscal 2020 to $204.3 million for fiscal 2021. Our total number of employees increased from 436 as of January 31, 2018 to
1,115 as of January 31, 2021. Managing and sustaining a growing workforce and customer base geographically-dispersed in the United States and
internationally will require substantial management effort, infrastructure, and operational capabilities. To support our growth, we must continue to improve
our management resources and our operational and financial controls and systems, and these improvements may increase our expenses more than anticipated
and result in a more complex business. We will also have to expand and enhance the capabilities of our sales, relationship management, implementation,
customer service, research and development, and other personnel to support our growth and continue to achieve high levels of customer service and
satisfaction. Our success will depend on our ability to plan for and manage this growth effectively. If we fail to anticipate and manage our growth or are
unable to continue to provide high levels of customer service, our reputation, as well as our business and results of operations, could be materially and
adversely affected.
Defects, errors, or other performance problems in the nCino Bank Operating System could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us, impair
our ability to sell our solution, and subject us to substantial liability.
The nCino Bank Operating System is complex and may contain defects or errors when implemented or when new functionality is released.
Despite extensive testing, from time to time we have discovered and may in the future discover defects or errors in our solution. Any performance problems
or defects in our solution may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Defects, errors, or other performance problems or
disruptions in service to provide bug fixes or
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upgrades, whether in connection with day-to-day operations or otherwise, could be costly for us, damage our customers’ businesses, and harm our reputation.
In addition, if we have any such errors, defects, or other performance problems, our customers could seek to terminate their contracts, elect not to renew their
subscriptions, delay or withhold payment, or make claims against us. Any of these actions could result in liability, lost business, increased insurance costs,
difficulty in collecting accounts receivable, costly litigation, or adverse publicity. Errors, defects, or other problems could also result in reduced sales or a loss
of, or delay in, the market acceptance of our solution.
If we fail to accurately anticipate and respond to rapid changes in the industry in which we operate, our ability to attract and retain customers could be
impaired and our competitive position could be harmed.
The financial services industry is subject to rapid change and the introduction of new technologies to meet the needs of this industry will continue
to have a significant effect on competitive conditions in our market. If we are unable to successfully expand our product offerings beyond our current
solution, our customers could migrate to competitors who may offer a broader or more attractive range of products and services. For example, we recently
launched our nIQ capabilities and we may fail to achieve market acceptance of this offering. Unexpected delays in releasing new or enhanced versions of our
solution, or errors following their release, could result in loss of sales, delay in market acceptance, or customer claims against us, any of which could
adversely affect our business. The success of any new solution depends on several factors, including timely completion, adequate quality testing, and market
acceptance. We may not be able to enhance aspects of our solution successfully or introduce and gain market acceptance of new applications or improvements
in a timely manner, or at all. Additionally, we must continually modify and enhance our solution to keep pace with changes in software applications, database
technology, and evolving technical standards and interfaces. Uncertainties related to our ability to introduce and improve functionality, announcements or
introductions of a new or updated solution, or modifications by our competitors could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We leverage third-party software, content, and services for use with our solution. Performance issues, errors and defects, or failure to successfully
integrate or license necessary third-party software, content, or services, could cause delays, errors, or failures of our solution, increases in our expenses,
and reductions in our sales, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We use software and content licensed from, and services provided by, a variety of third parties in connection with the operation of our solution.
Any performance issues, errors, bugs, or defects in third-party software, content, or services could result in errors or a failure of our solution, which could
adversely affect our business and results of operations. In the future, we might need to license other software, content, or services to enhance our solution and
meet evolving customer demands and requirements. Any limitations in our ability to use third-party software, content, or services could significantly increase
our expenses and otherwise result in delays, a reduction in functionality, or errors or failures of our solution until equivalent technology or content is either
developed by us or, if available, identified, obtained through purchase or license, and integrated into our solution. In addition, third-party licenses may expose
us to increased risks, including risks associated with the integration of new technology, the diversion of resources from the development of our own
proprietary technology, and our inability to generate revenues from new technology sufficient to offset associated acquisition and maintenance costs, all of
which may increase our expenses and materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We may fail to successfully expand internationally. In addition, sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations expose us to
risks inherent in international sales, which may include a marked increase in expenses.
For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021, sales to customers outside the United States accounted for 8.0% and 11.4%, respectively,
of our total revenues. A key element of our growth strategy is to further expand our international operations and worldwide customer base. We have begun
expending significant resources to build out our sales and professional services organizations outside of the United States and we may not realize a suitable
return on this investment in the near future, if at all. We have limited operating experience in international markets, and we cannot assure you that our
international expansion efforts will be successful. Our experience in the United States may not be relevant to our ability to expand in any international market.
Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and subjects us to regulatory, economic, and political
risks that are different from those in the United States. Export control regulations in the United States may increasingly be implicated in our operations as we
expand internationally. These regulations may limit the export of our solution and provision of our solution outside of the United States, or may require export
authorizations, including by license, a license exception, or other appropriate government authorizations, including annual or semi-annual reporting and
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the filing of an encryption registration. Changes in export or import laws, or corresponding sanctions, may delay the introduction and sale of our solution in
international markets, or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our solution to certain countries, regions, governments, persons, or entities altogether,
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We are also subject to various domestic and international anti-corruption laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K.
Bribery Act, as well as other similar anti-bribery and anti-kickback laws and regulations. These laws and regulations generally prohibit companies and their
employees and intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing improper payments or benefits to officials and other recipients for improper purposes.
Although we take precautions to prevent violations of these laws, our exposure for violating these laws increases as our international presence expands and as
we increase sales and operations in foreign jurisdictions.
In addition, we face risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:
•

unanticipated costs;

•

the need to localize and adapt our solution for specific countries;

•

complying with varying and sometimes conflicting data privacy laws and regulations;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including employment laws and regulations;

•

unstable regional, economic, or political conditions, including that arise from Brexit in the UK;

•

different pricing environments, longer sales cycles, and collections issues;

•

new and different sources of competition;

•

weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in enforcing intellectual
property and other rights outside of the United States;

•

laws and business practices favoring local competitors;

•

compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting, and changing governmental laws and regulations, including
employment, tax, and anti-bribery laws and regulations;

•

increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

•

restrictions on the transfer of funds; and

•

adverse tax consequences.

Our international contracts often provide for payment denominated in local currencies, and the majority of our local costs are denominated in
local currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may impact our results of operations when translated into U.S.
dollars. We do not currently engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations.
The failure to attract and retain additional qualified personnel could prevent us from executing our business strategy.
We must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. In particular, we are dependent upon the services of our senior leadership team, and the loss
of any member of this team could adversely affect our business. Competition for executive officers, software developers, sales personnel, and other key
employees in our industry is intense. In particular, we compete with many other companies for software developers with high levels of experience in
designing, developing, and managing cloud-based software, as well as for skilled sales and operations professionals. Our principal operations are in
Wilmington, North Carolina, where the pool of potential employees with the skills we need is more limited than it may be in larger markets, and we are
sometimes required to induce prospective employees to relocate. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater
resources than we do. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our growth prospects could be severely harmed.
In addition, job candidates and existing employees often
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consider the actual and potential value of the equity awards they receive as part of their overall compensation. Thus, if the perceived value or future value of
our stock declines, our ability to attract and retain highly skilled employees may be adversely affected.
Failure to effectively expand our sales capabilities could harm our ability to increase our customer base.
Increasing our customer base and expanding customer adoption within and across business lines will depend, to a significant extent, on our
ability to effectively expand our sales and marketing operations and activities. From January 31, 2020 to January 31, 2021, our sales and marketing teams
increased from 221 to 258 employees. We plan to continue to expand our direct sales force both domestically and internationally for the foreseeable future.
We believe that there is significant competition for experienced sales professionals with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we require. Newly hired
employees require significant training and time before they achieve full productivity and they may not become as productive as quickly as we expect, if at all.
Further, we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. Our business will be
adversely affected if our sales expansion efforts do not generate a significant increase in revenues.
If we fail to provide effective customer training on the nCino Bank Operating System and high-quality customer support, our business and reputation
would suffer.
Effective customer training on the nCino Bank Operating System and high-quality, ongoing customer support are critical to the successful
marketing, sale, and adoption of our solution and for the renewal of existing customer contracts. As we grow our customer base, we will need to further invest
in and expand our customer support and training organization, which could strain our team and infrastructure and reduce profit margins. If we do not help our
customers adopt our solution, quickly resolve any post-implementation matters, and provide effective ongoing customer support and training, our ability to
expand sales to existing and future customers and our reputation would be adversely affected.
If we are unable to effectively integrate our solution with other systems used by our customers, or if there are performance issues with such third-party
systems, our solution will not operate effectively and our business and reputation will be adversely affected.
The nCino Bank Operating System integrates with other third-party systems used by our customers, including core processing systems. We do
not have formal arrangements with many of these third-party providers regarding our access to their application program interfaces to enable these customer
integrations. If we are unable to effectively integrate with third-party systems, our customers’ operations may be disrupted, which may result in disputes with
customers, negatively impact customer satisfaction and harm our business. If the software of such third-party providers has performance or other problems,
such issues may reflect poorly on us and the adoption and renewal of our solution, and our business and reputation may be harmed.
Our sales cycle can be unpredictable, time-consuming and costly.
Our sales process involves educating prospective customers and existing customers about the benefits and technical capabilities of our solution.
Prospective customers often undertake a prolonged evaluation process, which typically involves not only our solution, but also those of our competitors. Our
sales cycles are typically lengthy, generally ranging from six to nine months for smaller financial institutions and twelve to eighteen months or more for larger
financial institutions. We may spend substantial time, effort and money on our sales and marketing efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce
any sales. Events affecting our customers’ businesses may occur during the sales cycle that could affect the size or timing of a purchase, contributing to more
unpredictability in our business and results of operations. As a result of these factors, we may face greater costs, longer sales cycles and less predictability in
the future.
Failure to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our future success and competitive position depend in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technologies. To
safeguard these rights, we rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws and contractual protections in the United States and
other jurisdictions, all of which provide only limited protection and may not now or in the future provide us with a competitive advantage.
As of January 31, 2021, we had 12 issued patents and one patent application pending relating to the nCino Bank Operating System in the United
States. We cannot assure you that any patents will issue from any patent applications, that
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patents that may be issued from such applications will give us the protection we seek or that any such patents will not be challenged, invalidated, or
circumvented. Any patents that may issue in the future from our pending or future patent applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection and may
not be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. We have registered the “nCino” name and logo in the United States and certain other countries and we
have registrations and/or pending applications for additional marks including the “Bank Operating System” and “nIQ” in the United States and certain other
countries. However, we cannot assure you that any future trademark registrations will be issued for pending or future applications or that any registered
trademarks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights. We also license software from third parties for integration into our
solution, including open source software and other software available on commercially reasonable terms. We cannot assure you that such third parties will
maintain such software or continue to make it available. We also rely on confidentiality agreements, consulting agreements, work-for-hire agreements, and
invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, and others.
Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and trade secrets, unauthorized parties may attempt to misappropriate, reverse engineer,
or otherwise obtain and use them. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets, in which case we would not be able to assert trade secret
rights, or develop similar technologies and processes. Further, the contractual provisions that we enter into may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of
our proprietary technology or intellectual property rights and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our
proprietary technology or intellectual property rights. Moreover, policing unauthorized use of our technologies, trade secrets, and intellectual property is
difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in
the United States and where mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be weak. We may be unable to determine the extent of any
unauthorized use or infringement of our solution, technologies, or intellectual property rights.
We use “open source” software in our solution, which may restrict how we use or distribute our solutions, require that we release the source code of
certain software subject to open source licenses, or subject us to litigation or other actions that could adversely affect our business.
We currently use in our solution, and may use in the future, software that is licensed under “open source,” “free,” or other similar license, where
the licensed software is made available to the general public on an “as-is” basis under the terms of a specific non-negotiable license. Some open source
software licenses require that software subject to the license be made available to the public and that any modifications or derivative works based on the open
source code be licensed in source code form under the same open source licenses. Although we monitor our use of open source software, we cannot assure
you that all open source software is reviewed prior to use in our solution, that our programmers have not incorporated open source software into our solution,
or that they will not do so in the future.
In addition, our solution may incorporate third-party software under commercial licenses. We cannot be certain whether such third-party software
incorporates open source software without our knowledge. In the past, companies that incorporate open source software into their products have faced claims
alleging noncompliance with open source license terms or infringement or misappropriation of proprietary software. Therefore, we could be subject to suits
by parties claiming noncompliance with open source licensing terms or infringement or misappropriation of proprietary software. Because few courts have
interpreted open source licenses, the manner in which these licenses may be interpreted and enforced is subject to some uncertainty. There is a risk that open
source software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market or provide our solution.
As a result of using open source software subject to such licenses, we could be required to release proprietary source code, pay damages, re-engineer our
solution, limit or discontinue sales, or take other remedial action, any of which could adversely affect our business.
Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violations by us of their intellectual property rights, whether or not correct, could result in significant
costs and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Patent and other intellectual property disputes are common in our industry. We may be subject to claims in the future alleging that we have
misappropriated, misused, or infringed other parties’ intellectual property rights. Some companies, including certain of our competitors, own a larger number
of patents, copyrights, and trademarks than we do, which they may use to assert claims against us. This disparity may also increase the risk that third parties
may sue us for patent infringement and may limit our ability to counterclaim for patent infringement or settle through patent cross-licenses. In addition, future
assertions of patent rights by third parties, and any resulting litigation, may involve patent holding companies, non-practicing entities, or other adverse patent
owners who have no relevant product revenues and against whom our own patents may provide little or no deterrence or protection. Our solution utilizes
third-party licensed software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these licenses could adversely affect our business. Third parties may
also assert claims of intellectual property
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rights infringement against our customers, whom we are typically required to indemnify. As competition increases, claims of infringement, misappropriation,
and other violations of intellectual property rights may increase. Any claim of infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of intellectual property rights
by a third party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, could distract our management from our
business, and could deter customers or potential customers from purchasing our solution.
There can be no assurance that we will successfully defend third-party intellectual property claims. An adverse outcome of a dispute may require
us to:
•

pay substantial damages, including treble damages, if we are found to have willfully infringed a third party’s patents or copyrights;

•

cease developing or selling any elements of our solution that rely on technology that is alleged to infringe or misappropriate the intellectual
property of others;

•

enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or license agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or intellectual
property rights;

•

expend additional development resources to attempt to redesign our solution or otherwise develop non-infringing technology, which may
not be successful; and

•

indemnify our customers and other third parties.

Any license we may enter into as a result of litigation may be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the same
technology licensed to us. Any of the foregoing events could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our ability to raise capital in a timely manner if needed in the future may be limited, or such capital may be unavailable on acceptable terms, if at all. Our
failure to raise capital if needed could adversely affect our business and results of operations, and any debt or equity issued to raise additional capital may
reduce the value of our common stock.
We have funded our operations since inception primarily through equity financings and receipts generated from customers. We cannot be certain
when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fund our ongoing operations or the growth of our business. We intend to continue to make
investments to support our business and may require additional funds. Moreover, we do not expect to be profitable for the foreseeable future. Additional
financing may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invest in future
growth opportunities, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. If we incur debt, the lenders would have rights senior to holders of
common stock to make claims on our assets, the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, and we may be unable to service or repay the debt.
Furthermore, if we issue additional equity securities, stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have rights senior to those of
our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in a future offering will depend on numerous considerations, including factors beyond our control,
we cannot predict or estimate the impact any future incurrence of debt or issuance of equity securities will have on us. Any future incurrence of debt or
issuance of equity securities could adversely affect the value of our common stock.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
We have incurred substantial net operating losses (“NOLs”), during our history. U.S. federal and certain state NOLs generated in taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2017 are not subject to expiration. Federal NOLs generally may not be carried back to prior taxable years except that, under the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act, federal NOLs generated in tax years 2018, 2019, and 2020 may be carried back to each of the
five taxable years preceding the taxable year in which the loss arises. Additionally, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020, the deductibility of
federal NOLs is limited to 80% of our taxable income in such taxable year. NOLs generated in tax years before 2018 may still be used to offset future taxable
income without regard to the 80% limitation, although they have the potential to expire without being utilized if we do not achieve profitability in the future.
However, under the rules of Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), if a corporation undergoes an “ownership
change,” generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its NOLs,
pre-change tax attributes and any net unrealized built-in losses to offset its post-change taxable income or taxes may be limited. The applicable rules generally
operate by focusing on changes in ownership among stockholders considered by the rules as
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owning, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the stock of a company, as well as changes in ownership arising from new issuances of stock by the company.
The rules of Section 382 are regularly being evaluated to determine any potential limitations. If we experience one or more ownership changes as a result of
future transactions in our stock, then we may be limited in our ability to use our NOL carryforwards, pre-change tax attributes or deductions to offset our
future taxable income, if any.
Amendments to existing tax laws, rules, or regulations, or enactment of new unfavorable tax laws, rules, or regulations could have an adverse effect on
our business and operating results.
The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process
and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could
adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many such changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the
future. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted in 2017 and made a number of significant changes to the current U.S. federal income tax rules,
including reducing the generally applicable corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, imposing additional limitations on the deductibility of interest, placing limits
on the utilization of NOLs, and making substantial changes to the international tax rules. In addition, on March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into
law, which included certain changes in tax law intended to stimulate the U.S. economy in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, including temporary beneficial
changes to the treatment of net operating losses, interest deductibility limitations, and payroll tax matters. Many of the provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act and CARES Act still require guidance through the issuance and/or finalization of regulations by the U.S. Treasury Department in order to fully assess
their effects, and there may be substantial delays before such regulations are promulgated and/or finalized, increasing the uncertainty as to the ultimate effects
of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and CARES Act on us and our stockholders. There also may be technical corrections legislation or other legislative changes
proposed with respect to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and CARES Act, the effects of which cannot be predicted and may be adverse to us or our stockholders.
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be volatile or may decline steeply or suddenly regardless of our operating performance and we may not be
able to meet investor or analyst expectations and you may lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate or decline significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control, including:
•

variations between our actual operating results and the expectations of securities analysts, investors, and the financial community;

•

any forward-looking financial or operating information we may provide to the public or securities analysts, any changes in this information,
or our failure to meet expectations based on this information;

•

actions of securities analysts who initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow
us, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

additional shares of our common stock being sold into the market by us or our existing stockholders, or the anticipation of such sales;

•

hedging activities by market participants;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant products or features, technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint
ventures, or capital commitments;

•

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of companies in our industry, including our competitors;

•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;

•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
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•

developments in new legislation and pending lawsuits or regulatory actions, including interim or final rulings by judicial or regulatory
bodies; and

•

other events or factors, including those resulting from COVID-19, political conditions, election cycles, war or incidents of terrorism, or
responses to these events.

In addition, extreme price and volume fluctuations in the stock markets have affected and continue to affect many technology companies’ stock
prices. Stock prices often fluctuate in ways unrelated or disproportionate to a company’s operating performance. In the past, stockholders have filed securities
class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs,
divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and seriously harm our business.
Moreover, because of these fluctuations, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely
on our past results as an indication of our future performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of
industry or financial analysts or investors for any period. If our revenues or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any
forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our
common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue or earnings
forecasts that we may provide.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination
to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price
appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.
Future securities issuances could result in significant dilution to our stockholders and impair the market price of our common stock.
Future issuances of shares of our common stock, or the perception that these sales may occur, could depress the market price of our common
stock and result in dilution to existing holders of our common stock. Also, to the extent outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock are
exercised or options, restricted stock units, or other stock-based awards are issued or become vested, there will be further dilution. The amount of dilution
could be substantial depending upon the size of the issuances or exercises. Furthermore, we may issue additional equity securities that could have rights
senior to those of our common stock. As a result, purchasers of our common stock bear the risk that future issuances of debt or equity securities may reduce
the value of our common stock and further dilute their ownership interest.
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest
difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our common stock by
acting to discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem
advantageous. These provisions include the following:
•

establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time;

•

permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;

•

provide that directors may only be removed for cause;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws;
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•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

•

prohibit stockholders from calling special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws;

•

restrict the forum for certain litigation against us to Delaware; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon
by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a
change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the price
that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for
substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or
our directors, officers, or employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf under Delaware law, (2) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action
arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws, (4)
any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or (5) any other action asserting an “internal corporate claim,” as defined in
Section 115 of the DGCL, shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district
court for the District of Delaware) in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. These exclusive-forum
provisions do not apply to claims under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction
over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.
Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability
created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. However, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains a federal forum
provision which provides that unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States
of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to
this provision. This exclusive-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our
directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees. If a court were to find the
exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional
costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.
General Risks
Uncertain or weakened economic conditions, including as a result of COVID-19, may adversely affect our industry, business, and results of operations.
Our overall performance depends on economic conditions, which may be challenging at various times in the future. Financial developments
seemingly unrelated to us or our industry may adversely affect us. Domestic and international
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economies have from time-to-time been impacted by falling demand for a variety of goods and services, tariffs and other trade issues, threatened sovereign
defaults and ratings downgrades, restricted credit, threats to major multinational companies, poor liquidity, reduced corporate profitability, volatility in credit,
equity and foreign exchange markets, bankruptcies, and overall uncertainty. For example, COVID-19 has created and may continue to create significant
uncertainty in global financial markets and the long-term economic impact of COVID-19 is highly uncertain. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or
duration of the current or any future potential economic slowdown in the United States or globally. These conditions affect the rate of technology spending
generally and could adversely affect our customers’ ability or willingness to purchase the nCino Bank Operating System, delay prospective customers’
purchasing decisions, reduce the value or duration of their subscriptions, or affect renewal rates, any of which could adversely affect our results of operations.
The COVID-19 pandemic has also caused us to continue to impose restrictions on our normal business practices. Among other effects,
substantially, all of our employees are working remote, our conferences and other marketing events continue to be virtual, and we have limited work-related
travel.
Natural or man-made disasters and other similar events, including the COVID-19 pandemic, may significantly disrupt our business, and negatively
impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
A significant portion of our employee base, operating facilities, and infrastructure are centralized in Wilmington, North Carolina. Any of our
facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including hurricanes, tornadoes, wildfires, floods, earthquakes, nuclear
disasters, acts of terrorism or other criminal activities, infectious disease outbreaks or pandemic events, including the COVID-19 pandemic, power outages,
and other infrastructure failures, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to operate our business for some period of time. Our facilities would likely
be costly to repair or replace, and any such efforts would likely require substantial time. Any disruptions in our operations could adversely affect our business
and results of operations and harm our reputation. Moreover, although we have disaster recovery plans, they may prove inadequate. We may not carry
sufficient business insurance to compensate for losses that may occur. Any such losses or damages could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations. In addition, the facilities of our third-party providers, including Salesforce and AWS, may be harmed or rendered inoperable by such
natural or man-made disasters, which may cause disruptions, difficulties, or otherwise materially and adversely affect our business. Additionally, to the extent
the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in
this ‘‘Risk Factors’’ section, such as our ability to achieve profitability in the future, our ability to attract new customers or continue to broaden our existing
customers’ use of our solution, and the impact of any decrease in technology spend by customers and potential customers in the financial services industry
where we derive all of our revenues.
If securities or industry analysts either do not publish research about us or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business, or our
market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our common stock adversely, the trading price or trading volume of our common stock could
decline.
The trading market for our common stock is influenced in part by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts may publish about
us, our business, our market, or our competitors. If one or more analysts initiate research with an unfavorable rating or downgrade our common stock, provide
a more favorable recommendation about our competitors, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our common stock price would
likely decline. If any analyst who covers us or may cover us were to cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in
the financial markets, which in turn could cause the trading price or trading volume of our common stock to decline.
We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable
to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may choose to take advantage of
exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including:
•

not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

•

reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and annual report on Form 10-K; and
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•

exemptions from the requirements of holding non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved.

As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We could be an emerging growth company for
up to five years from our initial public offering ("IPO"), although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if our total annual gross
revenues exceed $1.07 billion, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during any three-year period, or if we are a large
accelerated filer and the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of any second quarter before that time.
We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on any of the exemptions afforded emerging growth companies.
If some investors find our common stock less attractive because we rely on any of these exemptions, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and the market price of our common stock may be more volatile.
Under the JOBS Act, “emerging growth companies” can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have
different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that we (1) are no longer an emerging growth company or (2)
affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, these financial statements may not be
comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting and any failure to maintain the adequacy of these
internal controls may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
We will be required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis, beginning with our 2022 fiscal year. This assessment will need to include
disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. Our independent registered public
accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until our first annual report required to be
filed with the SEC following the date we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. We will be required to disclose
significant changes made in our internal control procedures on a quarterly basis.
Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management efforts. We
currently do not have an internal audit group, and we may need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience
and technical accounting knowledge and compile the system and process documentation necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply with Section
404.
During the evaluation and testing process of our internal controls, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. We cannot assure you that there will not be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over
financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition and operating results. If we are unable to conclude that our
internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or
significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory
authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control
systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets.
Operating as a public company requires us to incur substantial costs and requires substantial management attention.
As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur substantial legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a
private company. For example, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the rules and regulations of the SEC, and the rules and regulations of The Nasdaq Global
Select Market. As part of the new requirements, we have established and maintain effective disclosure and financial controls and made changes to our
corporate governance practices. Compliance with these requirements has and will continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make
some activities more time-consuming.
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Our management and other personnel divert attention from other business matters to devote substantial time to the reporting and other
requirements of being a public company. In particular, we incur significant expense and devote substantial management effort to complying with the
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We are in the process of hiring additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public
company experience and technical accounting knowledge.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our headquarters are located in Wilmington, North Carolina where, in addition to the square footage noted below, we occupy facilities
encompassing approximately 57,000 square feet. We also have offices in Salt Lake City, London, Sydney, Melbourne, Toronto, and Tokyo. All of our offices
are leased and we do not own any real property. These leases range in expiration from November 2023 to July 2028, each with a right of renewal.
In November 2020, we entered into a new lease agreement with a new lessor for our primary headquarters property. As a result of a purchase
option in the lease, the Company is deemed to have continuing involvement of our headquarters and accordingly, is considered for accounting purposes to be
the owner. As such, we have excluded the square footage of approximately 90,000 square feet from the total leased space disclosed above.
The Company also entered into an agreement for a parking deck in January 2021 which is an addition to the existing headquarters property. Due
to the Company also being deemed to be the owner of the parking deck for accounting purposes, the costs associated with the construction of the parking deck
will be capitalized as construction in progress with a corresponding construction liability through construction which is estimated to be approximately $18.0
million. Upon completion of the parking deck, the construction liability will be recorded as a financing obligation. Upon expiration of the purchase option in
the lease, the lease will be analyzed for applicable lease accounting. The construction in progress and corresponding construction liability at January 31, 2021
was de minimis. See Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the full description.
We are currently in negotiations to expand our facilities capacity in Wilmington, North Carolina under what we believe to be commercially
reasonable terms.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims including the following:
On February 23, 2021, the Company and certain of its officers and other employees were served with grand jury subpoenas wherein the Antitrust
Division of the Department of Justice is seeking documents and information in connection with an investigation of the Company’s hiring and wage practices
under U.S. federal antitrust laws. The Company has retained outside counsel and is fully cooperating with the authorities. Although there can be no assurance
with respect to the outcome of this matter, the Company believes its hiring and wage practices do not violate antitrust laws.
On March 12, 2021, a putative class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina. The
sole class representative in the suit is one individual alleging a contract, combination or conspiracy between and among the Company, Live Oak Bancshares,
Inc. and Apiture LLC not to solicit or hire each other’s employees in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and N.C. Gen Stat. §§ 75-1 and 75-2. The
complaint seeks treble damages and additional remedies, including restitution, disgorgement, reasonable attorneys’ fees, the costs of the suit, and prejudgment and post judgment interest. The complaint does not allege any specific damages. Although there can be no assurance with respect to the outcome of
this matter, the Company believes the alleged claims are not meritorious and intends to defend itself vigorously.
The Company does not presently believe the above matters will have a material adverse effect on its day-to-day operations or the quality of the
services, products or innovation it continues to provide to its customers. However, regardless of the outcome, legal proceedings can have an adverse impact
on us because of the related expenses, diversion of management resources, and other factors.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “NCNO” since July 14, 2020. Prior to that date, there was no
public trading market for our common stock.
Stockholders
As of January 31, 2021, there were 288 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of such shares are held by brokers and other
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.
Dividends Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any,
to fund the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future
determination regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing
conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects, and other factors our board
of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock may be limited by any future debt instruments or preferred securities.
Stock Performance Graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act,
or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities
Act or the Exchange Act.
The graph below compares the cumulative total return to our stockholders on our common stock between July 14, 2020 (the date our common
stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market) through January 31, 2021 in comparison to the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500
Application Software Index. The graph assumes $100 was invested in our
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common stock on July 14, 2020, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Application Software Index, and assumes reinvestment of any dividends.
Comparison of Cumulative Total Return of nCino, Inc.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled "Equity Compensation Plan Information" from our
Proxy Statement relating to our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended January 31,
2021.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
In October 2020 and in November 2020, 142,846 shares of common stock were earned as the share portion of contingent consideration in
connection with our acquisition of FinSuite. These 285,692 shares of common stock issued in November 2020 were made to non-U.S. persons (as that term is
defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933), in an offshore transaction relying on Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. See Note
7, Business Combinations of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information regarding the share portion of contingent consideration regarding this acquisition.
Restricted Stock Units ("RSU") Issuances
From January 31, 2020 through June 8, 2020, we granted to our directors, officers, employees, consultants, and other service providers 1,120,054
RSUs under our equity compensation plans at weighted average grant date fair value ranging from approximately $20.00 to $21.50 per share.
The RSU issuances described above were exempt from registration under the Securities Act under either (1) Rule 701 in that the transactions
were under compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided under Rule 701, or (2) Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as
transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of such securities were the registrant’s employees, consultants, or directors and
received the securities under the registrant’s equity compensation plans. The recipients of securities in each of these transactions represented their intention to
acquire the securities for investment only and not with view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to
the securities issued in these transactions.
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Use of Proceeds from our IPO
On July 16, 2020, we completed our IPO, selling 9,269,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $31.00 per share (including shares subject
to the underwriters’ over-allotment option) for an aggregate price of $287.3 million. The offer and sale of the shares in the IPO was registered under the
Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File Nos. 333-239335 and 333-239844), which was declared effective by the SEC on July 13,
2020. We raised approximately $268.4 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $18.9 million.
We intend to use the net proceeds from the IPO for general corporate purposes, including working capital and capital expenditures such as
additional office facilities. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds to acquire, invest in, or obtain rights to complementary technologies, products,
services, or businesses. The lead underwriters of the offering were BofA Securities, Inc. and Barclays Capital Inc. No payments were made by us to directors,
officers, or persons owning ten percent or more of our common stock, or to their associates, or to our affiliates, other than payments in the ordinary course of
business to officers for salaries.
There has been no material change in the planned use of the IPO proceeds as described in our final prospectus for the IPO dated July 13, 2020
and filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020, pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following tables set forth our selected consolidated financial data. The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of January 31, 2020 and 2021 are each derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated balance sheet data as of January 31, 2019 is
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in the future.
You should read this selected consolidated financial and other data in conjunction with the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements, related notes, and other financial information included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
On February 1, 2019, the beginning of our fiscal year 2020, we adopted the requirement of Accounting Standards Update, or ASU No. 2014-09
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”) utilizing the modified retrospective method of transition. Prior period information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

($ in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Revenues
Subscription
Professional services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Subscription1
Professional services1
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing1
Research and development1
General and administrative1
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Adjustment attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest

$

Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Net loss per share attributable to nCino, Inc.:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

64,458
27,076
91,534

$

103,265
34,915
138,180

$

2021

162,439
41,854
204,293

19,995
26,456
46,451
45,083

31,062
33,008
64,070
74,110

47,969
40,166
88,135
116,158

31,278
22,230
14,791
68,299
(23,216)

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)

59,731
58,263
40,772
158,766
(42,608)

$

1,193
—
(89)
(22,112)
194
(22,306)
—
—
(22,306) $

988
—
33
(27,149)
586
(27,735)
(141)
—
(27,594) $

361
(130)
1,693
(40,684)
586
(41,270)
(1,130)
396
(40,536)

$

(0.30) $

(0.35) $

(0.46)

74,593,709

78,316,794

87,678,323

1

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

($ in thousands)

2019

Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

$

Total stock-based compensation expense

$
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

243
1,244
1,078
1,056
474
4,095

$

$

277
1,240
1,260
1,245
1,723
5,745

$

$

2021

576
4,232
6,190
5,463
8,747
25,208
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

($ in thousands)

2019

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Financing obligation, noncurrent1
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest, and stockholders’ equity

$

74,347 $
119,966
—
53,930
(104,752)
119,966

As of January 31,
2020

91,184 $
250,151
—
78,522
(120,924)
250,151

2021

371,425
563,401
15,939
134,431
(161,064)
563,401

1

Amount is financing obligation for leased facility for fiscal 2021.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial statements
and related notes and other financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in
the section titled “Risk Factors.” Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future. Our
fiscal year ends on January 31 of each year and references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to a fiscal year mean the year in which that fiscal year ends.
For example, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to "fiscal 2021" refer to the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
Overview
nCino is a leading global provider of cloud-based software for financial institutions. We empower banks and credit unions with the technology
they need to meet ever-changing client expectations and regulatory requirements, gain increased visibility into their operations and performance, replace
legacy systems, and operate digitally and more competitively. Our solution, the nCino Bank Operating System, digitizes, automates, and streamlines
inefficient and complex processes and workflow, and utilizes data analytics and AI/ML to enable financial institutions to more effectively onboard new
clients, make loans and manage the entire loan life cycle, open deposit and other accounts, and manage regulatory compliance. We serve financial institution
customers of all sizes and complexities, including global financial institutions, enterprise banks, regional banks, community banks, credit unions, and new
market entrants, such as challenger banks. Our customers deploy and utilize our digital platform, which can be accessed anytime, anywhere, and from any
internet-enabled device, for mission critical functions across their organizations.
Built as a single, multi-tenant SaaS platform, the nCino Bank Operating System transforms the way financial institutions operate, go to market,
and interact with their clients, while delivering measurable return on investment by enabling them to:
•

digitally serve their clients across commercial, small business, and retail lines of business,

•

improve financial results,

•

operate more efficiently,

•

manage risk and compliance more effectively, and

•

establish a data, audit, and business intelligence hub.

We were founded in a bank with the goal of improving that institution’s operations and client service. Realizing the problems we were addressing
were endemic to virtually all banks and credit unions, we were spun out as a separate company in late 2011 with the vision of providing a comprehensive
solution to onboard clients, originate any type of loan, and open any type of account on a single cloud-based platform. We initially focused the nCino Bank
Operating System on transforming commercial and small business lending for community and regional banks. We introduced our solution to enterprise banks
in
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the United States in 2014, and then internationally in 2017, and have subsequently expanded across North America, Europe, and APAC. In fiscal 2020, we
acquired Visible Equity and FinSuite and combined the acquired technology with certain of our internally-developed technology to launch nIQ. nIQ helps our
customers improve operational and financial performance by using AI/ML to increase efficiency through automation and analytics to gain greater insights
into their operations and client interactions.
We offer our solution on a SaaS basis under multi-year contracts and recognize subscription revenues ratably over the term of the contract. Our
customers may initially purchase our solution for client onboarding, loan origination, and/or deposit account opening for a single line of business or
geography. Once this initial solution is in production, we seek to deploy additional applications and expand within and across additional lines of business or
geographies. The expansion from our original focus on commercial and small business loan origination to retail loan origination, client onboarding, deposit
account opening, and, most recently, analytics and AI/ML applications, has enhanced our ability to increase adoption of our solution by our customers. For
fiscal 2021, we had a subscription revenue retention rate of 155%. See Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors Affecting Our Operating Results—Subscription Revenue Retention Rate” for additional
information on subscription revenue retention rates.
We sell our solution directly through our business development managers, account executives, field sales engineers, and customer success
managers. Our sales efforts in the United States are organized around financial institutions based on size, whereas internationally we focus our sales efforts by
geography. To drive growth and serve customers in the EMEA region, we continue to expand headcount in our UK office. In fiscal 2020, we opened an office
in Tokyo through our joint venture, nCino K.K., giving us another base of operations in APAC in addition to our Australian offices. As of January 31, 2021,
we had 156 sales and sales support personnel in the United States, and 64 sales and support personnel in offices outside the United States.
To help customers go live with our solution and achieve success, we offer professional services including configuration and implementation,
training, and advisory services. For larger financial institutions, we generally work with SIs such as Accenture, Deloitte, PwC, and West Monroe Partners for
the delivery of professional services, while we have historically performed professional services for smaller financial institutions ourselves. We expect larger
financial institutions to make up a greater proportion of our sales and to increasingly outsource professional services for smaller banks and credit unions to
SIs in the future. As a result, we expect the mix of our total revenues to become more heavily weighted toward subscription revenues.
To support our growth and capitalize on what we believe is a compelling market opportunity, we have significantly increased our operating
expenses across all aspects of our business. In research and development, we have focused on product improvements and the development of new
functionality, while simultaneously leveraging the Salesforce Platform such that our development is heavily focused on vertical-specific solutions for
financial institutions. Similarly, to grow our customer base, we have invested heavily in sales and marketing both in the United States and internationally. We
have also increased our general and administrative spending to support our growing operations and for operating as a newly public company.
Our total revenues were $91.5 million, $138.2 million, and $204.3 million for fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, representing a 49.4%
compound annual growth rate. Our subscription revenues in fiscal 2019 were $64.5 million or 70.4% of total revenues, $103.3 million or 74.7% of total
revenues in fiscal 2020, and $162.4 million or 79.5% of total revenues in fiscal 2021, representing a 58.7% compound annual growth rate. Due to our
continuing investment in growth, we recorded net losses attributable to nCino in fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021 of $22.3 million, $27.6 million, and $40.5
million, respectively.
Recent Developments
Initial Public Offering. On July 13, 2020, our Registration Statement on Form S-1 relating to the IPO of our common stock was declared
effective by the SEC. In connection with the IPO, we issued and sold 9,269,000 shares of common stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise in
full of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares) at a public offering price of $31.00 per share for net proceeds of $268.4 million, after deducting
underwriters' discounts and commissions (excluding other IPO costs as of January 31, 2021).
Secondary Public Offering. On October 13, 2020, the Company completed a secondary public offering ("the Secondary Offering"). The
Company did not offer any shares of common stock in the Secondary Offering and did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of common stock
by the selling stockholders. The Company incurred costs of approximately $1.0 million in relation to the Secondary Offering for fiscal 2021 and such costs
are recorded as a component of

37

Table of Contents

general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. The Company received $1.7 million in cash (excluding withholding taxes)
in connection with the exercise of 554,112 options by certain stockholders participating in the Secondary Offering. In addition, concurrent with the pricing of
the Secondary Offering, the underwriters in the Company's IPO released an additional 367,561 shares from lock-up agreements signed in connection with the
IPO with stockholders who did not participate in the Secondary Offering. The release consisted of both outstanding shares and shares subject to options.
Factors Affecting Our Operating Results
Market Adoption of Our Solution. Our future growth depends on our ability to expand our reach to new financial institution customers and
increase adoption with existing customers as they broaden their use of the nCino Bank Operating System within and across lines of business. Our success in
growing our customer base and expanding adoption of our solution by existing customers requires a focused direct sales engagement and the ability to
convince key decision makers at financial institutions to replace legacy third-party point solutions or internally developed software with the nCino Bank
Operating System. In addition, growing our customer base will require us to increasingly penetrate markets outside the United States, which markets
accounted for 11.4% of total revenues for fiscal 2021. For new customers, our sales cycles are typically lengthy, generally ranging from six to nine months for
smaller financial institutions to 12 to 18 months or more for larger financial institutions. Reaching and converting potential customers requires that we
continue to invest in the growth and success of our sales force both in the United States and internationally. In addition, key to landing new customers is our
ability to successfully take our existing customers live and help them achieve measurable returns on their investment, thereby turning them into referenceable
accounts. If we are unable to successfully address the foregoing challenges, our ability to grow our business and achieve profitability will be adversely
affected, which may in turn reduce the value of our common stock.
Mix of Subscription and Professional Services Revenues. The initial deployment of the nCino Bank Operating System by our customers
requires a period of implementation and configuration services that can range from as little as three months for community banks to over 18 months for global
financial institutions. As a result, during the initial go-live period for a customer, professional services revenues make up a substantial portion of our revenues
from that customer, whereas over time, revenues from established customers are more heavily weighted to subscriptions. While professional services
revenues will fluctuate as a percentage of total revenues in the future and tend to be higher in periods of faster growth, over time we expect subscription
revenues will make up an increasing proportion of our total revenues as our overall business grows.
Subscription Revenue Retention Rate. We believe that our ability to retain and grow subscription revenues from our existing customers over
time strengthens the stability and predictability of our revenue base and is reflective of both the adoption curve of customers and the value we deliver to them.
We assess our performance in this area using a metric we refer to as subscription revenue retention rate. We calculate our subscription revenue retention rate
as total subscription revenues in a fiscal year from customers who contracted for any of our solutions as of January 31 of the prior fiscal year, expressed as a
percentage of total subscription revenues for the prior fiscal year. Subscription revenues from customers obtained through an acquisition will be included in
the calculation for the periods they were a customer of nCino. Our subscription revenue retention rate provides insight into the impact on current year
subscription revenues of:
•

the number and timing of new customers and phased activation of seats purchased by them in prior years, which activation schedules can
span several fiscal years for larger contracts;

•

expanding adoption of our solutions by our existing customers during the current year, excluding any revenues derived from businesses
acquired during such year; and

•

customer attrition.

For fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021, we had subscription revenue retention rates of 163%, 147%, and 155%, respectively. The most significant driver
of changes in our subscription revenue retention rate each year has historically been the number of new customers in prior years and the associated phased
activation schedules for such customers. As our installed base and associated subscription revenues expanded in recent years, we have seen some moderation
of our subscription revenue retention rate. In the future, we expect further moderation to the extent we continue to experience rapid growth. In addition,
because larger financial institutions tend to make more sizable purchases with longer activation schedules, we expect variability in our subscription revenue
retention rates based on the timing and extent of our continued penetration of this portion of the market. The increase in our subscription revenue retention
rate for fiscal 2021 was primarily due to accelerated activation of licenses sold in the year for our PPP and Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme
solutions. Our use of subscription revenue retention rate has limitations as an analytical tool, and investors should not consider it in isolation. Other
companies in
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our or adjacent markets may calculate subscription revenue retention rates or similar metrics differently, which reduces its usefulness as a comparative
measure.
Long-term ACV Expansion. A key element of our growth strategy is to expand our deployed footprint with a customer after initial adoption. Our
customers typically purchase our solution for a defined line of business or to support a specific use case and, once deployed, we seek to convince the
customer to adopt our solution within and across additional lines of business. To date, we have been successful in executing our land and expand strategy as a
result of our solution’s ability to streamline workflow, generate meaningful insights for operational improvement, and help drive improved bottom line results.
Due to our rapid growth, many of our customers have not yet come up for renewal, so our historical net retention rates may not be predictive of future results.
If our customers do not continue to see the ability of our solution to generate return on investment relative to other available solutions or at all, net retention
rates could suffer and our operating results could be adversely affected.
We believe our ACV-based net retention of customers over the long term illustrates our success in executing our land and expand strategy, as it
demonstrates growing adoption by existing customers, including price increases but net of attrition. To measure net retention, we categorize customers by the
year in which they first contracted for our solution, which we call an annual cohort. For each annual cohort, we measure the total ACV for our most recently
completed fiscal year and divide it by the total ACV for such cohort at the end of the initial cohort year. We refer to the resulting quotient as “ACV-based net
retention.” In any given period, ACV for a customer represents the annualized subscription fees from the fully activated subscription contracts in effect for
such customers at the end of the applicable period. While we expect ACV-based net retention to increase over time for each respective cohort as we execute
our land and expand strategy, occasionally ACV-based net retention can moderate from one period to the next, from customer consolidation for example.
The graphic below illustrates our ACV-based net retention for customers initially signed since fiscal 2013. Each individual cohort is not
necessarily predictive of other or future cohorts.
Annual Contract Value ("ACV")
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COVID-19 Effects on Demand for Our Solution. To help our customers service demand for PPP loans under the CARES Act beginning in April
2020, we adapted our Small Business Administration loan solution to the requirements of the PPP and rapidly introduced it to the market. Using our PPP
solution, since the inception of PPP funding, our financial institution customers have processed hundreds of thousands of applications.
In light of the extraordinary nature of this market demand, we offered our PPP solution on one- or two-year terms as well as on a multi-year basis
co-terminus with existing contracts. Seats for our PPP solution were activated immediately, which caused subscription revenues from these seats to be
recognized sooner than is typical with the phased seat activations usually offered to customers. We believe that the emergency purchases of our PPP solution
may have had the effect of pulling forward demand that might have otherwise materialized as new business later in the fiscal year and that, coupled with the
disruptive effect of COVID-19 on the economy more generally, may have the effect of moderating revenue growth rates in fiscal 2022. In addition, our
subscription revenue retention rates may be adversely affected upon the expiration of access and use rights to our PPP solution to the extent such rights are
not re-purposed for other applications.
Continued Investment in Innovation and Growth. We have made substantial investments in product development, sales and marketing, and
strategic acquisitions since our inception to achieve a leadership position in our market and grow our revenues and customer base. We intend to continue to
increase our investment in product development in the coming years to maintain and build on this advantage. We also intend to invest heavily in sales and
marketing both in the United States and internationally to further grow our business and increase our general and administrative spending to support our
growing operations and for operating as a newly public company. As such, to capitalize on the market opportunity we see ahead of us, we expect to continue
to optimize our operating plans for revenue growth, and as a result continue experiencing operating losses, for the foreseeable future.
Non-GAAP Financial Measure
In addition to providing financial measurements based on generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP"),
we provide an additional financial metric that is not prepared in accordance with GAAP (non-GAAP). Management uses this non-GAAP financial measure,
in addition to GAAP financial measures, to understand and compare operating results across accounting periods, for financial and operational decision
making, for planning and forecasting purposes, and to evaluate our financial performance. We believe that this non-GAAP financial measure helps us to
identify underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the expenses that we exclude in the calculations of the non-GAAP
financial measure.
Accordingly, we believe that this financial measure reflects our ongoing business in a manner that allows for meaningful comparisons and
analysis of trends in the business and provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results, and enhancing
the overall understanding of our past performance and future prospects. Although the calculation of non-GAAP financial measures may vary from company
to company, our detailed presentation may facilitate analysis and comparison of our operating results by management and investors with other peer
companies, many of which use a similar non-GAAP financial measure to supplement their GAAP results in their public disclosures. This non-GAAP
financial measure is Non-GAAP Operating Loss, as discussed below.
Non-GAAP operating loss. Non-GAAP operating loss is defined as loss from operations as reported in our consolidated statements of operations
excluding the impact of amortization of intangible assets and stock-based compensation expense. Non-GAAP operating loss is widely used by securities
analysts, investors, and other interested parties to evaluate the profitability of companies. Non-GAAP operating loss eliminates potential differences in
performance caused by variations in the extent to which intangible assets are identifiable (affecting relative amortization expense).
This non-GAAP financial measure does not replace the presentation of our GAAP financial results and should only be used as a supplement to,
not as a substitute for, our financial results presented in accordance with GAAP. There are limitations in the use of non-GAAP measures because they do not
include all of the expenses that must be included under GAAP and because they involve the exercise of judgment concerning exclusions of items from the
comparable non-GAAP financial measure. In addition, other companies may use other measures to evaluate their performance, or may calculate non-GAAP
measures differently, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison.
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The following table reconciles non-GAAP operating loss to loss from operations, the most directly comparable financial measure, calculated and
presented in accordance with GAAP (in thousands):

($ in thousands)

2019

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2021

GAAP loss from operations
Adjustments
Amortization of intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Total adjustments

$

(23,216) $

(28,170) $

(42,608)

Non-GAAP operating loss

$

—
4,095
4,095
(19,121) $

1,748
5,745
7,493
(20,677) $

3,205
25,208
28,413
(14,195)

Components of Results of Operations
Revenues
We derive our revenues from subscription and professional services fees.
Subscription Revenues. Our subscription revenues consist principally of fees from customers for accessing the nCino Bank Operating System and
maintenance and support services that we offer under non-cancellable multi-year contracts, which typically range from three to five years. Specifically, we
offer:
•

Client onboarding, loan origination, and deposit account opening applications targeted at a financial institution’s commercial, small
business, and retail lines of business, for which we generally charge on a per seat basis.

•

nIQ, first introduced in fiscal 2020, for which we generally charge based on the asset size of the customer or on a usage basis. Prior to our
acquisitions of Visible Equity and FinSuite, they generally licensed their products under annual contracts that could be cancelled on 30days’ notice. We will continue to support these customers under their legacy contracts until such contracts are renewed, cancelled, or expire.

•

Maintenance and support services as well as internal-use or “sandbox” development licenses, for which we charge as a percentage of the
related subscription fees.

Our subscription revenues are generally recognized ratably over the term of the contract beginning upon activation. For new customers, we may
activate a portion of seats at inception of the agreement, with the balance activated at contractually specified points in time thereafter, to pattern our invoicing
after the customer’s expected rate of implementation and adoption. Subscription fees are generally charged annually in advance. Where seats are activated in
stages, we charge subscription fees from the date of activation through the anniversary of the initial activation date, and annually thereafter. Maintenance and
support fees, as well as development licenses, are provided over the same periods as the related subscriptions, so fees are invoiced and revenues are
recognized over the same periods. Subscription fees invoiced are recorded as deferred revenue pending recognition as revenues. In certain cases, we are
authorized to resell access to Salesforce’s CRM solution along with the nCino Bank Operating System. When we resell such access, we charge a higher
subscription price and remit a higher subscription fee to Salesforce for these subscriptions.
Professional Services Revenues. Professional services revenues consist of fees for implementation and configuration assistance, training, and
advisory services. For enterprise and larger regional financial institutions, we generally work with SIs to provide the majority of implementation services, for
which these SIs bill our customers directly. We have historically delivered professional services ourselves for community banks and smaller credit unions.
Revenues for implementation, training, and advisory services are recognized on a proportional performance basis, based on labor hours incurred relative to
total budgeted hours. To date, our losses on professional services contracts have not been material. During the initial go-live period for a customer,
professional services revenues make up a substantial portion of our revenues from that customer, whereas over time, revenues from established customers are
more heavily weighted to subscriptions. While professional services revenues will fluctuate as a percentage of total revenues in the future and tend to be
higher in periods of faster growth, over time we expect to see subscription revenues make up an increasing proportion of our total revenues.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Cost of Subscription Revenues. Cost of subscription revenues primarily consists of fees paid to Salesforce for access to the Salesforce Platform,
including Salesforce’s hosting infrastructure and data center operations. When we resell access to Salesforce’s CRM solution, cost of subscription revenues
also includes the subscription fees we remit to Salesforce for providing such access. In addition, cost of subscription revenues includes personnel-related costs
associated with delivering maintenance and support services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, travel and related costs,
amortization of acquired developed technology, and allocated overhead. Our subscription gross margin will vary from period to period as a function of the
utilization of support personnel and the extent to which we recognize subscription revenues from the resale of Salesforce’s CRM solution.
Cost of Professional Services Revenues. Cost of professional services revenues consists primarily of personnel-related costs associated with
delivery of these services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, travel and related costs, and allocated overhead. The cost of
providing professional services is significantly higher as a percentage of the related revenues than for our subscription services due to direct labor costs. The
cost of professional services revenues has increased in absolute dollars as we have added new customer subscriptions that require professional services and
built-out our international professional services capabilities. Realized effective billing and utilization rates drive fluctuations in our professional services gross
margin on a period-to-period basis.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs of our sales and marketing employees, including salaries,
sales commissions and incentives, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, travel and related costs. Beginning with fiscal 2020 and the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, we capitalize incremental costs incurred to obtain contracts, primarily consisting of sales commissions,
and subsequently amortize these costs over the expected period of benefit, which we have determined to be approximately four years. Prior to fiscal 2020,
these costs were expensed as incurred. Because of this change in accounting, sales and marketing expenses beginning in fiscal 2020 are not directly
comparable to prior periods. Sales and marketing expenses also include outside consulting fees, marketing programs, including lead generation, costs of our
annual user conference, advertising, trade shows, other event expenses, amortization of acquired customer relationships, and allocated overhead. We expect
sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase as we expand our direct sales teams in the United States and internationally to address our market
opportunity.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation associated
with our engineering, product and quality assurance personnel, as well as allocated overhead. Research and development expenses also include the cost of
third-party contractors. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. We expect research and development costs to continue to increase as we
develop new functionality and make improvements to the nCino Bank Operating System.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation associated
with our executive, finance, legal, human resources, information technology, compliance and other administrative personnel. General and administrative
expenses also include accounting, auditing and legal professional services fees, travel and other corporate-related expenses, and allocated overhead. We
expect that general and administrative expenses will continue to increase as we scale our business and as we incur costs associated with being a new publiclytraded company, including legal, audit, and consulting fees.
Stock-Based Compensation
We have historically recorded stock-based compensation expense associated with stock options in cost of revenues and operating expenses as the
related options vest. Beginning in the quarter ended July 31, 2020, we recorded stock-based compensation expenses associated with RSUs as cost of revenues
and operating expenses as the liquidity-based vesting condition was satisfied upon the IPO. For fiscal 2021, we recognized $21.5 million of stock-based based
compensation expense, related to RSUs being recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and additional vesting of RSUs since such time ($12.2 million of
which was recognized on the effective date of the IPO). In the future, stock-based compensation expense for both stock options and RSUs will be recognized
as the time-based vesting conditions under such awards are met.
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Results of Operations
The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the financial statements and notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following tables present our selected consolidated statements of operations data for fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021 in both
dollars and as a percentage of total revenues, except as noted.

($ in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2019

Revenues:
Subscription revenues
Professional services revenues
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
Cost of subscription revenues1
Cost of professional services revenues1
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing1
Research and development1
General and administrative1
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Non-operating income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Adjustment attributable to non-controlling interest

$

Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Net loss per share attributable to nCino, Inc.:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

64,458
27,076
91,534

$

103,265
34,915
138,180

$

2021

162,439
41,854
204,293

19,995
26,456
46,451
45,083

31,062
33,008
64,070
74,110

47,969
40,166
88,135
116,158

31,278
22,230
14,791
68,299
(23,216)

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)

59,731
58,263
40,772
158,766
(42,608)

$

1,193
—
(89)
(22,112)
194
(22,306)
—
—
(22,306) $

988
—
33
(27,149)
586
(27,735)
(141)
—
(27,594) $

361
(130)
1,693
(40,684)
586
(41,270)
(1,130)
396
(40,536)

$

(0.30) $

(0.35) $

(0.46)

74,593,709

78,316,794

87,678,323

1

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

($ in thousands)

2019

Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

$

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

43

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

243
1,244
1,078
1,056
474
4,095

$

$

277
1,240
1,260
1,245
1,723
5,745

$

$

2021

576
4,232
6,190
5,463
8,747
25,208
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The Company recognized amortization expense as follows:

($ in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Cost of subscription revenues
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

Total amortization expense

$

—
—
—
—

$

70.4 %
29.6
100.0

Net loss

697
937
114
1,748

2021

$

1,525
1,670
10
3,205

$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Revenues:
Subscription revenues
Professional services revenues
Total revenues
Cost of revenues (percentage shown in comparison to related revenues):
Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Other
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense

$

74.7 %
25.3
100.0

2021

79.5 %
20.5
100.0

31.0
97.7
50.7
49.3

30.1
94.5
46.4
53.6

29.5
96.0
43.1
56.9

34.2
24.3
16.2
74.7
(25.4)

32.2
25.5
16.3
74.0
(20.4)

29.2
28.5
20.0
77.7
(20.8)

1.3
—
(0.1)
(24.2)
0.2
(24.4)%

0.7
—
—
(19.7)
0.4
(20.1)%

0.2
(0.1)
0.8
(19.9)
0.3
(20.2)%

Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended January 31, 2020 and 2021
Revenues
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2020

Revenues:
Subscription revenues
Professional services revenues
Total revenues

$

103,265
34,915
138,180

$

2021

74.7 % $
25.3
100.0 % $

162,439
41,854
204,293

79.5 %
20.5
100.0 %

Subscription Revenues
Subscription revenues increased $59.2 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, due to initial revenues from customers who did not
contribute to subscription revenues during the prior period, including customers added as a result of our acquisitions of Visible Equity and FinSuite, and
growth from existing customers within and across lines of business. Of the increase, 85.5% was attributable to increased revenues from existing customers as
additional seats were activated in accordance with contractual terms and customers expanded their adoption of our solution, 8.9% was attributable to revenues
from Visible Equity and FinSuite, and 5.6% was attributable to initial revenues from customers who did not contribute to subscription
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revenues during the prior period. Subscription revenues were 79.5% of total revenues for fiscal 2021 compared to 74.7% of total revenues for fiscal 2020,
reflecting the growth in our installed base.
Professional Services Revenues
Professional services revenues increased $6.9 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to the addition of new customers as
well as expanded adoption by existing customers within and across lines of business where implementation, configuration, and training services were
required. For fiscal 2021, $0.4 million of professional services revenue was reimbursable travel and expense related to professional services projects at
customer locations compared to $2.9 million for fiscal 2020.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2020

Cost of revenues (percentage shown in comparison to related
revenues):
Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

2021

30.1 % $
94.5
$
46.4

47,969
40,166
88,135

29.5 %
96.0

$

31,062
33,008
64,070

$

74,110

53.6 % $

116,158

56.9 %

43.1

Cost of Subscription Revenues
Cost of subscription revenues increased $16.9 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, generating a gross margin for subscription
revenues of 70.5% compared to a gross margin of 69.9% for fiscal 2020. Costs related to Salesforce user fees increased $12.0 million as we continued to add
new customers and sell additional functionality to existing customers, and personnel costs increased $2.3 million as we added new employees. Stock-based
compensation expense for RSUs increased $0.4 million, mostly attributable to RSUs being recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and also additional
vesting of RSUs since the effective date of the IPO. Amortization expense for acquired developed technology related to the acquisitions of Visible Equity and
FinSuite increased $0.8 million due to amortization expense during the full period for fiscal 2021. Other costs of subscription revenues increased $1.2 million
due to data services purchased for resale. We expect the cost of subscription revenues will continue to increase in absolute dollars as the number of users of
the nCino Bank Operating System grows.
Cost of Professional Services Revenues
Cost of professional services revenues increased $7.2 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, generating a gross margin for professional
services of 4.0% compared to a gross margin of 5.5% for fiscal 2020. Excluding the effect of additional stock-based compensation expense, mostly
attributable to RSUs being recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and also additional vesting of RSUs since the effective date of the IPO, gross margin
for professional services for fiscal 2021 was 12.2%. For fiscal 2021, personnel costs increased $6.6 million for the professional services team compared to the
prior year period due to increased headcount. Stock-based compensation expense for RSUs increased $3.4 million mostly attributable to RSUs being
recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and also additional vesting of RSUs since the effective date of the IPO. Allocated overhead costs increased $0.7
million compared to the prior year period due to growth supporting our continued business expansion. These increases were partially offset by a $2.5 million
decrease in reimbursable, and a $0.9 million decrease in non-reimbursable, travel and related expenses for the professional service organization due to
COVID-19-related travel restrictions. Without the effect of the additional stock-based compensation expense, our professional services gross margin increase
for fiscal 2021 was primarily due to the decrease in non-reimbursable travel aforementioned and effective billing rates.
Excluding the effect of IPO associated expenses related to RSUs, we expect the cost of professional services revenues to increase in absolute
dollars in the near term as we add new customer subscriptions where we provide professional services.
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Operating Expenses
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2020

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

$

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)

$

2021

32.2 % $
25.5
16.3
74.0
(20.4)% $

59,731
58,263
40,772
158,766
(42,608)

29.2 %
28.5
20.0
77.7
(20.8)%

Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses increased $15.3 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to an increase of $12.7 million in
personnel costs resulting from an increase in headcount on the sales and marketing teams. Stock-based compensation expense for RSUs increased $5.1
million, mostly attributable to RSUs being recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and also additional vesting of RSUs from the effective date of the
IPO. The increase in sales and marketing expenses also included a $1.1 million increase in allocated overhead costs and a $0.7 million increase in outside
consulting fees due to growth supporting our continued business expansion. Amortization expense for acquired customer relationships related to the
acquisition of Visible Equity increased $0.7 million due to amortization expense during the full period for fiscal 2021. The increase in sales and marketing
expenses for fiscal 2021 was partially offset by a decrease of $0.7 million in marketing costs and a decrease of $4.3 million in sales-related travel costs due to
COVID-19-related travel restrictions.
Our sales and marketing headcount grew by 37 from January 31, 2020 to January 31, 2021. Excluding the effect of IPO associated expenses
related to RSUs, we expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we invest in expanding our customer base and user adoption.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses increased $23.0 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to an increase of $14.6
million in personnel costs resulting from a continued increase in headcount and a $1.8 million increase in allocated overhead costs due to growth supporting
our continued business expansion. Stock-based compensation expense for RSUs increased $4.5 million, mostly attributable to RSUs being recognized upon
the effective date of the IPO and also additional vesting of RSUs since the effective date of the IPO. Third party professional fees increased $2.5 million for
fiscal 2021 compared to the fiscal 2020, attributable to an increase of contract research and development spend. The increase in research and development
expenses for fiscal 2021 was partially offset by a decrease of $0.4 million in travel costs due to COVID-19-related travel restrictions.
Our research and development headcount grew by 114 from January 31, 2020 to January 31, 2021. Excluding the effect of IPO associated
expenses related to RSUs, we expect research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars due to higher headcount as we continue to develop
new applications and further enhance the nCino Bank Operating System.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses increased $18.2 million for fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to stock-based compensation
expense for RSUs of $8.1 million mostly attributable to RSUs being recognized upon the effective date of the IPO and also additional vesting of RSUs since
the effective date of the IPO, partially offset by $1.2 million of stock-based compensation expense for the accelerated vesting of an executive's stock options
for the fiscal 2020 that did not occur for fiscal 2021. Personnel costs increased $4.7 million from increased headcount as we continued to scale our business.
Third party professional fees increased $2.3 million for fiscal 2021 compared to the fiscal 2020, mostly attributable to costs related to the IPO, Secondary
Offering and costs associated with being a public company. Allocated overhead and other general and administrative costs increased $5.1 million, which
consisted primarily of a $2.7 million increase in insurance costs associated with being a public company, tax related fees and assessments, license fees,
charitable contributions, and bad debt expense. The increase in general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2021 was partially offset by a decrease of $0.7
million in travel costs due to COVID-19-related travel restrictions.
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Our general and administrative headcount grew by 23 from January 31, 2020 to January 31, 2021. Excluding the effect of IPO associated
expenses related to RSUs, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in the near term, primarily due to higher headcount to
support our continued growth and additional expenses for our transition to, and continuing costs of, being a public company.
Effects of COVID-19
COVID-19 began affecting our business in our first quarter fiscal 2021. To date, we have not experienced a material increase in customers’
delaying purchase decisions or cancellations nor have we had a material impact from vendors and third-party service providers we rely on. Beginning in midMarch 2020, we implemented a company-wide work-from-home requirement for all of our employees and suspended all work-related travel. We have
recently eased some of these restrictions, but substantially all employees continue to work remotely and work-related travel remains very limited. In addition,
we shifted our conferences and other marketing events to virtual-only for the foreseeable future. We expect these restrictions to stay in effect into future
periods. To the extent COVID-19 has measurably affected our historical financial results, we have noted such effects in the discussion above. We are aware
that there are effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in terms of efficiency, productivity, workforce retention and other matters that are not directly measurable.
The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operational and financial performance will depend on future developments unknown and
unpredictable at this time, including the ultimate duration, severity and spread of the pandemic, the effects of the pandemic on financial institutions generally
as well as on our customers, their clients and on our business partners in particular, restrictions on travel and other actions that may be taken by governmental
authorities, and other factors. For further information, please see Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors Affecting Our Operating Results—COVID-19 Effects on Demand for Our Solutions,” and Item 1A
in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,“Risk Factors—Uncertain or weakened economic conditions, including as a result of COVID-19, may adversely
affect our industry, business, and results of operations.”
Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended January 31, 2019 and 2020
Revenues
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2019

Revenues:
Subscription revenues
Professional services revenues
Total revenues

$

64,458
27,076
91,534

$

2020

70.4 % $
29.6
100.0 % $

103,265
34,915
138,180

74.7 %
25.3
100.0 %

Subscription Revenues
Subscription revenues increased $38.8 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, due to initial revenues from customers who did not
contribute to subscription revenues during the prior period, including customers added as a result of our acquisitions of Visible Equity and FinSuite, and
growth from existing customers within and across lines of business. Of the increase, 61.7% was attributable to increased revenues from existing customers as
additional seats were activated in accordance with contractual terms and customers expanded their adoption of our solution, 15.4% was attributable to
revenues from Visible Equity and FinSuite, and 22.9% was attributable to initial revenues from customers who did not contribute to subscription revenues
during the prior period. Subscription revenues were 74.7% of total revenues for fiscal 2020, compared to 70.4% of total revenues for fiscal 2019, reflecting
the growth in our installed base.
Professional Services Revenues
Professional services revenues increased $7.8 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, primarily due to the addition of new customers, as
well as expanded adoption by existing customers within and across lines of business where implementation, configuration, and training services were
required. For fiscal 2020, $2.9 million of professional services revenues was reimbursable travel and expense related to professional services projects at
customer locations compared to $2.5 million for fiscal 2019.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2019

Cost of revenues (percentage shown in comparison to related
revenues):
Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

2020

31.0 % $
97.7
$
50.7

31,062
33,008
64,070

30.1 %
94.5

$

19,995
26,456
46,451

$

45,083

49.3 % $

74,110

53.6 %

46.4

Cost of Subscription Revenues
Cost of subscription revenues increased $11.1 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, generating a gross margin for subscription
revenues of 69.9% compared to a gross margin of 69.0% for fiscal 2019. Costs related to Salesforce user fees increased $7.5 million as we continued to add
new customers and sold additional functionality to existing customers, and personnel costs increased $1.9 million as we added new employees. Allocated
overhead costs for fiscal 2020 increased $1.0 million compared to fiscal 2019 due to headcount growth in our global customer support organization. Other
costs of subscription revenues increased $0.7 million due to third-party data integration and nIQ hosting expenses.
Cost of Professional Services Revenues
Cost of professional services revenues increased $6.6 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, generating a gross margin for professional
services of 5.5% compared to a gross margin of 2.3% for fiscal 2019. Personnel costs for fiscal 2020 increased $5.1 million for the professional services team
compared to fiscal 2019 primarily due to increased headcount. Reimbursable travel and expenses related to professional services projects at customer
locations for fiscal 2020 increased $0.4 million compared to fiscal 2019. Allocated overhead costs for fiscal 2020 increased $0.9 million and travel related
expenses increased $0.3 million compared to fiscal 2019 due to growth supporting our continued business expansion. The increase in cost of professional
services revenues was partially offset by a $0.1 million decrease in other services. The increase in our professional services gross margin in fiscal 2020 was
primarily due to higher utilization and effective billing rates in our maturing international professional services practice.
Operating Expenses
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
($ in thousands)

2019

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

$

31,278
22,230
14,791
68,299
(23,216)

$

2020

34.2 % $
24.3
16.2
74.7
(25.4)% $

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)

32.2 %
25.5
16.3
74.0
(20.4)%

Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses increased $13.2 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, primarily due to an increase of $8.4 million in
personnel costs resulting from an increase in headcount on the sales and marketing teams and a $1.7 million increase in marketing costs, including direct costs
of conference attendance and sponsorships, and a $1.0 million increase in sales-related travel costs. Our sales and marketing headcount grew from 140 at
January 31, 2019 to 221 at January 31, 2020. The increase in sales and marketing expenses also included a $2.4 million increase in allocated overhead costs
due to growth supporting our continued business expansion. The increase in sales and marketing expenses in fiscal 2020 was partially offset by a net
reduction of $2.4 million in incremental costs incurred to obtain contracts, primarily consisting of sales commissions, as we began capitalizing and amortizing
such expenses in fiscal 2020, and by a $0.3 million reduction in the use of third-party consultants.
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Research and Development
Research and development expenses increased $13.1 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, primarily due to an increase of $10.5
million in personnel costs resulting from continued increases in headcount, both organically and from acquisitions, a $0.6 million increase in the use of thirdparty contractors as we continued to invest in the nCino Bank Operating System, a $0.2 million increase in travel and meeting expenses, and a $1.8 million
increase in allocated overhead costs due to growth supporting our continued business expansion. Our research and development headcount grew from 153 at
January 31, 2019 to 265 at January 31, 2020.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses increased $7.7 million for fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, primarily due to an increase of $4.4 million
in personnel costs as we continued to scale our business. Our general and administrative headcount grew from 63 at January 31, 2019 to 102 at January 31,
2020. Third party professional fees increased $3.7 million from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2020, including $1.7 million of transaction-related costs incurred related
to acquisitions and our IPO. Travel and meeting expenses increased $0.4 million due to headcount growth and strategic initiatives. Allocated overhead and
other general and administrative costs decreased $0.8 million, which consisted primarily of a $1.5 million decrease in tax related fees and assessments
primarily due to revisions in prior year sales and use tax estimates, partially offset by higher insurance and occupancy costs.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of January 31, 2021, we had $371.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, and an accumulated deficit of $161.1 million. Our net losses have
been driven by our investments in developing the nCino Bank Operating System, expanding our sales and marketing organization, and scaling our finance
and administrative functions to support our rapid growth. We expect to continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable future.
To date, we have funded our capital needs through issuances of common stock and collections from our customers. In July 2020, we closed our
IPO of 9,269,000 shares of common stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters' options to purchase additional shares)
at a public offering price of $31.00 per share, resulting in aggregate net proceeds to us of $268.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions. We paid $2.8 million in additional IPO related costs during fiscal 2021. We generally bill and collect from our customers annually in advance.
Our billings are subject to seasonality, with billings in the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal year substantially higher than in the second and third quarters.
Because we recognize revenues ratably, our deferred revenue balance mirrors the seasonality of our billings. In addition, our advanced billing and collection
coupled with our recent growth has resulted in our cash used in operating activities generally being less than our net operating losses in recent periods.
We believe that current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations and capital requirements for at least the next
12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support research and
development efforts to enhance the nCino Bank Operating System and introduce new applications, market acceptance of our solution, the continued
expansion of our sales and marketing activities, investments in office facilities and other capital expenditure requirements, and any potential future
acquisitions. We may from time-to-time seek to raise additional capital to support our growth. Any equity financing we may undertake could be dilutive to
our existing stockholders, and any debt financing we may undertake could require debt service and financial and operational covenants that could adversely
affect our business. There is no assurance we would be able to obtain future financing on acceptable terms or at all.
nCino K.K.
In fiscal 2020, we established nCino K.K., a Japanese company in which we own a controlling interest, for purposes of facilitating our entry into
the Japanese market. We have consolidated the results of operations and financial condition of nCino K.K. since its inception. Pursuant to an agreement with
the holders of the non-controlling interest in nCino K.K., beginning in 2027 we may redeem the non-controlling interest, or be required to redeem such
interest by the holders thereof, based on a prescribed formula derived from the relative revenues of nCino K.K. and the Company. The balance of the
redeemable non-controlling interest is reported on our balance sheet below total liabilities but above stockholders’ equity at the greater of the initial carrying
amount adjusted for the redeemable non-controlling interest’s share of earnings or losses and other comprehensive income or loss, or its estimated redemption
value. As of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, the redeemable non-controlling interest was $4.4 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
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Cash Flows
Summary Cash Flow information for fiscal 2019, 2020, and 2021 are set forth below.

($ in thousands)

2019

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

(4,589) $
(7,965)
6,260

(8,998) $
(58,027)
84,091

2021

9,222
(4,338)
274,121

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
The $9.2 million provided by operating activities in fiscal 2021 reflects our net loss of $41.3 million, offset by $35.9 million in non-cash charges
and $14.6 million generated by changes in working capital accounts. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based compensation, depreciation and
amortization, and amortization of costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts, partially offset by foreign currency gains related to intercompany loans and
transactions. Cash generated by working capital accounts was principally a function of a $30.3 million increase in deferred revenue, as we expanded our
customer base and renewed existing customers, and a $8.0 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities. The cash generated
by working capital accounts was partially offset by a $11.4 million increase in accounts receivable due to the timing of collections from customers, payments
of $9.0 million of capitalized costs to obtain revenue contracts, which consisted primarily of sales commissions, and a $3.3 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other assets.
The $9.0 million we used in operating activities in fiscal 2020 was driven by our net loss of $27.7 million, partially offset by $13.7 million in
non-cash charges and $5.1 million generated by changes in working capital accounts. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based compensation,
depreciation and amortization, and amortization of costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts. Cash generated by working capital accounts was principally a
function of a $22.0 million increase in deferred revenue, as we expanded our customer base and renewed existing customers, and a $3.5 million increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities. The cash generated by working capital accounts was partially offset by an increase of $14.2
million in accounts receivable due to the timing of collections from customers, payments of $5.6 million of capitalized costs to obtain revenue contracts,
which consisted primarily of sales commissions, and a $1.6 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.
The $4.6 million we used in operating activities in fiscal 2019 was driven by our net loss of $22.3 million, partially offset by $5.7 million in noncash charges and $12.1 million generated by changes in working capital accounts. Cash generated by working capital accounts was principally a function of a
$13.5 million increase in deferred revenue, as we expanded our customer base and renewed existing customers, and a $4.7 million increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses. The cash generated by working capital accounts was partially offset by an increase of $5.7 million in accounts receivable due
to the timing of collections from customers and a $1.2 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
We used $4.3 million in investing activities in fiscal 2021 for the purchase of property and equipment and leasehold improvements to support the
expansion of our business. The $58.0 million used in investing activities in fiscal 2020 comprised of $5.8 million used for the purchase of property and
equipment and leasehold improvements to support the expansion of our business and $52.3 million used in the acquisitions of Visible Equity and FinSuite.
We used $8.0 million in investing activities in fiscal 2019 for the purchase of property and equipment and leasehold improvements to support the expansion
of our business.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
The $274.1 million provided by financing activities in fiscal 2021 was comprised $268.4 million in proceeds from the IPO in July 2020, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions, and $8.7 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options. The cash provided by financing activities was
partially reduced by payments of $2.8 million in costs related to the IPO and payments of $0.2 million in November 2020 for the cash portion of contingent
consideration related to our acquisition of FinSuite in fiscal 2020. The $84.1 million provided by financing activities in fiscal 2020 was comprised principally
of $79.9 million in proceeds from equity financings, net of issuance costs, as well as $4.5 million in proceeds from the non-controlling interest for our Japan
joint venture, and $1.0 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options. The $6.3 million provided by financing activities in fiscal 2019 was comprised
of proceeds from the exercise of stock options.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our principal commitments consist of future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases related to our facilities and
equipment and various service agreements. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of January 31, 2021.

Less than
1 year

($ in thousands)

Operating lease obligations
Financing obligation - leased facility
Purchase commitments
Total

$

$

2,445
1,388
2,372
6,205

1 to 3
years

$

Payment due by period (in thousands)
3 to 5
More than 5
years
years

3,879
2,871
2,391
9,141

$

$

$

3,309
3,001
38
6,348

$

$

2,544
17,024
2
19,570

Total

$

$

12,177
24,284
4,803
41,264

The financing obligation above represents the total obligation for the new lease we entered into in November 2020 for our headquarters. Due to a
purchase option contained in the lease, the Company is deemed to have continuing involvement and is considered to be the owner of our headquarters for
accounting purposes. As a result, the Company did not meet the criteria to apply sale-leaseback accounting and therefore, recorded an asset and corresponding
financing obligation for $16.3 million at inception of the lease. The Company also entered into an agreement for a parking deck in January 2021 which is an
addition to the existing headquarters building. Due to the Company also being deemed to be the owner of the parking deck for accounting purposes, the costs
associated with the construction of the parking deck will be capitalized as construction in progress with a corresponding construction liability through
construction which is estimated to be approximately $18.0 million. Upon completion of the parking deck, the construction liability will be recorded as a
financing obligation. Upon expiration of the purchase option in the lease, the lease will be analyzed for applicable lease accounting. The construction in
progress and corresponding construction liability at January 31, 2021 was de minimis.
The commitment amounts in the table above are associated with contracts that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant
terms, including fixed or minimum services to be used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the actions under the
contracts. The table does not include obligations under agreements that we can cancel without a significant penalty.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or any relationships
with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including entities sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires our
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and related disclosures. Our
estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these judgments and estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any such differences may be significant.
We believe that the following accounting policies involve a high degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, these are the policies we
believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of our operations. See Note 2 of the
notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for a description of our other significant
accounting policies. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in those financial statements and accompanying notes. Although we believe that the
estimates we use are reasonable, due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making those estimates, actual results reported in future periods could differ from
those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition
Effective February 1, 2019, we adopted the requirement of Accounting Standards Update, or ASU No. 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”) utilizing the modified retrospective method of transition. Prior period information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
We derive our revenues from subscriptions and professional services. We recognize revenues when a contract exists between the Company and a
customer and upon transfer of control of promised products or services to such customer in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in
exchange for those products or services. We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of subscriptions and professional services, which may
be capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations, or in the case of offerings such as subscriptions, services and support,
accounted for as a single performance obligation. Revenues are recognized net of allowances and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently
remitted to governmental authorities.
We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

Determination of the transaction price;

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

Recognition of revenues when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

Subscription Revenues
Subscription revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers access to our cloud applications, with routine customer support and
maintenance related to email and phone support, bug fixes, and unspecified software updates and upgrades released when and if available during the
maintenance term. Revenues are generally recognized on a ratable basis over the contract term beginning on the date that our service is made available to the
customer, which we believe best reflects the manner in which our customers utilize our subscription offerings. Arrangements with customers do not provide
the customer with the right to take possession of the software supporting the cloud-based application service at any time and, as a result, are
accounted for as a service contract. Generally, our subscription contracts are three years or longer in length, billed annually in advance, are non-cancelable,
and do not contain refund-type provisions. Any subscription arrangements that are cancelable generally have penalty clauses.
Professional Services Revenues
Professional services revenues primarily consist of fees for deployment, configuration, and optimization services, as well as training. The
majority of our professional services contracts are billed on a fixed price basis, and revenues are recognized over time based on a proportional performance
methodology which utilizes input methods. A portion of our professional services contracts are billed on a time and materials basis and revenues are
recognized over time as the services are performed.
Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations
Most of our contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, we account for individual performance
obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price
(“SSP”) basis. We determine SSP by considering its overall pricing objectives and market conditions. Significant pricing practices taken into consideration
include our discounting practices, the size and volume of our transactions, the customer demographic, the geographic area where services are sold, price lists,
our go-to-market strategy, historical sales, and contract prices. As our go-to-market strategies evolve, we may modify its pricing practices in the future, which
could result in changes to SSP.
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Given the variability of pricing, we use a range of SSP. We determine the SSP range using information that may include market conditions or
other observable inputs. We typically have more than one SSP for individual products and services due to the stratification of products and services by
customer size.
Remaining performance obligations (RPOs) represent contracted revenues that have not yet been recognized, including deferred revenue and
unbilled amounts that we expect will be recognized as revenues in future periods. Our reported RPO balance is influenced by several factors, including the
timing of renewals, average contract terms, and foreign currency exchange rates. Because we often enter into large, multi-year contracts and the timing of
renewal of these contracts varies by customer, our reported RPOs may fluctuate significantly from period to period, and we do not believe this measure is a
useful gauge of our future performance. For these reasons, we do not use RPOs as a tool for managing our business.
Income Taxes
Accrued income taxes are reported as a component of either other current assets or other accrued liabilities, as appropriate, in our consolidated
balance sheets and reflect our estimate of income taxes to be paid or received.
Deferred income taxes represent the amount of future income taxes to be paid or refunded and are accounted for using the asset and liability
method. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. We recognize deferred tax assets
for temporary deductible differences and deferred tax liabilities for temporary taxable differences.
A valuation allowance is provided against a deferred tax asset when we determine that it is more likely than not that all, or a portion of, the
balance will not be realized. This requires management to utilize significant judgement and the use of estimates. Any realization of the Company’s deferred
tax assets is based upon the evaluation of four sources of taxable income, the future reversals of taxable temporary differences, future taxable income
exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, taxable income in prior carryback years, and tax-planning strategies. At January 31, 2021, we
determined that it is more likely than not that the majority of our deferred tax assets will not be realized and as such, recorded a valuation allowance of $70.1
million against our deferred tax assets of $80.0 million as of that date.
The Company is subject to income tax in the United States, multiple state and local jurisdictions and various foreign countries. The tax laws and
regulations in each jurisdiction may be interpreted differently in certain situations, which could result in differing financial results. The Company is required
to exercise judgement regarding the application of these tax laws and regulations. Through this judgement process, the Company will evaluate and recognize
any tax liabilities related to any income tax uncertainties. Due to the complexity of any uncertainty, the ultimate resolution may result in a remittance that is
different from the current estimate of any tax liabilities.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Options
Stock-based compensation expense related to employees is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the awards. We establish fair value as
the measurement objective in accounting for share-based payment transactions and recognize expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period,
which is generally the vesting term of four years. Stock-based compensation is recognized net of estimated forfeiture activity. The estimated forfeiture rate
applied is based on historical forfeiture rates. The fair value of each award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires significant judgement. The determination of the grant date fair value
of stock-based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is affected by our estimated common stock fair value as well as other subjective
assumptions including the expected term of the awards, the expected volatility over the expected term of the awards, expected dividend yield, and risk-free
interest rates. The assumptions used in our option-pricing model represent management’s best estimates. These assumptions and estimates are as follows:
•

Fair Value of Common Stock. For stock options issued prior to the IPO, due to the stock not being publicly traded, we estimated the fair
value of common stock based on contemporaneous valuations and other factors deemed relevant by management. No stock options have
been issued since the IPO.

•

Expected Term. The expected term of employee stock options reflects the period for which the Company believes the option will remain
outstanding. To determine the expected term, we generally apply the
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simplified approach in which the expected term of an award is presumed to be the mid-point between the vesting date and the expiration
date of the award.
•

Expected Volatility. As we do not have trading history for our common stock, the selected volatility used is representative of expected future
volatility. We base expected future volatility on the historical and implied volatility of comparable publicly traded companies over a similar
expected term.

•

Expected Dividend Yield. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently intend to pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. As a result, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

•

Risk-Free Interest Rates. We base the risk-free interest rate on the rate for a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a term that closely
approximates the expected life of the option grant at the date nearest the option grant date.

The following table reflects the weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted during fiscal 2019 and 2020
(there were no options granted in fiscal 2021):
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2019
2020

Expected life (in years from vesting)
Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Risk-free rate

6.25
40% - 41%
0.00%
2.07% - 2.27%

6.10 - 6.25
40%
0.00%
1.63% - 2.59%

In addition to assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, we must also estimate a forfeiture rate to calculate the stock-based
compensation expense for our option awards. Our forfeiture rate is based on an analysis of our actual forfeitures. We will continue to evaluate the
appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover, and other factors. Changes in the estimated
forfeiture rate can have a significant impact on our stock-based compensation expense as the cumulative effect of adjusting the rate is recognized in the period
the forfeiture rate is revised. If a revised forfeiture rate is higher than the previously estimated forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made that will result in a
decrease to the stock-based compensation expense recognized in the financial statements. If a revised forfeiture rate is lower than the previously estimated
forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made that will result in an increase to the stock-based compensation expense recognized in the financial statements.
We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the assumptions related to our stock-based compensation expense on a prospective basis. If any
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model change significantly, stock-based compensation for future awards may differ materially
compared with the awards granted previously. As we continue to accumulate additional data related to our common stock, we may have refinements to our
estimates, which could materially impact our future stock-based compensation expense.
Restricted Stock Units
RSUs issued prior to our IPO were subject to time-based and performance-based vesting conditions. RSUs issued subsequent to our IPO vest
upon the satisfaction of a time-based condition only. These RSUs are generally earned over a service period of four years and the compensation expense
related to these awards is based on the grant date fair value of the RSUs and is recognized on a ratable basis over the applicable service period.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted.
Emerging Growth Company Status
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new
or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until
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such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised
accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date we (1) are no longer an emerging growth
company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our financial statements may not
be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial
position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of fluctuations in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
At January 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $371.4 million, which consisted primarily of bank deposits and money market funds.
Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. However, our historical interest income has not fluctuated significantly. A hypothetical 10%
change in interest rates would not have had a material impact on our financial results included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We do not enter into
investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar and the functional currency of each of our subsidiaries is its local currency. The assets and liabilities of
each of our subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using the
average exchange rate for the relevant period. Equity transactions are translated using historical exchange rates. Decreases in the relative value of the U.S.
dollar to other currencies may negatively affect revenues and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. Foreign currency translation adjustments are
accounted for as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. Gains or losses due to transactions in foreign
currencies are included in “Non-operating income (expense), Other” in our consolidated statements of operations. Furthermore, our customers outside of the
United States typically pay us in local currency. We have not engaged in hedging of foreign currency transactions to date, although we may choose to do so in
the future. We do not believe that an immediate 10% increase or decrease in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other currencies would have a material
effect on operating results or financial condition.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of nCino, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of nCino, Inc. (the Company) as of January 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2021,
and the related notes, as well as the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15.2. (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at January 31,
2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
Raleigh, North Carolina
March 31, 2021
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nCino, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
January 31, 2020

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (VIE: $8,892 and $7,425 at January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, respectively) $
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $0 and $88 at January 31, 2020 and January 31,
2021, respectively
Accounts receivable, related parties
Costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts, current portion, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts, noncurrent, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other long-term assets
$
Total assets
Liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest, and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
$
Accounts payable, related parties
Accrued commissions
Other accrued expenses
Deferred rent, current portion
Deferred revenue, current portion
Deferred revenue, current portion, related parties
Financing obligation, current portion
Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent
Deferred rent, noncurrent
Deferred revenue, noncurrent
Financing obligation, noncurrent
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9, 14 and 15)
Redeemable non-controlling interest (Note 3)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 and 10,000,000 shares authorized as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021, respectively; and none issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2020 and January 31,
2021, respectively
Common stock, $0.0005 par value; 0 and 500,000,000 shares authorized as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021, respectively; 0 and 93,643,759 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021, respectively
Voting common stock, $0.0005 par value; 99,708,247 and 0 shares authorized as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021, respectively; 75,596,007 and 0 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021, respectively
Non-voting common stock, $0.0005 par value; 10,291,753 and 0 shares authorized as of January 31, 2020
and January 31, 2021, respectively; 5,931,319 and 0 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2020
and January 31, 2021, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
$
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest, and stockholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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91,184
34,205
9,201
3,608
7,079
145,277
13,477
7,000
55,840
26,093
2,464
250,151

1,258
3,408
7,862
4,922
183
50,929
8,013
—
76,575
194
1,558
—
—
195
78,522

January 31, 2021

$

371,425

$

55,517
—
4,864
10,425
442,231
29,943
10,191
57,149
23,137
750
563,401

$

1,634
4,363
12,500
7,527
203
89,141
—
324
115,692
368
1,486
946
15,939
—
134,431

4,356

3,791

—

—

—

47

38

—

3
288,564
(408)
(120,924)
167,273
250,151 $

—
585,956
240
(161,064)
425,179
563,401
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nCino, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
2019

Revenues
Subscription (related parties $7,929, $7,768, and $2,439, respectively)
Professional services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Subscription1 (related party $15,373, $22,844, and $34,831, respectively)
Professional services1
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing1
Research and development1
General and administrative1
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest (Note 3)
Adjustment attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest (Note 3)
Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Net loss per share attributable to nCino, Inc.:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

64,458
27,076
91,534

$

103,265
34,915
138,180

$

2021

162,439
41,854
204,293

19,995
26,456
46,451
45,083

31,062
33,008
64,070
74,110

47,969
40,166
88,135
116,158

31,278
22,230
14,791
68,299
(23,216)

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)

59,731
58,263
40,772
158,766
(42,608)

$

1,193
—
(89)
(22,112)
194
(22,306)
—
—
(22,306) $

988
—
33
(27,149)
586
(27,735)
(141)
—
(27,594) $

361
(130)
1,693
(40,684)
586
(41,270)
(1,130)
396
(40,536)

$

(0.30) $

(0.35) $

(0.46)

74,593,709

78,316,794

87,678,323

1

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
2019

Cost of subscription revenues
Cost of professional services revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

$

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

243
1,244
1,078
1,056
474
4,095

$

$

277
1,240
1,260
1,245
1,723
5,745

$

$

2021

576
4,232
6,190
5,463
8,747
25,208
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nCino, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

2019

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss
Less comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest:
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Foreign currency translation attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to nCino, Inc.

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2021

(22,306) $

(27,735) $

(41,270)

(27)
(27)
(22,333)

(403)
(403)
(28,138)

817
817
(40,453)

—
—

(141)
(16)

(1,130)
169

(157)
(27,981) $

(961)
(39,492)

—
(22,333) $
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nCino, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)
Voting
Common Stock

Balance, January 31, 2018
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive loss
Net loss attributable to
nCino, Inc.
Balance, January 31, 2019
Cumulative-effect adjustment
from adoption of
accounting standard
Stock issuance, net of
issuance costs of $52
Stock issuance related to
business combinations
Contingent consideration
related to business
combinations
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive loss
Net loss attributable to
nCino, Inc.
Balance, January 31, 2020
Issuance of common stock in
connection with initial
public offering, net of
underwriting discounts
and commissions
Costs in connection with
initial public offering
Exercise of stock options
Reclassification of voting
and non-voting common
stock
Stock issuance upon vesting
of restricted stock units
Stock issuance for contingent
consideration
Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive income
Net loss attributable to
nCino, Inc., including
adjustment to redeemable
non-controlling interest
Balance, January 31, 2021

Non-voting
Common Stock
3
—
—
—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$
160,418
6,258
4,095
—

—
5,701,435

—
3

—
170,771

(21)

(22,306)
(104,752)

(22,306)
66,036

—

—

—

—

—

11,422

11,422

3,448,276

2

229,885

—

79,946

—

—

79,948

—

1,502,772

1

—

—

25,203

—

—

25,204

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
458,770
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(1)
—
—

—
—
—
—

5,857
1,042
5,745
—

—
—
—
(387)

—
—
—
—

5,857
1,042
5,745
(387)

—
—

—
—

—
75,596,007

—
38

—
5,931,319

—
3

—
288,564

—
(408)

(27,594)
(120,924)

(27,594)
167,273

9,269,000

5

—

—

—

—

268,370

—

—

268,375

—
1,983,169

—
1

—
325,530

—
—

—
—

—

(4,534)
8,744

—
—

—
—

(4,534)
8,745

81,852,856

41

(75,921,537)

(38)

(5,931,319)

(3)

—

—

—

—

253,042

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

285,692
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
25,208
—

—
—
648

—
—
—

—
25,208
648

—
47

—
—

—
—

—
—

Common Stock
Shares
—
—
—
—

Amount
$
—
—
—
—

Shares
67,340,707
2,845,482
—
—

Amount
$
33
2
—
—

Shares
5,701,435
—
—
—

—
—

—
—

—
70,186,189

—
35

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
93,643,759

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Amount
$

$

—
—

$

Other
Comprehensive Accumulated
Income (Loss)
Deficit
$
6 $
(82,446) $
—
—
—
—
(27)
—

(396)
585,956 $

—
240

$

(40,140)
(161,064) $

Total
78,014
6,260
4,095
(27)

(40,536)
425,179

Table of Contents
nCino, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2019
2020
2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Net loss and adjustment attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) bad debt
Net foreign currency gains
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

$

(27,594) $
(141)
(27,735)

(40,536)
(734)
(41,270)

1,458
—
4,095
—
103
—

4,609
3,243
5,745
195
(105)
—

7,431
4,682
25,208
168
100
(1,691)

(10,212)

(9,289)

(20,614)

4,557
—

(4,867)
(5,631)

9,201
(8,967)

(1,185)

(1,628)

(3,342)

3,922
781

2,286
1,184

7,086
956

695
14,214

1,045
20,873

(52)
38,339

(711)
(4,589)

1,077
(8,998)

(8,013)
9,222

—
(7,965)

(52,267)
(5,760)

—
(4,338)

(7,965)

(58,027)

(4,338)

Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions

—

—

268,375

Payments of costs related to initial public offering

—

—

(2,765)

Investment from redeemable non-controlling interest
Proceeds from stock issuance

—
—

4,513
80,000

—
—

Stock issuance costs

—

(52)

—

—
6,260

(1,412)
1,042

—
8,745

—

—

(197)

—
6,260

—
84,091

(37)
274,121

Accounts receivable, related parties
Costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities
Accounts payable, related parties
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue, related parties
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Payments of deferred costs
Exercise of stock options
Contingent consideration payments
Principal payments on financing obligation
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(22,306) $
—
(22,306)

(35)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

(229)

1,236

16,837
74,347
91,184

$

280,241
91,184
371,425

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

(6,329)
80,676
74,347 $

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for taxes, net of refunds

$

42

$

369

$

631

$

—

$

—

$

130

Purchase of property and equipment, accrued but not paid

$

118

$

45

$

14

Building-leased facility acquired through financing obligation

$

—

$

—

$

16,300

Deferred costs, accrued but not paid

$

—

$

357

$

—

Fair value of common stock issued as consideration for business acquisition

$

—

$

25,204

$

—

Costs related to initial public offering, reclassified from other long term assets to equity

$

—

$

—

$

1,769

Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with business acquisition in other long-term liabilities

$

—

$

197

$

—

Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with business acquisition included in equity

$

—

$

5,857

$

—

Cash paid during the year for interest
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Organization and Description of Business
Description of Business: nCino, Inc. is a software-as-a-service (SaaS) company that provides software applications to financial institutions to
streamline employee and client interactions. The Company is headquartered in Wilmington, North Carolina and has offices in Salt Lake City, Utah; London,
United Kingdom; Sydney, Australia; Melbourne, Australia; Toronto, Canada; and Tokyo, Japan.
The Company was organized as a North Carolina limited liability company named BANKR, LLC on December 13, 2011. On April 3, 2012, the
Company was renamed nCino, LLC. The Company was re-incorporated in the State of Delaware on December 18, 2013.
Initial Public Offering: On July 13, 2020, the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 relating to the initial public offering ("IPO") of its
common stock was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Prior to the closing of the IPO, the Company's certificate of
incorporation was amended such that all outstanding shares of voting common stock and non-voting common stock were reclassified into a single class of
stock designated as common stock which has one vote per share. In addition, effective upon the closing of the IPO, the Company's certificate of incorporation
was amended and restated such that the total number of shares of common stock authorized to issue, par value $0.0005, was increased to 500,000,000 shares
and the total number of shares of preferred stock authorized to issue, par value $0.001, was increased to 10,000,000 shares. In connection with the IPO, the
Company issued and sold 9,269,000 shares of common stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters' option to purchase
additional shares) at a public offering price of $31.00 per share for net proceeds of $268.4 million, after deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions.
Prior to the IPO, deferred offering costs, which consisted of legal, accounting, consulting and other direct fees, and costs relating to the IPO, were
capitalized in other long-term assets. Upon consummation of the IPO, these costs were offset against the proceeds from the IPO and recorded in additional
paid-in capital.
Secondary Public Offering: On October 13, 2020, the Company completed an underwritten secondary public offering of 7,712,985 shares of
common stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares) (the "Secondary Offering")
held by certain stockholders of the Company (the "Selling Stockholders"). The Company did not offer any shares of common stock in the Secondary Offering
and did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of common stock by the Selling Stockholders. The Company incurred costs of $1.0 million in
relation to the Secondary Offering for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 and such costs are recorded as a component of general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. The Company received $1.7 million in cash (excluding withholding taxes) in connection with the
exercise of 554,112 options by certain stockholders participating in the Secondary Offering. In addition, concurrent with the pricing of the Secondary
Offering, the underwriters in the Company's IPO released an additional 367,561 shares from lock-up agreements, signed in connection with the IPO, with
stockholders who did not participate in the Secondary Offering. The release consisted of both outstanding shares and shares subject to options.
Fiscal Year End: The Company’s fiscal year ends on January 31.
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP") as set forth in the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC"). The consolidated financial statements include accounts of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries as well as
a variable interest entity in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated. Refer to disclosures in
Note 2 and Note 3 for additional information regarding the Company’s variable interest entity.
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The Company is subject to the normal risks associated with technology companies that have not demonstrated sustainable income from
operations, including product development, the risk of customer acceptance and market penetration of its products and services and, ultimately, the need to
attain profitability to generate positive cash resources.
Effective February 1, 2019, the Company adopted the requirement of Accounting Standards Update, or ASU No. 2014-09 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”) utilizing the modified retrospective method of transition. Prior period information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
Variable Interest Entity: The Company holds an interest in a Japanese company (“nCino K.K.”) that is considered a variable interest entity or
VIE. nCino K.K. is considered a VIE as it has insufficient equity capital to finance its activities without additional financial support. The Company is the
primary beneficiary of nCino K.K. as it has the power over the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of nCino K.K. and has the
obligation to absorb expected losses and the right to receive expected benefits that could be significant to nCino K.K., in accordance with accounting
guidance. As a result, the Company consolidated nCino K.K. and all significant intercompany accounts have been eliminated. The Company will continue to
assess whether it has a controlling financial interest and whether it is the primary beneficiary at each reporting period. Other than the Company’s equity
investment, the Company has not provided financial or other support to nCino K.K. that it was not contractually obligated to provide. The assets of the VIE
can only be used to settle the obligations of the VIE and the creditors of the VIE do not have recourse to the Company. The assets and liabilities of the VIE
were not significant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements except for cash which is reflected on the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 3
for additional information regarding the Company’s variable interest.
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest: Redeemable non-controlling interest relates to minority investors of nCino K.K. An agreement with the
minority investors of nCino K.K. contains redemption features whereby the interest held by the minority investors are redeemable either at the option of the
(i) minority investors or (ii) the Company, both beginning on the eighth anniversary of the initial capital contribution. If the interest of the minority investors
were to be redeemed under this agreement, the Company would be required to redeem the interest based on a prescribed formula derived from the relative
revenues of nCino K.K. and the Company. The balance of the redeemable non-controlling interest is reported at the greater of the initial carrying amount
adjusted for the redeemable non-controlling interest’s share of earnings or losses and other comprehensive income or loss, or its estimated redemption value.
The resulting changes in the estimated redemption amount (increases or decreases) are recorded with corresponding adjustments against retained earnings or,
in the absence of retained earnings, additional paid-in-capital. These interests are presented on the consolidated balance sheets outside of equity under the
caption “Redeemable non-controlling interest.”
Use of Estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions made by the
Company’s management are used for, but not limited to, revenue recognition including determining the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations, variable consideration, stand-alone selling price, and other revenue items requiring significant judgement; the average period of benefit associated
with costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts; fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for business combinations; fair value of contingent
consideration; the useful lives of intangible assets; the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets; redemption value of redeemable non-controlling interest;
and stock-based compensation. The Company assesses these estimates on a regular basis using historical experience and other factors. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.
Operating Segments: The Company operates as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for
which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which is the Company’s chief executive
officer, in deciding how to make operating decisions, allocate resources, and assess performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker allocates
resources and assesses performance at the consolidated level.
Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers: The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentration of credit
risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s cash and cash
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equivalents exceeded the Federal deposit insurance limit at January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents
with high-credit-quality financial institutions.
As of January 31, 2020, two customers represented 22% of accounts receivable, 11% of which was from a customer who is an equity holder. In
the quarter ended July 31, 2020, the equity holder ceased to qualify as a related party of the Company and the amounts disclosed related to such equity holder
are accordingly presented as a related party through April 30, 2020, only. As of January 31, 2021, no individual customer represented more than 10% of
accounts receivable. For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021, no individual customer represented more than 10% of the Company’s total
revenues.
Revenue Recognition: The Company derives revenues primarily from subscription services and professional services. Revenues are recognized
when a contract exists between the Company and a customer and upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products or services. The Company enters into contracts that can include
various combinations of subscription and professional services, which may be capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance
obligations, or in the case of offerings such as subscription services and support, accounted for as a single performance obligation. Revenues are recognized
net of allowances and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

Determination of the transaction price;

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

Recognition of revenues when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

Subscription Revenues
Subscription revenues primarily consist of fees for providing customers access to the Company’s cloud applications, with routine customer
support and maintenance related to email and phone support, bug fixes, and unspecified software updates, and upgrades released when and if available during
the maintenance term. Revenues are generally recognized on a ratable basis over the contract term beginning on the date that the Company’s service is made
available to the customer, which the Company believes best reflects the manner in which the Company’s customers utilize the Company’s subscription
offerings. Arrangements with customers do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of the software supporting the cloud-based application
service at any time and, as a result, are accounted for as a service contract. Generally, the Company’s subscription contracts are three years or longer in length,
billed annually in advance, are non-cancelable, and do not contain refund-type provisions. Any subscription arrangements that are cancelable generally have
penalty clauses.
Professional Services Revenues
Professional services revenues primarily consist of fees for deployment, configuration, and optimization services, as well as training. The
majority of the Company’s professional services contracts are billed on a fixed price basis, and revenues are recognized over time based on a proportional
performance methodology which utilizes input methods. A portion of the Company’s professional services contracts are billed on a time and materials basis
and revenues are recognized over time as the services are performed.
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Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations
Most of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the Company accounts for
individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative
standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. The Company determines SSP by considering its overall pricing objectives and market conditions. Significant pricing
practices taken into consideration include the Company’s discounting practices, the size and volume of the Company’s transactions, the customer
demographic, the geographic area where services are sold, price lists, the Company’s go-to-market strategy, historical sales, and contract prices. As the
Company’s go-to-market strategies evolve, the Company may modify its pricing practices in the future, which could result in changes to SSP.
Given the variability of pricing, the Company uses a range of SSP. The Company determines the SSP range using information that may include
market conditions or other observable inputs. The Company typically has more than one SSP for individual products and services due to the stratification of
products and services by customer size.
Costs Capitalized to Obtain Revenue Contracts
As part of its adoption of ASU 2014-09, the Company capitalizes incremental costs of obtaining a non-cancelable subscription and support
revenue contract if the Company expects the benefit of those costs to be longer than one year. The provisions of ASU 2014-09 codified and clarified the
accounting guidance for contract acquisition costs. The new guidance resulted in the capitalization of additional contract acquisition costs, which are
subsequently amortized over the estimated life of the contract. Under the prior accounting guidance, the Company expensed sales commissions as incurred.
Under ASU 2014-09, capitalized amounts consist primarily of sales commissions paid to the Company’s direct sales force. Capitalized amounts
also include (1) amounts paid to employees other than the direct sales force who earn incentive payouts under annual compensation plans that are tied to the
value of contracts acquired and (2) the associated payroll taxes and fringe benefit costs associated with the payments to these employees. Capitalized costs
related to new revenue contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over four years, which, although longer than the typical initial contract period, reflects
the average period of benefit, including expected contract renewals. In arriving at this average period of benefit, the Company evaluated both qualitative and
quantitative factors which included the estimated life cycles of its offerings and its customer attrition. The capitalized amounts are recoverable through future
revenue streams under all non-cancelable customer contracts. The Company periodically evaluates whether there have been any changes in its business, the
market conditions in which it operates, or other events which would indicate that its amortization period should be changed or if there are potential indicators
of impairment. Amortization of capitalized costs to obtain revenue contracts is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
Judgments
Contracts with customers may include multiple services requiring allocation of the transaction price across the different performance obligations.
Standalone selling price is established by maximizing the amount of observable inputs, primarily actual historical selling prices for performance
obligations where available and includes consideration of factors such as go-to-market model and customer size. Where standalone selling price may not be
observable (e.g., the performance obligation is not sold separately), the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs by using information that may
include reviewing pricing practices, performance obligations with similar customers, and selling models.
Capitalized costs to obtain a contract are amortized over the expected period of benefit, which the Company has determined, based on analysis, to
be approximately four years. The Company evaluated qualitative and quantitative factors to determine the period of amortization, including contract length,
renewals, customer life, and the useful lives of our products and acquired products. When the expected period of benefit of an asset which would be
capitalized is less than one year, the Company expenses the amount as incurred, utilizing the practical expedient. The Company regularly evaluates whether
there have been changes in the underlying assumptions and data used to determine the amortization period.
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At times, the Company provides credits or incentives to its customers. Known and estimable credits and incentives represent a form of variable
consideration, which are determined at contract inception and reduce the revenues recognized for a particular contract. At the end of each reporting period,
the Company reviews and updates its estimates as additional information becomes available. The Company believes that there will not be significant changes
to its estimates of variable consideration as of January 31, 2021.
The Company evaluates whether it is the principal (i.e., report revenues on a gross basis) or agent (i.e., report revenues on a net basis) with
respect to vendor reseller agreements pursuant to which the Company resells certain third-party solutions along with the Company’s solutions. Generally, the
Company reports revenues from these types of contracts on a gross basis, meaning the amounts billed to customers are recorded as revenues and expenses
incurred are recorded as cost of revenues. Where the Company is the principal, it first obtains control of the inputs to the specific good or service and directs
their use to create the combined output. The Company’s control is evidenced by its involvement in the integration of the good or service on its platform before
it is transferred to its customers and is further supported by the Company being primarily responsible to its customers and having a level of discretion in
establishing pricing. Revenues provided from agreements in which the Company is an agent are immaterial to these consolidated financial statements.
Deferred Revenue: Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from subscription
services, including non-cancellable and non-refundable committed funds and deposits. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue recognition criteria has
been met. Customers are typically invoiced for these agreements in advance of regular annual installments and revenues are recognized ratably over the
contractual subscription period. The deferred revenue balance is influenced by several factors, including seasonality, the compounding effects of renewals,
invoice duration, invoice timing, size and new business linearity. Deferred revenue does not represent the total contract value of annual or multi-year noncancellable subscription agreements. Deferred revenue that will be recognized during the succeeding 12-month period are recorded as deferred revenue,
current portion, and the remaining portion is recorded as deferred revenue, net of current portion on the consolidated balance sheets.
Payment terms vary by contract, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 45 days. In instances where the timing
of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Company has determined contracts generally do not include a significant financing
component. The primary purpose of invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing services, such as invoicing at
the beginning of a subscription term with revenues recognized ratably over the contract period, and not to provide financing to customers. Any implied
financing costs are considered insignificant in the context of the Company’s contracts.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at fair value.
Accounts Receivable and Allowances: A receivable is recorded when an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment exists, such that
only the passage of time is required before payment of consideration is due. Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to
customers. Certain performance obligations may require payment before delivery of the service to the customer. We recognize a contract asset in the form of
accounts receivable when we have an unconditional right to payment, and we record a contract asset in the form of unbilled accounts receivable when
revenues earned on a contract exceeds the billings. The Company’s standard billing terms are annual in advance. An unbilled accounts receivable is a contract
asset related to the delivery of the Company’s subscription services and professional services for which the related billings will occur in a future period.
Unbilled accounts receivable consists of (i) revenues recognized for professional services performed but not yet billed and (ii) revenues recognized from noncancelable, multi-year orders in which fees increase annually but for which we are not contractually able to invoice until a future period. Accounts receivable
are reported at their gross outstanding balance reduced by an allowance for estimated receivable losses.
The Company records allowances for doubtful accounts based upon the credit worthiness of customers, historical experience, the age of the
accounts receivable, and current market and economic conditions.

66

Table of Contents
nCino, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts and unless otherwise indicated)

A summary of activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Balance, beginning of period
Charged to (recovery of) bad debt expense
Write off of uncollectible accounts
Translation adjustments

$

Balance, end of period

$

20 $
110
(7)
—
123 $

2021

123 $
(105)
(18)
—
— $

—
100
(17)
5
88

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straightline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets and commences once the asset is placed in service or is ready for its intended use. The estimated
useful lives by asset classification are generally as follows:
Asset Classification

Estimated Useful Life

Furniture and fixtures
Computers and equipment
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

3-7 years
3 years
40 years
Shorter of remaining life of the lease term or estimated useful life

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from their respective
accounts, and any gain or loss on such retirement is reflected in operating expenses.
Financing Obligations: The Company records assets and liabilities for lease arrangements where the Company has continued involvement due
to purchase options and is deemed to be the owner for accounting purposes.
Capitalized Software Costs: Costs related to software developed for internal use are capitalized during the application development stage. Costs
related to preliminary internal or external project activities and post implementation activities are expensed as incurred. Capitalized internal-use software is
amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, which is generally two to five years. Capitalized software costs useful lives are evaluated on
an annual basis and tested for impairment whenever events or changes indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. There were no
costs capitalized during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020 or 2021 and there were no unamortized capitalized software costs as of January 31,
2020 and 2021.
Intangible Assets: Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Each period, the Company evaluates the estimated remaining
useful life of its intangible assets and whether events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.
Impairment Assessment: The Company evaluates intangible assets and long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. This includes but is not limited to significant adverse changes in
business climate, market conditions, or other events that indicate an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is
measured by comparing the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to generate. If the undiscounted cash
flows used in the test for recoverability are less than the carrying amount of these assets, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value. There
were no material impairments of intangible assets or long-lived assets during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021.
Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill is
not amortized, but rather the carrying amounts of these assets are assessed for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually on November 1, the first day of the fourth
quarter of the fiscal year. In the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
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Impairment” for its annual goodwill impairment test. ASU 2017-04 removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test requiring a hypothetical purchase price
allocation. To perform our impairment testing, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of our single
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The qualitative factors we consider include, but are not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry and
market conditions, company-specific events, changes in circumstances and after-tax cash flows. If the qualitative factors indicate that the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit, then we do not consider the assigned goodwill to be impaired.
We are only required to perform the two-step impairment test if the qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. We may elect to perform the two-step impairment test without considering such qualitative factors. Goodwill
impairment, if any, is determined by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to
the excess of the reporting unit’s carrying value over its fair value, up to the amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. There is no goodwill
impairment for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021.
The Company determines the fair value of a reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis that is corroborated by a market-based approach.
Determining fair value requires the exercise of significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate discount rates, perpetual growth rates, and the
amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The cash flows employed in the discounted cash flow analyses are based on the most recent budget and
long-term forecast. The discount rates used in the discounted cash flow analyses are intended to reflect the risks inherent in the future cash flows of the
respective reporting units. The market comparable approach estimates fair value using market multiples of various financial measures compared to a set of
comparable public companies and recent comparable transactions.
Business Combinations: Several valuation methods may be used to determine the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition
date. The Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. For intangible assets, the Company typically uses the income method. This
method starts with a forecast of all of the expected future net cash flows for each asset. These cash flows are then adjusted to present value by applying an
appropriate discount rate that reflects the risk factors associated with the cash flow streams. Some of the more significant estimates and assumptions inherent
in the income method or other methods include the amount and timing of projected future cash flows, the discount rate selected to measure the risks inherent
in the future cash flows, and the assessment of the asset’s life cycle and the competitive trends impacting the asset, including consideration of any technical,
legal, regulatory, or economic barriers to entry.
Determining the useful life of an intangible asset also requires judgment as different types of intangible assets will have different useful lives and
certain assets may even be considered to have indefinite useful lives. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date,
the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset
to goodwill. In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax-related valuation allowances are initially recorded in connection with a business combination as of the
acquisition date. The Company continues to collect information and reevaluates these estimates and assumptions quarterly and records any adjustments to the
Company’s preliminary estimates to goodwill provided that the Company is within the measurement period. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period
or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
For acquisitions involving additional consideration to be transferred to the selling parties in the event certain future events occur or conditions are
met (“contingent consideration”), the Company recognizes the acquisition-date fair value of contingent consideration as part of the consideration transferred
in exchange for the business combination. Contingent consideration meeting the criteria to be classified as equity in the consolidated balance sheets is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is recorded within stockholders’ equity. Contingent consideration classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date until the contingency is resolved, with any changes in fair value recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Deferred Rent: Operating leases rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases and the difference between cash
rent payments and recognized rent expense is recorded as a deferred rent liability. Landlord-funded leasehold improvements are also recorded as deferred rent
liabilities and amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the non-cancelable term of the related operating lease. The Company may receive rent holidays
and other incentives. The Company
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recognizes lease costs on a straight-line basis once control of the space is achieved, without regard to deferred payments such as rent holidays that defer the
commencement date of required payments.
Cost of Revenues: Cost of subscription and support revenues consists of costs related to hosting the Company’s software solution and employeerelated costs, including stock-based compensation expenses and allocated overhead associated with customer support. Cost of professional services and other
revenues consist of employee-related costs associated with these services, including stock-based compensation expenses, and allocated overhead, and the cost
of subcontractors. Allocated overhead includes costs such as information technology infrastructure, rent and occupancy charges, along with employee benefit
costs, and taxes based upon a percentage of total compensation expense. As such, general overhead expenses are reflected in each cost of revenues and
operating expenses category.
Advertising: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and consist of advertising, third-party marketing, branded marketing, and conference
and event expenses. Advertising expenses are recorded in sales and marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and were $1.8 million,
$3.7 million, and $3.1 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.
Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences
between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are also recorded for any tax attribute, such as net operating
losses. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of the changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment within income tax expense.
The Company reflects the expected amount of income taxes to be paid or refunded during the year as current income tax expense or benefit, as applicable.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company follows the accounting standards on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which addresses the determination of whether tax
benefits claimed, or expected to be claimed, on a tax return should be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Under this guidance, the Company
may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by taxing
authorities based on the technical merits of the tax position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such a position are
measured based on the benefit having a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The guidance on accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes also addresses de-recognition, classification, interest, and penalties on income taxes, and accounting interim periods.
When and if applicable, potential interest and penalties are accrued as incurred, within income tax expense.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss): Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is reported as a component of stockholders’ equity and
includes unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency translation adjustments.
Foreign Currency Exchange: The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency. Adjustments
resulting from translating foreign functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are recorded as a separate component on the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss recorded in foreign currency translation line item. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses due to remeasurement are
included in other expense in the consolidated statements of operations and were $0.1 million, $0.04 million, and $1.5 million for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, primarily related to various intercompany loans. All assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency
are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate during the
period. Equity transactions are translated using historical exchange rates.
Stock-Based Compensation: As further described in Note 11, the Company records compensation expense associated with stock options and
other equity-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. The Company establishes fair value as the
measurement objective in accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees and recognizes expense on a straight-line basis over the applicable
vesting period.
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Basic and Diluted Loss per Common Share: Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to nCino, Inc. by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.
Diluted loss per share is calculated by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock, which is comprised of stock options and restricted
stock units, when determining the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. For purposes of the diluted loss per share calculation, basic and
diluted loss per share were the same, as the effect of all potentially dilutive securities would have been anti-dilutive.
Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance:
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-13, Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, which eliminates certain
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements for all entities, requires public entities to disclose certain new information and modifies some disclosure
requirements. ASU 2018-13 is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and for interim periods within those fiscal years,
and early adoption is permitted. An entity is permitted to early adopt either the entire standard or only the provisions that eliminate or modify requirements.
The Company adopted the standard effective February 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract. This standard aligns the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs
incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. ASU 2018-15 is effective for emerging growth companies following private company adoption dates in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted.
The Company prospectively adopted the standard effective February 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-17, Consolidation (Topic 810), Targeted Improvements to Related Party Guidance for Variable
Interest Entities, which addresses the cost and complexity of financial reporting associated with consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE”). ASU 201817 is effective for emerging growth companies following private company adoption dates in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim
periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The new guidance must be applied on a retrospective basis
as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The adoption of this standard did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements or
related disclosures upon adoption because the Company did not, and currently does not, have any indirect interests through related parties under common
control for which it receives decision-making fees.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted:
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The standard will affect all entities that lease assets and will require
lessees to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use asset for all leases (except for short-term leases that have a duration of less than one year) as of the date
on which the lessor makes the underlying asset available to the lessee. For lessors, accounting for leases is substantially the same as in prior periods. In July
2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, to clarify how to apply certain aspects of the new leases standard.
ASU 2016-02, as subsequently amended for various technical issues, is effective for emerging growth companies following private company adoption dates
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is
permitted. If the Company were to cease meeting the emerging growth company criteria during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022, this ASU would be
effective for the Company for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022. The Company is planning to adopt this ASU
beginning February 1, 2021. The Company expects that the adoption of this ASU will impact its consolidated balance sheets as most of its operating lease
commitments will be subject to the new standard and recognize as right-of-use assets and corresponding operating lease liabilities upon the adoption of this
ASU, which will increase the total assets and total liabilities that it reports relative to such amounts prior to adoption. The Company intends to adopt the
standard following the alternative transition method in which the Company is not required to restate or disclose the effects of applying this ASU for
comparative
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periods. The Company intends to elect the package of practical expedients which permits the Company to not reassess our prior conclusions pertaining to
lease identification, lease classification, and initial direct costs. The Company does not expect to elect the use-of-hindsight or the practical expedient
pertaining to land easements. In addition, the Company expects to elect ongoing practical expedients including the option to not recognize right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for short term leases, leases with an original term of twelve months or less. The Company also currently expects to apply the practical
expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components. The Company expects the adoption of this standard to result in the recording of additional right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities in the range of approximately $10.0 million to $12.0 million and in the range of approximately $11.0 million to $13.0 million,
respectively, as of February 1, 2021. The difference between the additional right-of-use assets and lease liabilities is the reclassification of deferred rent on the
Company's consolidated balance sheet at the date of adoption. The Company does not expect the standard to impact the consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss or the consolidated statements of cash flows. Upon the adoption of this standard our current financing obligation will remain a financing
obligation.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments–Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,
which changes the impairment model for most financial assets. The new model uses a forward-looking expected loss method, which will generally result in
earlier recognition of allowances for losses. ASU 2016-13, as subsequently amended for various technical issues, is effective for emerging growth companies
following private company adoption dates for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. If the
Company were to cease meeting the emerging growth company criteria during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022, this ASU would be effective for the
Company for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022. The Company is planning to adopt this ASU beginning February 1,
2021. The Company does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which is intended to
simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also
clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. ASU 2019-12 is effective for emerging growth companies following private
company adoption dates in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022,
with early adoption permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If the Company were to cease meeting the emerging growth company criteria during
the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022, this ASU would be effective for the Company for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January
31, 2022. The Company is planning to adopt this ASU beginning February 1, 2021. The Company does not expect adoption will have a material impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-10, Codification Improvements. The guidance includes amendments to improve the codification by
ensuring that all guidance that requires or provides an option for an entity to provide information in the notes to the financial statements is codified in the
disclosure section of the codification and to clarify guidance so that entities can apply guidance more consistently on codifications that are varied in nature
where the original guidance may have been unclear. ASU 2020-10 is effective for emerging growth companies following private company adoption dates in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is
permitted. If the Company were to cease meeting the emerging growth company criteria during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022, this ASU would be
effective for the Company for its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022. The Company is planning to adopt this ASU
beginning February 1, 2021. The Company does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
Note 3. Variable Interest Entity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest
In October 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with Japan Cloud Computing, L.P. and M30 LLC (collectively, the “Investors”) to
engage in the investment, organization, management, and operation of nCino K.K. that is focused on the distribution of the Company’s products in Japan. In
October 2019, the Company initially contributed $4.7 million in cash in exchange for 51% of the outstanding common stock of nCino K.K. As of January 31,
2021, the Company controls a majority of the outstanding common stock in nCino K.K.
All of the common stock held by the Investors is callable by the Company or puttable by the Investors at the option of the Investors or at the
option of the Company beginning on the eighth anniversary of the agreement with the Investors.
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Should the call or put option be exercised, the redemption value would be determined based on a prescribed formula derived from the discrete revenues of
nCino K.K. and the Company and may be settled, at the Company’s discretion, with Company stock or cash or a combination of the foregoing. As a result of
the put right available to the Investors, the redeemable non-controlling interests in nCino K.K. are classified outside of permanent equity in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. The estimated redemption value of the call/put option embedded in the redeemable non-controlling interest was $0.4 million at
January 31, 2021.
The following table summarizes the activity in the redeemable non-controlling interests for the period indicated below:
Balance, as of January 31, 2019
Investment by redeemable non-controlling interest
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Foreign currency translation
Adjustment to redeemable non-controlling interest
Balance, as of January 31, 2020
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
Foreign currency translation
Adjustment to redeemable non-controlling interest

$

Balance, as of January 31, 2021

$

—
4,513
(141)
(16)
—
4,356
(1,130)
169
396
3,791

Note 4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:
Level 1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2. Significant other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.
Level 3. Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.
The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value as of January 31, 2020 and
January 31, 2021 because of the relatively short duration of these instruments.
The Company evaluated its financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate
level in which to classify them for each reporting period. The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value as of
January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation:
Fair value measurements on a recurring basis as of January 31, 2020
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Assets:
Money market accounts (included in cash and cash equivalents)
Total assets
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration (included in other long-term liabilities)
Total liabilities
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$
$

67,119
67,119

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

195
195
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Fair value measurements on a recurring basis as of January 31, 2021
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Assets:
Money market accounts (included in cash and cash equivalents)
Total assets
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration (included in other accrued expenses)
Total liabilities

$
$

332,541
332,541

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

All of the Company’s money market accounts are classified within Level 1 because the Company’s money market accounts are valued using
quoted market prices in active exchange markets including identical assets.
The Company added contingent consideration, a Level 3 measurement, on October 18, 2019 with the acquisition of FinSuite Pty Ltd ("FinSuite").
Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations within other income. The Company’s
contingent consideration is valued using a probability weighted discounted cash flow analysis. A reconciliation of the balance for contingent consideration
obligations for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021 is as follows:
Balance, as of January 31, 2019
Acquisitions
Change in fair value
Translation adjustments
Balance, as of January 31, 2020
Acquisitions
Change in fair value
Translation adjustments
Payments of contingent consideration

$

Balance, as of January 31, 2021

$

—
197
—
(2)
195
—
—
17
(212)
—

Note 5. Revenues
Revenues by Geographic Area
Revenues by geographic region were as follows:

2019

United States
International

$
$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

87,328
4,206
91,534

$
$

127,192
10,988
138,180

$
$

2021

180,923
23,370
204,293

The Company disaggregates its revenues from contracts with customers by geographic location. Revenues by geography are determined based on
the region of the Company’s contracting entity, which may be different than the region of the customer. No country outside the United States represented 10%
or more of total revenues.
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Contract Amounts
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts, is as follows as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021:
As of January 31,
2020

Trade accounts receivable
Unbilled accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Other accounts receivable
Total accounts receivable, net

$

$

2021

32,686
1,425
—
94
34,205

$

$

53,272
1,814
(88)
519
55,517

Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligation
Significant movements in the deferred revenue balance during the period consisted of increases due to payments received or due in advance prior
to transfer of control of the underlying performance obligations to the customer, which were offset by decreases due to revenues recognized in the period.
During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021, $58.9 million of revenues were recognized out of the deferred revenue balance as of January 31, 2020.
Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenues that have not yet been recognized, which
includes deferred revenue and unbilled amounts that will be recognized as revenues in future periods. Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation is influenced by several factors, including the timing of renewals, average contract terms, and foreign currency exchange rates. The
Company applies practical expedients to exclude amounts related to performance obligations that are billed and recognized as they are delivered, optional
purchases that do not represent material rights, and any estimated amounts of variable consideration that are subject to constraint.
Remaining performance obligations were $600.9 million as of January 31, 2021. The Company expects to recognize approximately 60% of its
remaining performance obligation as revenues in the next 24 months, approximately 33% more in the following 25 to 48 months, and the remainder
thereafter.
Costs Capitalized to Obtain Revenue Contracts
During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021, we amortized $3.2 million and $4.7 million of capitalized contract acquisition costs
within sales and marketing expense, respectively. We did not incur any impairment losses.
Capitalized contract acquisition costs were $10.6 million and $15.1 million as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, of which $7.0 million
and $10.2 million was long-term in the consolidated balance sheets, respectively. The remaining balance of the capitalized costs to obtain contracts was
current.
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Note 6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
As of January 31,
2020

Furniture and fixtures
Computers and equipment
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Construction-in-progress

$

Less accumulated depreciation
$

2021

5,279 $
3,907
—
8,436
2,055
19,677
(6,200)
13,477 $

6,706
5,039
16,300
11,581
277
39,903
(9,960)
29,943

The Company recognized depreciation expense as follows:

2019

Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

$

Total depreciation expense

$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

534
368
383
173
1,458

$

$

949
739
835
338
2,861

$

$

2021

1,297
1,076
1,347
506
4,226

In November 2020, the Company entered into a new lease agreement with a new lessor for our headquarters. As a result of a purchase option in
the lease, the Company has deemed continuing involvement and is considered for accounting purposes to be the owner. As such, the Company has capitalized
the building with a corresponding current and noncurrent financing obligation liability. See Note 14 "Commitments and Contingencies" for additional details
including future commitments.
Note 7. Business Combinations
Visible Equity, LLC
On July 8, 2019, the Company acquired all outstanding membership interests of Visible Equity, LLC (“Visible Equity”) which provides financial
analytics, portfolio management, and compliance solutions to banks and credit unions. The Company acquired Visible Equity for its product offerings and the
domain expertise of its employees. Visible Equity is headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah. The Company has included the financial results of Visible Equity
in the consolidated statements of operations from the date of acquisition. The transaction costs associated with the acquisition were approximately $0.8
million and were primarily recorded in general and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020.
The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred is as follows:
Total Consideration

Cash consideration to members
Voting common stock issued (1,438,805 shares)

$

Total consideration

$

75

49,428
23,812
73,240
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The fair value of the Company’s voting common stock was determined by management to be $16.55 per share with the assistance of a third-party
valuation specialist.
The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition:
Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Other current and noncurrent assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities, current and noncurrent

$

Net assets acquired

$

1,209
1,177
574
25,500
46,584
(1,804)
73,240

The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method and, as a result, assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their
estimated fair values at the acquisition date. Any excess consideration over the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recognized as
goodwill. The measurement period ended one year from the acquisition date.
The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives over which the acquired intangible
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis, as this approximates the pattern in which economic benefits of the assets are consumed as of the date of
acquisition:
Fair Value

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks

$

Total intangible assets subject to amortization

$

3,800
21,600
100
25,500

Useful Life

4 years
13 years
< 1 year

Developed technology represents the fair value of Visible Equity’s technology. Customer relationships represent the fair value of the underlying
relationships with Visible Equity’s customers. Trademarks represent the fair value of Visible Equity’s company name.
Goodwill is mainly attributable to synergies expected from the acquisition and assembled workforce and is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
The results of operations of Visible Equity since the acquisition are included in our consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2020 and 2021. The revenues and results of operations attributable to Visible Equity for the period from the date of acquisition, July 8,
2019 through January 31, 2020, were $5.6 million and a $1.7 million loss, respectively.
FinSuite Pty Ltd
On October 18, 2019, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, nCino APAC Pty Ltd, acquired all of the outstanding shares of
FinSuite. The Company acquired FinSuite to enhance the Company’s data recognition capabilities, including of complex, unstructured data. FinSuite is
headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. The Company has included the financial results of FinSuite in the consolidated statements of operations from the date
of acquisition. The transaction costs associated with the acquisition were approximately $0.3 million and are included in general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020.
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The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred is as follows:
Total Consideration

Cash consideration to shareholders
Cash consideration to settle debt
Voting common stock issued (63,967 shares)
Contingent consideration - cash payment
Contingent consideration - common stock

$

Total consideration

$

3,928
137
1,392
197
5,857
11,511

The fair value of the Company’s voting common stock was determined by management to be $21.75 per share based upon the transaction price of
the Company’s capital raise in September 2019, which is indicative of an observable price in the Company’s principal market at the time of acquisition.
Contingent consideration included two tranches of earn-out arrangements based upon the attainment of post-acquisition product development
milestones. The first tranche included an earn-out opportunity of $0.1 million of cash and the issuance of 142,846 shares of common stock (together, the
“Initial Tranche Earn-Out”). The Initial Tranche Earn-Out was conditioned upon the development of a stated product in accordance with mutually agreed
upon functional requirements within a certain period from the date of acquisition. The second tranche included an earn-out opportunity of $0.1 million of cash
and the issuance of 142,846 shares of common stock (together, the “Final Tranche Earn-Out”). The Final Tranche Earn-Out was conditioned upon a
customer’s use of the stated product in a production environment according to the mutually agreed upon functional requirements within a certain period from
the date of acquisition. The Final Tranche Earn-Out was not conditioned upon the achievement of the Initial Tranche Earn-Out.
The fair value of the contingent consideration at the date of acquisition, approximately $6.0 million, was determined based upon a probabilityweighted discounted cash flow model. The cash portion of the contingent consideration of $0.2 million is included in other long-term liabilities and other
accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, respectively. The share portion of the
contingent consideration was recorded as of the acquisition date and is reflected as a component of stockholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021.
The Initial Tranche Earn-Out was earned during the quarter ended October 31, 2020 and the Final Tranche Earn-Out was earned in November
2020. The Company paid $0.2 million for the cash portion of the contingent consideration and issued 285,692 shares of common stock for the common stock
contingent consideration for the Initial Tranche Earn-Out and Final Tranche Earn-Out in November 2020.
The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition:
Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Other current and noncurrent assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities, current and noncurrent

$

Net assets acquired

$

17
78
301
2,376
9,405
(666)
11,511

The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method and, as a result, assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their
estimated fair values at the acquisition date. Any excess consideration over the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recognized as
goodwill. The measurement period ended one year from the acquisition date.
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The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives over which the acquired intangible
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis, as this approximates the pattern in which economic benefits of the assets are consumed as of the date of
acquisition:
Fair Value

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks

$

Total intangible assets subject to amortization

$

Useful Life

2,244
107
25
2,376

4 years
13 years
< 1 year

Developed technology represents the fair value of FinSuite’s technology. Customer relationships represent the fair value of the underlying
relationships with FinSuite’s customers. Trademarks represent the fair value of FinSuite’s company name.
Goodwill is mainly attributable to synergies expected from the acquisition and assembled workforce and is not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
The results of operations of FinSuite since the acquisition are included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal
years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021. The revenues and results of operations attributable to FinSuite for the period from the date of acquisition, October 18,
2019 through January 31, 2020, were $0.8 million and $0.3 million income, respectively.
The pro forma statements of operations for the years ended January 31, 2019 and January 31, 2020, shown in the table below, give effect to the
Visible Equity and FinSuite acquisitions, described above, as if they had occurred on February 1, 2018. These amounts have been calculated after applying
the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of Visible Equity and FinSuite to reflect the intangible amortization, stock-based compensation,
and related items, and the adjustments to acquired deferred revenue that would have occurred assuming the fair value adjustments had been applied and
incurred since February 1, 2018. This pro forma data is presented for informational purposes only and is not indicative of future results of operations. The
table below shows the pro forma statements of operations for the respective years ending January 31:
(Unaudited)
January 31,
2019

Revenues
Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.

$

2020

102,224 $
(24,954)

142,958
(27,647)

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The carrying amount of goodwill was $55.8 million and $57.1 million as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, respectively. The change in
the carrying amounts of goodwill was as follows:
Balance, as of January 31, 2019
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments
Balance, as of January 31, 2020
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments

$

Balance, as of January 31, 2021

$
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets, net are as follows:
As of January 31, 2020
Gross
Amount

Acquired developed technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks

$

$

6,008
21,706
125
27,839

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

As of January 31, 2021
Net Carrying
Amount

(695) $
(937)
(114)
(1,746) $

5,313
20,769
11
26,093

Gross
Amount

$

Accumulated
Amortization

6,320
21,721
128
28,169

$

$

(2,295) $
(2,609)
(128)
(5,032) $

$

Weighted Average
Remaining Useful
Life (Years)

Net Carrying
Amount

4,025
19,112
—
23,137

2.5
11.4
0.0
9.9

The Company recognized amortization expense as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Cost of subscription revenues
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

Total amortization expense

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

697
937
114
1,748

$

$

2021

1,525
1,670
10
3,205

The expected future amortization expense for intangible assets as of January 31, 2021 is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ending January 31,

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

$

3,250
3,250
2,538
1,670
1,670
10,759
23,137

The expected amortization expense is an estimate. Actual amounts of amortization expense may differ from estimated amounts due to additional
intangible asset acquisitions, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, impairment of intangible assets, future changes to expected asset lives of intangible
assets, and other events.
Note 9. Reseller Agreement
The Company has a reseller agreement in place with a related party to utilize their platform and to develop the Company’s cloud-based banking
software as an application within the related party’s hosted environment. In June 2020, this agreement was renegotiated and expires in June 2027 and will
automatically renew in annual increments thereafter unless either party gives notice of non-renewal before the end of the initial term or the respective renewal
term. Cost of subscription revenues in each of the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 substantially consists of fees paid for access to the
related party’s platform, including their hosting infrastructure and data center operations. The Company has recorded expenses of $15.4 million, $22.8
million, and $34.8 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively. See also Note 15.
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
A summary of the rights and key provisions affecting each class of the Company’s stock as of January 31, 2021, is as follows:
Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to establish one or more series of preferred stock and to fix the number of shares
constituting such series and the designation of such series, including the voting powers, preferences, limitations, restrictions, and other special rights thereof.
Common stock: Pursuant to the fourth certificate of amendment to the Company's third amended and restated certificate of incorporation dated
July 6, 2020, each share of voting and non-voting common stock issued and outstanding prior to the effectiveness was reclassified into a single class of stock
designated as common stock which has one vote per share. Subsequent to the effectiveness of the Company's amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, the Company's common stock consists of 500,000,000 authorized shares, par value $0.0005 per share and the Company's preferred stock
consists of 10,000,000 authorized shares, par value $0.001 per share.
At January 31, 2021, the Company committed a total of 22,567,317 shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:
Issued and outstanding stock options
Nonvested issued and outstanding restricted stock units ("RSUs")
Possible issuance under stock plans

5,467,012
1,848,296
15,252,009
22,567,317

Note 11. Stock-Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plans
The Company has two equity incentive plans: the nCino, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”) and
the 2019 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (“2019 Plan”), collectively referred to as the “Incentive Plans.” Under the 2014 Plan, the Board of
Directors had allotted 15,025,666 shares of common stock for incentive options or non-qualified options as of January 31, 2021. Non-qualified options may
be granted to Company employees, non-employee directors, and consultants. The exercise price of options is determined by the Board of Directors, but
cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. The options generally vest in one of two ways:
•

In equal annual installments over four years from the grant date.

•

Upon a change in control transaction (with respect to certain Incentive Plan participants).

All options expire ten years from the grant date and, with respect to certain Incentive Plan participants, provide for accelerated vesting if there is
a change in control of the Company.
In July 2019, the Company established the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan for the issuance of awards in the form of options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards.
In connection with the IPO, our Board of Directors adopted and our stockholders approved the 2019 Plan which amended and restated the 2019
Equity Incentive Plan. All awards shall be granted within ten years from the effective date of the 2019 Plan and can only be granted to employees, officers,
directors, and consultants and generally vest over four years.
Under the 2019 Plan, the number of available shares was increased to 15,250,000, plus an annual increase added on the first day of each fiscal
year, beginning with the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022, and continuing until, and including,
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the fiscal year ending January 31, 2031. The annual increase will be equal to the lesser of (i) 5% of the number of shares issued and outstanding as of January
31 of the immediately preceding fiscal year and (ii) an amount determined by the Company's Board of Directors. The Company ceased granting awards under
the 2014 Plan during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020, and all shares that remained available for issuance under the 2014 Plan were transferred to the
2019 Plan prior to the closing of the IPO. Additionally, the number of shares available under the 2019 Plan shall be increased by the number of shares
outstanding under the 2014 Plan that expire, terminate or are canceled without having been exercised or settled in full. The 2014 Plan governs outstanding
awards granted prior to the adoption of the 2019 Plan.
Restricted stock units (“RSU”) issued prior to our IPO were subject to time-based and performance-based vesting conditions. RSUs issued
subsequent to our IPO vest upon the satisfaction of a time-based condition only. RSUs are generally earned over a service period of four years. The
compensation expense related to these awards is based on the grant date fair value of the RSUs and is recognized on a ratable basis over the applicable service
period.
As of January 31, 2021, the Company had stock options outstanding under the 2014 Plan and the 2019 Plan had stock options and RSUs
outstanding.
Stock Options
The calculated value of each option award is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that utilizes the
assumptions included in the table below. The Company recognizes stock-based expenses related to stock option awards on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the vesting term of four years. Stock-based expenses are recognized net of estimated forfeiture
activity. The estimated forfeiture rate applied is based on historical forfeiture rates. The expected term assumption, using the simplified method, reflects the
period for which the Company believes the option will remain outstanding. The Company determined the volatility of its stock by looking at the historic
volatility of its peer companies. The risk-free rate reflects the U.S. Treasury yield for a similar expected life instrument in effect at the time of the grant. The
assumptions utilized for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019 and 2020 are as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2019
2020

Expected life (in years from vesting)
Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Risk-free rate

6.25
40% - 41%
0.00%
2.07% - 2.27%

6.10 - 6.25
40%
0.00%
1.63% - 2.59%

The grant date weighted average calculated fair value of options issued, net of forfeitures, was $5.36 and $6.74 per share for the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. There were no stock options granted for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
Stock option activity for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 was as follows:
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Number of
Shares

Outstanding, January 31, 2020
Granted
Expired or forfeited
Exercised
Outstanding, January 31, 2021

7,837,023 $
—
(61,312)
(2,308,699)
5,467,012 $

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (In thousands)

5.39
—
11.72
3.79
6.00

6.54 $

126,245

5.78 $

142,933
359,193

Exercisable, January 31, 2021

3,925,007

$

4.71

5.36 $

262,927

Fully vested or expected to vest, January 31, 2021

5,436,172

$

5.98

5.77 $

357,267
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 was $32.4 million, $7.6 million, and
$142.9 million, respectively. Aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, which is computed based on the difference between the
option exercise price and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time such option exercises. This intrinsic value changes based on
changes in the fair value of the Company’s underlying stock.
On June 26, 2019, the Company entered into a separation agreement with an executive. The agreement resulted in a modification of the former
employee's 334,840 outstanding stock options to purchase voting common stock, which accelerated certain vesting and extended the exercise period, resulting
in the recognition of $1.2 million of additional stock-based compensation expense for the year ended January 31, 2020.
As of January 31, 2021, there was $3.3 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock-based compensation
arrangements under the 2014 and 2019 Plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.88 years.
Restricted Stock Units
RSU activity during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 was as follows:
Number of
Shares

Nonvested, January 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

948,119 $
1,170,748
(253,042)
(17,529)
1,848,296 $

Nonvested, January 31, 2021

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

21.75
22.30
21.72
25.59
22.07

The weighted average grant date fair value for RSUs granted during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 was $0.00, $21.75,
and $22.30.
The total fair value of RSUs vested for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 was $0.0 million, $0.0 million, and $5.5 million.
The RSUs granted prior to the IPO vest upon the satisfaction of both a time-based, generally over 4 years, vesting 25% annually, and liquidity
event-based vesting condition. For RSUs granted to the non-employee members of the Board of Directors, some vest in less than a year, some annually and
some over three years. The liquidity event-based condition was satisfied upon the IPO and the Company recognized an expense of $12.2 million in cost of
revenues and operating expenses for RSUs as of that date, using the accelerated attribution recognition method for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
As of January 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs was $24.8 million, adjusted for estimated
forfeitures, based on the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time of grant. The weighted-average period to be recognized is 3.15
years.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In July 2020, the Board of Directors adopted and stockholders approved the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which became
effective immediately prior to the closing of the IPO. The ESPP includes two components, one component is intended to qualify as an "employee stock
purchase plan" within the meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code) and a component that does not qualify as an "employee stock
purchase plan" under Section 423 of the Code. The ESPP initially reserved and authorized the issuance of up to a total of 1,800,000 shares of common stock
to participating employees. The aggregate number of shares of the Company's common stock under the ESPP will automatically increase on the first day of
each fiscal year, beginning with the first fiscal year ending January 31, 2022 and continuing until the fiscal year ended January 31, 2031, by an amount equal
to the lesser of (i) 1% of the shares of the Company's common stock
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issued and outstanding on January 31 of the immediately preceding fiscal year, (ii) 1,800,000 shares of the Company's common stock or (iii) an amount
determined by the Board of Directors. As of January 31, 2021, 1,800,000 shares of common stock remain available for grant under the ESPP.
The ESPP permits employees to purchase the Company's common stock through payroll deductions during six month offerings. The offering
periods begin each January 1 and July 1, or such other period determined by the compensation committee. Eligible employees will purchase the shares at a
price per share equal to the lesser of (i) 85% of the fair market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the first business day of such offering
period and (ii) 85% of the fair market value of share of the Company's common stock on the last business day of such offering period, although the
compensation committee has discretion to change the purchase price with respect to future offering periods, subject to terms of the ESPP.
Note 12. Income Taxes
The components of loss before income tax expense by domestic and foreign jurisdictions were as follows:

2019

United States
Foreign

$

Loss before income tax expense

$

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

(17,333) $
(4,779)
(22,112) $

(20,547) $
(6,602)
(27,149) $

2021

(33,478)
(7,206)
(40,684)

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

2019

Current income tax expense:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense (benefit):
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred income tax expense

$

$

Total income tax expense
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

—
—
194
194
—
—
—
—
194

$

$

—
21
410
431
76
56
23
155
586

$

$

2021

—
14
402
416
132
101
(63)
170
586
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The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the reported income tax expense are summarized
as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2019

Income tax benefit at statutory rate of 21% for 2019, 2020, and 2021
State income tax benefit (expense), net of federal impact
Changes in valuation allowance
Stock-based compensation
Executive compensation
Transaction costs
Foreign rate differential
Nondeductible expenses
Impacts of adoption of the new revenue standard
Other

21.0 %
6.0
(52.6)
26.0
0.0
0.0
(0.4)
(0.8)
0.0
(0.1)
(0.9)%

21.0 %
(0.5)
(12.2)
(0.1)
0.0
0.0
(0.4)
(0.8)
(8.8)
(0.4)
(2.2)%

2021

21.0 %
(0.3)
(69.3)
59.9
(12.6)
(1.0)
0.9
(0.2)
0.0
0.2
(1.4)%

Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
As of January 31,
2020

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses
Equity compensation
Financing obligation
Reserves and accruals
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent
Transaction costs
Depreciation
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Contract acquisition costs
Intangible assets
Remaining performance obligations
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Net deferred tax liabilities
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2021

35,608 $
1,655
—
1,156
151
416
311
126
238
39,661
(36,425)
3,236

67,019
4,605
4,075
2,804
514
415
—
—
529
79,961
(70,056)
9,905

—
(2,568)
(316)
(497)
(49)
(3,430)
(194) $

(5,582)
(3,659)
(652)
(331)
(45)
(10,269)
(364)
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The net deferred tax asset (liability) was included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:
As of January 31,
2020

Other long-term assets
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent

$

Net deferred tax liabilities

$

2021

— $
(194)
(194) $

4
(368)
(364)

The Company continually assesses the realizability of its deferred tax assets based on an evaluative process that considers all available positive
and negative evidence. The Company has established a valuation allowance in the amount of $36.4 million and $70.1 million as of January 31, 2020 and
2021, respectively, because the Company believes it is not more likely than not the deferred tax asset in jurisdictions excluding several foreign jurisdictions
will be realized. The valuation allowance change, primarily comprised of U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, increased by $33.6 million for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2021.
The Company maintains its assertion of the Company’s intent for certain foreign earnings to be indefinitely reinvested. As of January 31, 2021,
the Company has not recorded taxes on approximately $2.9 million of cumulative undistributed earnings of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries. The
Company generally does not provide for taxes related to the Company’s undistributed earnings because such earnings either would not be taxable when
remitted or they are indefinitely reinvested. If in the foreseeable future, the Company can no longer demonstrate that these earnings are indefinitely
reinvested, a tax liability will be recognized, which could include other taxes such as withholding tax. The determination of the amount of the unrecognized
tax liability is directly influenced by the Company’s net operating loss and valuation allowance position in the U.S. If the Company were to repatriate the
undistributed earnings, the tax liability is $0.1 million.
As of January 31, 2021, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $79.4 million,
which begin to expire in the fiscal years ended 2034 through 2039, and $170.9 million which does not have an expiration period. For U.S. state income tax
purposes, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $175.3 million, which expire beginning in the fiscal years ended 2023 through
2042, and $29.3 million which does not have an expiration period. For international income tax purposes, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards
of approximately $21.0 million that do not expire, with the exception of $2.4 million, which will begin to expire in the fiscal year ended 2031. The Company
currently does not have any limitations on net operating loss carryforwards due to the change in ownership provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986.
The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. federal and various state and foreign jurisdictions. As of January 31, 2021, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal and state examinations by tax authorities for tax years prior to 2017. However, amounts reported as net operating losses and tax
credit carryforwards from these tax periods remain subject to review by most tax authorities.
The Company recognizes the income tax benefits of any uncertain tax positions only when, based upon the technical merits of the position, it is
more likely than not that the position is sustainable upon examination. With the information available, the Company has performed an analysis and as of
January 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company has not recognized any unrecognized tax benefits, interest or penalties for any income tax positions.
Note 13. Defined Contribution Plan
The Company has a 401(k) plan for its employees in the United States who meet the plan requirements. The Company, at its discretion, may
make matching contributions. Employees are immediately vested in their contributions. The Company also has a Registered Retirement Savings Plan
covering all eligible employees in Canada. Employer contributions for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 were $0.1 million, $0.9
million, and $2.1 million, respectively.
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Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases its facilities and a portion of its equipment under various non-cancellable agreements, which expire at various times through
July 2028 and require various minimum annual rentals. The terms of the lease agreements provide for rental payments on a graduated basis. The Company
recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease period and has accrued for rent expense incurred but not paid. If the Company were to exercise
any options to renew, contained in some of these agreements, the Company's future contractual obligations would change.
Purchase Commitments
The Company’s purchase commitments consist of non-cancellable agreements to purchase goods and services, primarily licenses, entered into in
the ordinary course of business.
Financing Obligation
The Company entered into a new lease agreement for our headquarters in November 2020 with a new lessor. The lease goes through 2035 with
options to renew. Due to a purchase option contained in the lease, the Company is deemed to have continuing involvement and is considered to be the owner
of our headquarters for accounting purposes. As a result, the Company did not meet the criteria to apply sale-leaseback accounting and therefore recorded an
asset and corresponding financing obligation for $16.3 million at inception of the lease. The Company also entered into an agreement for a parking deck in
January 2021 which is an addition to the existing headquarters building. Due to the Company also being deemed to be the owner of the parking deck for
accounting purposes, the costs associated with the construction of the parking deck will be capitalized as construction in progress with a corresponding
construction liability through construction which is estimated to be approximately $18.0 million. Upon completion of the parking deck, the construction
liability will be recorded as a financing obligation. Upon expiration of the purchase option in the lease, the lease will be analyzed for applicable lease
accounting. The construction in progress and corresponding construction liability at January 31, 2021 was de minimis.
Purchase commitments and future minimum lease payments required under operating leases and financing obligation at January 31, 2021 is as
follows:
Purchase
commitments

Fiscal Year Ending January 31,

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

Total
Residual financing obligation and asset
Less: amount representing interest

$

2,372
1,555
836
33
5
2
4,803

Operating lease
obligations

$

$

2,445
1,937
1,942
1,630
1,679
2,544
12,177

Financing obligation leased facility

$

1,388
1,420
1,451
1,484
1,517
17,024

$

24,284
3,339
(11,360)
16,263

$

Financing obligation

Total lease and purchase commitment expense, inclusive of contracts less than a year, amounted to $5.8 million, $8.7 million, and $11.4 million
for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.
Indemnification
In the ordinary course of business, the Company generally includes standard indemnification provisions in its arrangements with third parties,
including vendors, customers, and the Company’s directors and officers. Pursuant to these
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provisions, the Company may be obligated to indemnify such parties for losses or claims suffered or incurred. It is not possible to determine the maximum
potential loss under these indemnification provisions due to the Company’s limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular provision. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such obligations and has not
accrued any material liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Legal Proceedings
On February 23, 2021, the Company and certain of its officers and other employees were served with grand jury subpoenas wherein the Antitrust
Division of the Department of Justice is seeking documents and information in connection with an investigation of the Company’s hiring and wage practices
under U.S. federal antitrust laws. The Company has retained outside counsel and is fully cooperating with the authorities. Although there can be no assurance
with respect to the outcome of this matter, the Company believes its hiring and wage practices do not violate antitrust laws.
On March 12, 2021, a putative class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina. The
sole class representative in the suit is one individual alleging a contract, combination or conspiracy between and among the Company, Live Oak Bancshares,
Inc. and Apiture LLC not to solicit or hire each other’s employees in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and N.C. Gen Stat. §§ 75-1 and 75-2. The
complaint seeks treble damages and additional remedies, including restitution, disgorgement, reasonable attorneys’ fees, the costs of the suit, and prejudgment and post judgment interest. The complaint does not allege any specific damages. Although there can be no assurance with respect to the outcome of
this matter, the Company believes the alleged claims are not meritorious and intends to defend itself vigorously.
The Company does not presently believe the above matters will have a material adverse effect on its day-to-day operations or the quality of the
services, products or innovation it continues to provide to its customers.
Given the uncertainty and preliminary stages of these matters, we cannot reasonably estimate any possible loss or range of loss that may result.
Note 15. Related-Party Transactions
The Company’s main vendor is also an equity holder in the Company. Total payments related to the agreement with the related party are
disclosed in Note 9. The Company also purchases services from this related party to assist in managing its own sales cycle, customer relationship
management, and other business functions. The Company has a non-cancellable agreement with the related party for the purchase of services. In December
2020, this agreement was renewed for one year and expires in December 2021. Total payments to the related party for these services recorded to expenses
were $0.8 million, $1.1 million, and $1.2 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively and $1.1 million and $1.3 million
were in prepaid expenses and other current assets as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, respectively. Accounts payable to the related party were $3.3
million and $4.4 million at January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2021, respectively, included in accounts payable, related parties.
In the quarter ended July 31, 2020, certain equity holders ceased to qualify as related parties of the Company and the amounts disclosed related to
them are accordingly presented through April 30, 2020 only. Included in revenues from three equity holders, who are also customers of the Company, is $9.9
million, $8.4 million, and $2.8 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively. Deferred revenue, current portion, related
parties was $8.0 million as of January 31, 2020. Accounts receivable, related parties was $9.2 million as of January 31, 2020.
The Company has a banking relationship with one of its former equity holders who was considered a related party. In the quarter ended July 31,
2020, the equity holder ceased to qualify as a related party of the Company and the amounts disclosed related to such former equity holder are accordingly
presented as a related party through April 30, 2020, only. Included in interest income is $0.9 million, $0.7 million, and $0.1 million for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.
The Company entered into an agreement with one of its equity holders in May 2016 to spend an agreed-upon amount of funds over a three-year
period to further the alliance between the two companies. In October 2020, the agreement
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was extended for an additional three years. As of January 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with the terms of the agreement. In the quarter ended
July 31, 2020, the equity holder ceased to qualify as a related party of the Company and the amounts disclosed related to such equity holder are accordingly
presented as a related party through April 30, 2020, only. For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021, $1.7 million, $0.06 million, and $0.0
million was spent, respectively.
Note 16. Basic and Diluted Loss per Share
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to nCino, Inc. by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
for the fiscal period. Diluted loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential weighted average dilutive common stock, including options. The
dilutive effect of outstanding awards is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. Diluted loss per share for the fiscal
years ended January 31, 2019, 2020, and 2021 is the same as the basic loss per share as there was a net loss for those periods, and inclusion of potentially
issuable shares was anti-dilutive.
The components of basic and diluted loss per share for periods presented are as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2019

Basic and diluted loss per share:
Numerator
Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to nCino, Inc.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

2021

$

(22,306) $

(27,594) $

(40,536)

$

74,593,709
(0.30) $

78,316,794
(0.35) $

87,678,323
(0.46)

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in the computation of diluted loss per share does not include the effect of the following
potential outstanding common stock because the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

2019

Stock options issued and outstanding
Nonvested RSUs issued and outstanding

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

8,206,926
—
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7,837,023
948,119

2021

5,467,012
1,848,296
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Note 17. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Selected summarized quarterly financial information for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2021 is as follows:
1st Quarter

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2020
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest

$

2nd Quarter

29,836
14,038
15,798

$

Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to nCino,
Inc.
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2021
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Adjustment attributable to redeemable non-controlling
interest

$

8,015
7,366
3,909
19,290
(3,492)
209
(3,283)
136
(3,419)
—
(3,419) $

$

(0.05) $

Net loss attributable to nCino, Inc.
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to nCino,
Inc.

$

44,712
18,866
25,846

$

31,978
14,770
17,208

3rd Quarter

$

37,862
16,889
20,973

4th Quarter

$

38,504
18,373
20,131

Fiscal Year

$

138,180
64,070
74,110

10,453
8,272
6,430
25,155
(7,947)
(353)
(8,300)
202
(8,502)
—
(8,502) $

12,602
9,534
5,557
27,693
(6,720)
789
(5,931)
158
(6,089)
(60)
(6,029) $

13,370
10,132
6,640
30,142
(10,011)
376
(9,635)
90
(9,725)
(81)
(9,644) $

44,440
35,304
22,536
102,280
(28,170)
1,021
(27,149)
586
(27,735)
(141)
(27,594)

(0.11) $

(0.08) $

(0.12) $

(0.35)

48,765
22,587
26,178

$

54,229
22,514
31,715

$

56,587
24,168
32,419

$

204,293
88,135
116,158

12,226
10,965
6,926
30,117
(4,271)
(364)
(4,635)
197
(4,832)
(176)

15,626
15,292
10,953
41,871
(15,693)
1,172
(14,521)
203
(14,724)
(232)

14,175
15,077
11,251
40,503
(8,788)
(182)
(8,970)
309
(9,279)
(292)

17,704
16,929
11,642
46,275
(13,856)
1,298
(12,558)
(123)
(12,435)
(430)

59,731
58,263
40,772
158,766
(42,608)
1,924
(40,684)
586
(41,270)
(1,130)

$

113
(4,769) $

154
(14,646) $

76
(9,063) $

53
(12,058) $

396
(40,536)

$

(0.06) $

(0.17) $

(0.10) $

(0.13) $

(0.46)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the
participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures at
January 31, 2021, the last day of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer have concluded that, at January 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management's assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an
attestation report of our registered public accounting firm as permitted in this transition period under the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and
15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2021 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, our management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints and our management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
The design of any disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Proposal One: Election of Class I Directors
Named in this Proxy Statement,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers,” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” from our Proxy Statement relating
to our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Director Compensation” and “Executive
Compensation,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” from our Proxy Statement relating to our 2021 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” from our Proxy Statement relating to our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions” and “Director Independence” from our Proxy Statement relating to our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the SEC
within 120 days of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and
“Pre-Approval Policy” from our Proxy Statement relating to our 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules
1.

Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2.

Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deferred Tax Assets Valuation Allowance
($ in thousands)

2019

Balance, beginning of period - valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $
Additions (reductions) to expense or other accounts
$
Balance, end of period - valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2020

21,494
11,627
33,121

$
$

33,121
3,304
36,425

$
$

2021

36,425
33,631
70,056

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is otherwise included.
3.

Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
10.1+
10.2+
10.3+
10.4+
10.5+
10.6+
10.7++
10.8+

Description of Exhibit

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of nCino, Inc.
Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of nCino, Inc.
Form of Common Stock Certificate
First Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement,
dated February 12, 2015, as amended, among nCino, Inc. and
certain holders of its capital stock.
First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated May 25, 2016, among nCino, Inc.
and certain holders of its capital stock.
Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated November 23, 2016, among nCino,
Inc. and certain holders of its capital stock.
Third Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated July 31, 2017, among nCino, Inc.
and certain holders of its capital stock.
Fourth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated January 16, 2018, among nCino, Inc.
and certain holders of its capital stock.
Fifth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated July 12, 2018, among nCino, Inc.
and certain holders of its capital stock.
Sixth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Investors’
Rights Agreement, dated September 16, 2019, among nCino,
Inc. and certain holders of its capital stock.
Seventh Amendment to First Amended and Restated
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated September 30, 2019,
among nCino, Inc. and certain holders of its capital stock.
nCino, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long Term
Incentive Plan and related form agreements.
nCino, Inc. 2019 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive
Plan and related form agreements.
nCino, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Pierre
Naudé.
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with David
Rudow.
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Joshua
Glover.
Partner Application Distribution Agreement by and between
Salesforce and the Company, dated June 19, 2020, as
amended.
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by and
between nCino, Inc. and its directors and executive officers.

S-1/A

333-239335

3.1

July 6, 2020

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1

333-239335
333-239335
333-239335

3.2
4.1
4.2

July 6, 2020
July 6, 2020
June 22, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.3

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.4

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.5

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.6

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.7

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.8

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

4.9

July 6, 2020

S-1

333-239335

10.1

June 22, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

10.2

July 6, 2020

S-1/A
S-1/A

333-239335
333-239335

10.3
10.4

July 6, 2020
July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

10.5

July 6, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

10.6

July 6, 2020

S-1

333-239335

10.7

June 22, 2020

S-1/A

333-239335

10.8

July 6, 2020
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1*
32.2*
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104
+
++
*

Description of Exhibit

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Office Lease by and between nCino, Inc. and Cloud Real
Estate Holdings, LLC, dated November 29, 2020.
Amendment to Office Lease by and between Wilmington
Investors LLC and nCino, Inc., dated November 25, 2020
Agreement Regarding Exercise and Assignment of Purchase
Option among nCino, Inc. and Cloud Real Estate Holdings,
LLC, dated November 29, 2020
First Amendment to Office Lease by and between nCino, Inc.
and Cloud Real Estate Holdings, LLC, dated January 27, 2021
List of subsidiaries of nCino, Inc.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document
Inline XBRL Extension Definition
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline
XBRL document)

8-K

001-39380

10.1

December 2, 2020

8-K

001-39380

10.2

December 2, 2020

8-K

001-39380

10.3

December 2, 2020

Filed Herewith

X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
Portions of this exhibit have been redacted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.
The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 and 32. 2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and will not be deemed
"filed" for purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically
incorporates by reference.

Item 16. Form 10–K Summary
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
nCino, Inc.
Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ Pierre Naudé
Pierre Naudé
President and Chief Executive Officer; Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ David Rudow
David Rudow
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Pierre Naudé
Pierre Naudé

President and Chief Executive Officer; Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/ David Rudow
David Rudow

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/ Jeanette Sellers
Jeanette Sellers

Vice President of Accounting
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/Steven Collins
Steven Collins

Director

/s/ Jon Doyle
Jon Doyle

Director

/s/ Jeffrey Horing
Jeffrey Horing

Director

/s/ Pam Kilday
Pam Kilday

Director

/s/ Spencer Lake
Spencer Lake

Director

/s/ Jeffrey Lunsford
Jeffrey Lunsford

Director

/s/ William Ruh
William Ruh

Director
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Exhibit 10.12
FIRST AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE (this “Amendment”) is entered into effective as of January 27, 2021 (the
“Amendment Date”) by and between Cloud Real Estate Holdings, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (“Landlord”), and
nCino, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”), upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
Recitals
A.
Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated effective November 29, 2020 (the “Existing Building Lease”)
for certain premises located at 6770 Parker Farm Drive, Wilmington, North Carolina (as more particularly described therein, the “Premises”).
For the purposes of this Amendment, the term “Lease” shall mean the Existing Building Lease as modified by this Amendment.
B.
The Existing Building Lease became effective and the Commencement Date occurred upon Landlord’s acquisition of the
Property on December 18, 2020.
C.
As a result of Tenant’s exercise of the Parking Deck Option under Section 33.03 of the Existing Building Lease, Landlord and
Tenant have agreed to amend the Existing Building Lease on the terms and conditions set forth in this Amendment.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties
agree as follows:
1.
Design, Approval and Construction of Parking Deck. The “Work Letter” attached hereto as Exhibit A is incorporated
herein by reference.
2.
Definitions. Capitalized terms used by not defined in this Amendment have the meanings given in the Lease. Capitalized terms
used but not otherwise defined in this Amendment or the Lease have the meanings given in the Work Letter, including without limitation the
terms “Parking Deck” and “Parking Deck Completion Date.”
3.

Parking.

a.
The Parking Deck shall neither constitute a part of the Premises nor Common Area; instead the Parking Deck shall be
constructed by Landlord in accordance with the Work Letter and, in consideration of Tenant’s payment of Rent under the Lease, as
modified by the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment as described herein, Tenant shall be entitled to exclusive use of the Parking Deck
except as expressly provided otherwise herein.
b.
From and after the Parking Deck Completion Date, the Parking Deck shall be generally be deemed a part of the
“Building” for the purposes of construing Lease provisions, including without limitation those relating to maintenance, repairs,
replacements, alterations, improvements, compliance, surrender, restoration, holdover, casualty, insurance, hazardous materials and
signage, but expressly, references in the Lease to the term “the Building” (and similar usages) are hereby made in accordance with
Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof.
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c.
Furthermore, effective as of the Parking Deck Completion Date, Article 29 of the Existing Building Lease captioned
“Parking” is hereby amended and restated as follows:
Tenant shall have the right of non-exclusive use, in common with others, of Tenant’s Parking Share of the outdoor
ground level automobile parking areas on the Property. Tenant shall have the right of exclusive use of the Parking Deck
except only as provided in the next two (2) grammatical paragraphs. Vehicles may only be parked in paved, striped
parking spaces and any vehicle parked in any other location on the Property may be towed, at the expense of the
vehicle owner, without notice. All parking spaces associated with the Premises are intended for use by passenger
vehicles, except for intermittent deliveries by commercial vehicles, for which parking spaces also shall be used.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated above, Landlord reserves (a) the right to reasonably designate specific
uncovered parking spaces and up to two (2) spaces within the Parking Deck for Landlord’s performance of its
obligations under the Lease, commercial loading space, and for property management services to the Property and
(b) the right to use of the parking facilities other than the Parking Deck for construction parking as reasonably
necessary or required by applicable law in connection with construction of the Parking Deck, of the building
contemplated by the New Building Lease, and of Landlord Development. For the purposes of this Article 29, the term
“Tenant’s Parking Share” means the quotient, expressed as a percentage, of (x) the rentable square footage of the
Premises divided by (y) the sum of (i) the rentable square footage of the Building and (ii) to the extent applicable, the
rentable square footage of the building(s) constructed pursuant to the New Building Lease or in connection with
Landlord Development. Initially, Tenant’s Parking Share is 100%. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not be
entitled to use of the Parking Deck prior to the Parking Deck Completion Date.
If the New Building Lease is executed, this Lease shall be amended to provide that the Parking Deck may be used by
Tenant pursuant to this Lease and pursuant to the New Building Lease and to the extent any third party leases a portion
of the New Building, such third party shall have the right to use of the Parking Deck. In such event, the parties shall
reduce the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment under this Lease and allocate such portion of the Parking Deck Rent
Adjustment to the New Building Lease.
If there shall be a reduction to (i) the Premises or (ii) following execution of the New Building Lease, the premises
subject to the New Building Lease, then in each such case, (A) the amount of parking spaces in the Parking Deck that
are exclusive to Tenant shall be reduced proportionate to the reduction in the applicable premises, at a rate of 4 spaces
per 1,000 rentable square feet in the reduced area (and a corresponding number of parking cards or entry fobs shall be
given by Tenant to the applicable landlord for use by itself or by a tenant of such building other than Tenant), and (B)
Tenant will be entitled to reserve, and to mark with appropriate signage or paint, up to ten (10) surface parking spaces,
including one (1) handicap space, adjacent to whatever building(s) is(are) subject to the reduction in premises.
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4.
Basic Rent. Effective upon the Parking Deck Completion Date, the applicable rate of Basic Rent per rentable square foot of the
Premises shall be increased by the result of the following formula: (Parking Deck Project Costs x 7.30%)/89,975 rentable square feet (the
“Parking Deck Rent Adjustment”). Although the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment is expected to occur prior to escalation of Basic Rent on
January 1, 2022, the parties agree that the January 1, 2022 escalation shall not apply to the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment (but shall apply to
the balance of Basic Rent), but then, Basic Rent, inclusive of the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment, shall escalate by 2.25% on January 1, 2023
and thereafter on January 1 of each year during the Term.
a.
For the purposes of this Section 4, the term “Parking Deck Project Costs” means all documented out-of-pocket hard
and soft costs incurred by Landlord (including without limitation any amounts reimbursed to Tenant or its agents for expenses incurred
by Tenant or such Tenant agents) to design, approve and construct the Parking Deck Project, which shall be shared on an “open book”
basis with Tenant throughout the Parking Deck Project. Parking Deck Project Costs shall include but are not necessarily limited to
those hard and soft costs listed on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and increases in Parking Deck
Project Costs not provided for in or accommodated by the Approved Budget shall be subject to the terms of Exhibit A.
b.
Tenant shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to review Landlord’s records related to the calculation of
Parking Deck Project Costs within thirty (30) days after receipt of Landlord’s written notice computing Parking Deck Project Costs and
the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment. If Tenant provides Landlord with written notice of what Tenant believes are errors in Landlord’s
calculation of Parking Deck Project Costs or the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment during such thirty (30) day period, the parties shall
meet within fourteen (14) days of such objection (the “Reconciliation Period”) by Tenant to reasonably reconcile the calculation of
Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment to their mutual satisfaction. If the parties are unable to resolve the
discrepancy in the calculation of Parking Deck Project Costs or the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment within the Reconciliation Period,
Tenant shall have the right to refer the matter to a mutually acceptable independent certified public accountant with at least five (5)
years of experience performing commercial real estate audits (the “Arbiter”), who shall work in good faith with Landlord and Tenant to
resolve the discrepancy in the calculation of Parking Deck Project Costs and/or the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment and who shall not
be compensated on a contingency basis; provided if Tenant shall not notify Landlord of Tenant’s intent to engage the Arbiter (the
“Arbiter Notice”) within five (5) business days following the end of the Reconciliation Period, Landlord’s calculation of Parking Deck
Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment, as adjusted by any agreements reached in writing between the parties during the
Reconciliation Period, shall be deemed final and accepted by Tenant. Tenant shall deliver to the Arbiter Landlord’s notice of its
calculation of the Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment and the Commencement Date, together with the
reasonable supporting documentation of the costs associated with such Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent
Adjustment provided by Landlord, and the Arbiter shall deliver its calculation of Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck
Rent Adjustment to Landlord and Tenant within twenty-one (21) days of its selection. The fees and costs of any such Arbiter shall be
borne by Tenant. The decision of the Arbiter with respect to the calculation of Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent
Adjustment shall be final and binding in all respects. Within thirty (30) days after resolution of the discrepancy in the calculation of
Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment, whether by agreement of the parties or a final decision of an
Arbiter, Landlord shall pay or credit to Tenant, or Tenant shall pay to
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Landlord, as the case may be, all unpaid or overpaid amounts of Parking Deck Project Costs and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment
that shall be owing.
5.
Confirmation. Once the Parking Deck Completion Date and the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment are determined, and subject to
review by the Arbiter if elected by Tenant pursuant to Section 4(c) above, Landlord and Tenant agree to execute a statement in the form
reasonably provided by Landlord confirming the Parking Deck Completion Date, the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment, the revised schedule of
Basic Rent (including the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment), and reasonably related factual matters regarding Lease within ten (10) days after
either party’s request. The parties’ failure to execute a statement as required by this paragraph will not affect the validity or determination of the
Parking Deck Completion Date or the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment.
6.

Amendments.

a.
Section 32.08 of the Lease is hereby amended by adding the following sentences thereto: “Notwithstanding the
preceding terms of this Section, Landlord acknowledges and approves disclosure of the Lease by Tenant while Tenant is a “publicly
traded” company subject to the reporting requirements of Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended), but only to
the extent that (and only to the parties to whom) disclosure is required under such Act.”
b.
Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that the definition of Documented Development Fees and Costs set forth in Exhibit
E to the Lease is amended by replacing the words “Parking Deck” set forth therein with the following words “the amendment to this
Lease concerning the Parking Deck, as provided in Section 33.03(A).”
7.
Brokerage. Tenant represents and warrants that it has not had dealings with any real estate broker, finder or other person, with
respect to this Lease in any manner other than Trask Land Company, Inc. and Cameron Management Inc, as Landlord’s brokers, and Jones
Lang LaSalle, as Tenant’s broker (collectively, the “Brokers”). Landlord shall pay such compensation as may be due to Brokers in accordance
with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, a separate written agreement, but this paragraph creates no rights in favor of, and is not
enforceable by, the Brokers. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any and all damages resulting from any claims that may
be asserted against Landlord by any broker, finder or other person (including, without limitation, any substitute or replacement broker claiming
to have been engaged by Tenant) other than the Brokers, claiming to have dealt with Tenant in connection with the negotiation and/or execution
of this Amendment. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease.
8.
Authority. Each of Landlord and Tenant represents and warrants to the other that the individual executing this Amendment on
such party’s behalf is authorized to do so.
9.
Miscellaneous. The recitals to this Amendment are incorporated into the body of this Amendment by reference. Except as
modified by this Amendment, all of Landlord's and Tenant's other rights, obligations and covenants with respect to the Existing Building Lease
shall remain in full force and effect with respect to the Lease. This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed to be an original, and all of such counterparts shall constitute one document. To facilitate execution of this Amendment, the parties
hereto may execute and exchange, by telephone facsimile or electronic mail PDF, counterparts of the signature pages. Signature pages may be
detached from the counterparts and attached to a single copy of this Amendment to physically form one document. In the event any term or
provision of this Amendment is determined by appropriate judicial authority to
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be illegal or otherwise invalid, such provision shall be given its nearest legal meaning or be construed or deleted as such authority determines,
and the remainder of this Amendment shall remain in full force and effect.
[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment effective as of the Amendment Date.

TENANT:
nCino, Inc.
a Delaware corporation
By:

/s/ Pierre Naudé

Name: Pierre Naudé
Title: CEO

LANDLORD:
Cloud Real Estate Holdings, LLC
a North Carolina limited liability company
By:

/s/ Raiford Trask

Name: Raiford Trask
Title: Manager and Member
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Exhibit A
Work Letter
THIS WORK LETTER (this “Work Letter”) is attached to and made a part of the foregoing First Amendment to Office Lease (the
“Amendment”) between Cloud Real Estate Holdings, LLC (“Landlord”) and nCino, Inc. (“Tenant”).
1.
Definitions. Any capitalized terms that are used but not defined in this Work Letter have the meanings given in the
Amendment. The definitions set forth below will apply to this Work Letter.
a.
“Applicable Law” means applicable laws, regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, permits, restrictive covenants and
architectural controls, including but not limited to those set forth in the Master Declaration.
b.

“Architect” means LS3P Architecture PLLC, a North Carolina professional limited liability company.

c.

“Engineer” means Norris & Tunstall Consulting Engineers, P.C., a North Carolina professional corporation.

d.
“Force Majeure Delay” means, for the purposes of this Work Letter only, a delay in the design, approval or
construction of the Parking Deck Project resulting from caused by severe weather conditions (i.e., weather conditions that are
materially worse than those that reasonably would be anticipated at the applicable time based on historic meteorological records),
hurricane, tropical storm, strikes, lock-outs, fire, casualty, acts of war or civil commotion, epidemic affecting New Hanover County,
NC, national pandemic, emergency proclamation, or adverse orders of a governmental authority, or for any other reason beyond
Landlord’s control. Landlord will advise Tenant as soon as reasonably practicable of a Force Majeure Delay, and the parties shall
exercise reasonable efforts to mitigate the effects of a Force Majeure Delay.
e.
“General Contractor” means, for the purposes of this Work Letter only, Thomas Construction Group, LLC, a North
Carolina limited liability company.
f.
“Parking Deck” means that certain parking deck containing approximately 642 spaces to be constructed on the
Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Work Letter, in accordance with the Approved Construction Drawings, as
such term is defined herein.
g.
“Parking Deck Project” means construction of the Parking Deck, together with related landscaping and other
improvements to the Property required for the construction and operation of the Parking Deck substantially in accordance with the
Required Approvals (hereinafter defined) and Applicable Law.
h.
“Tenant Delay” means, for the purposes of this Work Letter only, a delay in the design, approval or construction of the
Parking Deck Project resulting from (i) changes requested by Tenant to plans, drawings, budgets or other matters previously approved
by Tenant in writing (including by email from the Tenant Representative), (ii) Tenant’s selection of equipment, materials or other
matters that have long lead times after having been informed by Landlord that such selection will result in delay, (iii) postponement of
any work at Tenant’s request, (iv) Tenant’s failure to respond or provide approval or information within the timeframes set forth in this
Work Letter (excluding any reminder periods) or, if no time frame is specified herein,
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within a reasonable time after Landlord’s request, (v) any default by Tenant under this Work Letter or the Lease, (vi) Tenant or its
representatives’ failure to participate in any reasonably scheduled meeting regarding the substance matter of this Work Letter that
Tenant or such representatives agreed to attend or unreasonably refused to attend, or (vii) other acts or omissions of Tenant or Tenant’s
agents that cause a delay in the design, approval or construction of the Parking Deck Project.
i.

“TRC” means the Technical Review Committee of the City of Wilmington.

2.
Preliminary Plans. Landlord and Tenant have approved the current draft preliminary plans for the Parking Deck Project
prepared by the Engineer, copies of which are attached hereto as Schedule 1 (excluding the portions thereof that are specific to the new
building, the “Draft Preliminary Plans”). The Draft Preliminary Plans shall be submitted to the TRC for review and approval. Landlord will
promptly advise Tenant of any changes to the Draft Preliminary Plans required by the TRC. The term “Approved Preliminary Plans” shall
mean the final version of the Draft Preliminary Plans approved by the TRC, including revisions required by the TRC.
3.
Construction Drawings. Once the Approved Preliminary Plans have been determined, Landlord shall cause the Architect,
Engineer and Contractor, as applicable, to prepare construction drawings for the Parking Deck Project in accordance with the Approved
Preliminary Plans and the requirements of Applicable Law (“Draft Construction Drawings”). Landlord will provide Tenant with Draft
Construction Drawings and Tenant shall have seven (7) business days to review the same and approve them or notify Landlord in writing of
any good faith and reasonable objections thereto (“Drawing Objections”); provided, however, that Tenant’s Drawing Objections shall not
include matters that conform to the Approved Preliminary Plans. If Tenant fails to approve or notify Landlord of its Drawing Objections within
such seven (7) business day period, Landlord may so notify Tenant, in which case Tenant shall be deemed to have approved the Draft
Construction Drawings unless Tenant provides Landlords with its approval or Drawing Objections within three (3) business days after
Landlord’s reminder notice. Landlord and Tenant shall work together in good faith to resolve any Drawing Objections that are timely raised by
Tenant in accordance with this paragraph and, if they are unable to do so within five (5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of the Drawing
Objections, Landlord shall cause the Draft Construction Drawings to be revised as nearly as possible to conform to the Approved Preliminary
Plans and the requirements of Applicable Law. The term “Approved Construction Drawings” means the final version of the Draft Construction
Drawings mutually approved by Landlord and Tenant in accordance with this paragraph or, if they are unable to so agree, the final version of
the Construction Drawings resulting from the revisions required by the immediately preceding sentence, together with such revisions as may be
required as a condition to the Required Approvals.
4.
Budget. As soon as reasonably practicable, Landlord will provide Tenant with a budget for the cost to design and construct the
Parking Deck Project, which budget will include, without limitation, any design costs that have been incurred by Tenant and reimbursed by
Landlord in accordance with a separate written agreement, hard and soft costs, anticipated carrying costs and reasonable contingencies and any
other anticipated Parking Deck Project Costs (the “Proposed Budget”). Landlord will provide Tenant with the Proposed Budget and Tenant
shall have seven (7) business days to review and approve it or to notify Landlord in writing of any good faith and reasonable objections thereto
(“Budget Objections”). If Tenant fails to approve the Proposed Budget or notify Landlord of its Budget Objections within such seven (7)
business day period, Landlord may so notify Tenant, in which case Tenant shall be deemed to have approved the Proposed Budget unless
Tenant provides Landlord with its approval or Budget Objections within three (3) days after Landlord’s reminder notice. Landlord and Tenant
shall work together in good faith to resolve any Budget Objections that are timely raised by
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Tenant in accordance with this paragraph. The term “Approved Budget” means the final version of the Preliminary Budget mutually approved
in writing by Landlord and Tenant in accordance with this paragraph.
5.
Approvals. Not later than promptly after the Approved Construction Drawings and Approved Budget have been determined,
Landlord shall begin applying for all necessary permits, licenses and approvals for the construction of the Parking Deck Project in accordance
with he Approved Construction Drawings, including without limitation architectural approvals required under the Master Declaration
(“Required Approvals”). Landlord represents to Tenant that (i) the architectural review committee established pursuant to the Master
Declaration approved Landlord’s application for the Parking Deck Project on January 5, 2021, and (ii) based upon the latest update of the
Parking Deck Project construction schedule, as of the Amendment Date, the Required Approvals are estimated to be obtained on or about
March 10, 2021. Landlord will diligently pursue the Required Approvals and keep Tenant reasonably informed as to the status of its pursuit of
the Required Approvals. Tenant agrees to cooperate with Landlord in connection with the Landlord’s pursuit of the Required Approvals,
including responding promptly to requests from Landlord for information, clarification and Tenant input relating to the Required Approvals.
6.
Changes. The term “Minor Changes” means changes to the Approved Construction Drawings or Approved Budget that (a) are
necessary or appropriate in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, the Architect or the General Contractor, (b) do not adversely impact the
structure of the Parking Deck, and (c) do not exceed the applicable line item in the Approved Budget (including applicable contingencies) by
more than $25,000 in a single instance, or by $150,000 in the aggregate. Landlord shall notify Tenant of any Minor Changes in advance, if
practical, and promptly if advance notice is not practical, and such notice shall state the anticipated effect on the Approved Budget as a result of
all Minor Changes made to the date of such notice. Landlord agrees not to make any changes to the Approved Construction Drawings or the
Approved Budget other than Minor Changes, without Tenant’s prior written consent as to such change and any increase in the Parking Deck
Project Costs associated therewith that are not provided for in or accommodated by the Approved Budget, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If Tenant fails to respond to a request to approve any change, other than a Minor Change, to the
Approved Construction Drawings or Approved Budget proposed by Landlord within such five (5) business days after Landlord’s request
(which request shall be accompanied by reasonable supporting documentation detailing the proposed change), Tenant shall conclusively be
deemed to have approved the proposed change. If Tenant shall notify Landlord of its objection to a change, other than a Minor Change, to the
Approved Construction Drawings or Approved Budget proposed by Landlord within such five (5) business day period, Landlord and Tenant
shall reasonably share records and estimates, rebid the change at issue (if mutually agreed), and cooperate to resolve any such differences as
soon as reasonably possible.
7.
Construction. Promptly after issuance of the Required Approvals, Landlord shall cause the General Contractor to commence
and thereafter diligently pursue to completion of construction of the Parking Deck Project in a good and workmanlike manner, in compliance
with the Required Approvals and Applicable Law, and substantially in accordance with the Approved Construction Drawings.
a.
Substantial Completion. The term “Parking Deck Completion Date” means the date on which the Parking Deck
Project has been substantially completed except for Punchlist Items (as defined below) and will be deemed to have occurred upon
earliest to occur of (i) a final inspection by the applicable governmental authorities authorizing the use and occupancy of the Parking
Deck, or (ii) issuance of a certificate of occupancy or local equivalent for the Parking Deck. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parking
Deck Completion Date shall be deemed

First Amendment to Office Lease

Exhibit A, Page 3

accelerated by one day for each day of delay in substantial completion of the Parking Deck Project resulting from Tenant Delay.
b.
Schedule. The target date for substantial completion of the Parking Deck Project is the two hundred and fourth (204th)
day after the date Landlord obtains all Required Approvals (subject to day for day extension due to Force Majeure Delay, the “Target
Completion Date”). If the Parking Deck Completion Date does not occur on or before the thirtieth (30th) day after the Target
Completion Date (subject to day for day extension due to Force Majeure Delay, the “Outside Completion Date”), Tenant’s sole remedy
shall be to receive a credit against Basic Rent coming due under the Lease equal to one day of the portion of Basic Rent attributable to
the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment per day from the Outside Completion Date until the Parking Deck Completion Date.
c.
Temporary Parking. To the extent and during such times that construction of the Parking Deck Project reduces the
number of usable parking spaces at the Property below the number of parking spaces then required by Tenant for its employees and
visitors who are actually on-site (the “Parking Space Minimum”), then Landlord will provide (A) temporary parking for nCino at
(x) Renaissance within Westfall Research Park, (y) Autumn Hall, and/or (z) that portion of New Hanover County tax parcel number
R05100-003-083-000, as shown on the site plan attached hereto as Schedule 2, which fronts on the eastern margin of Military Cut Off
Road between Howe Creek, to the south, and Lucia Point Subdivision, to the north, and (B) reasonable shuttle service to and from the
Property and any such off-site parking (collectively, “Off-Site Parking”). Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing if Tenant desires for
Landlord to commence providing Off-Site Parking, in which case Landlord will promptly provide its good faith and reasonable
estimate of the Off-Site Parking Costs, as defined herein. Landlord’s obligation to commence providing Off-Site Parking will not
commence until thirty (30) days after Tenant gives its written approval of Landlord’s estimate the Off-Site Parking Costs, subject to any
Force Majeure Delay. Landlord will be responsible, without reimbursement, for rental or license fees it incurs to procure the off-site
parking required by this paragraph, but other reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such off-site
parking will be included in Expenses, including without limitation the cost of shuttle service and costs incurred for improvements,
alterations or signage as reasonably required at the off-site parking location(s) (the “Off-Site Parking Costs”).
8.
Punch-List. Landlord will advise Tenant upon substantial completion of the Parking Deck Project. Within five (5) business
days thereafter, the Landlord Representative and the Tenant Representative shall conduct a walk-through of the Parking Deck Project and
identify any defects, necessary touch-up work, repairs and minor completion items that are necessary for final completion of the Parking Deck
Project (the “Punchlist Items”). Neither the Landlord Representative nor the Tenant Representative shall unreasonably withhold agreement on
Punchlist Items. Landlord shall cause the General Contractor to promptly and diligently complete Punchlist Items as soon as reasonably
practicable.
9.
Designation of Representatives. Tenant has appointed Katie Smith (whether one or more, each the “Tenant Representative”)
for the purposes of coordinating with Landlord in connection with this Work Letter. Each Tenant Representative, acting alone, has been duly
authorized to give notices, approvals and make decisions for Tenant regarding the subject matter of this Work Letter. Landlord shall be entitled
to rely on any approval or instruction provided by any Tenant Representative as having been duly authorized and approved by Tenant, without
duty of further inquiry or investigation on the part of Landlord. Landlord has appointed Raiford Trask (whether one or more, each the
“Landlord Representative”) for the purposes of coordinating with Tenant in connection with this Work Letter. Each

First Amendment to Office Lease

Exhibit A, Page 4

Landlord Representative, acting alone, has been duly authorized to give notices, approvals and make decisions for Landlord regarding the
subject matter of this Work Letter. Tenant shall be entitled to rely on any approval or instruction provided by any Landlord Representative as
having been duly authorized and approved by Landlord, without duty of further inquiry or investigation on the part of Tenant.
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Schedule 1 to Work Letter
Draft Preliminary Plans for the Parking Deck Project

See attached (25 additional pages)
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Schedule 2 to Work Letter
Site Plan for Tax Parcel R05100-003-083-000
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Exhibit B
Parking Deck Project Costs
Soft Costs

Hard Costs
Parking Deck Structure

Architect

Site Work, including utilities and infrastructure per the Engineering – Structural
Approved Construction Drawings
Engineering – Civil
Generator Costs
Land Planning
Landscaping and Irrigation

Signage

GC Fee and General Conditions

Testing & Inspections

GC Contingency

Quality Assurance
Traffic Study
Survey
Geotechnical
Permit and Tap Fees
Appraisal
Environmental Studies
Legal
Loan Fee
Closing Costs
Insurance - Builder's Risk
Insurance - General Liability
Taxes
Developer Contingency (7.5% of the Approved Budget, but excluding any
Developer Contingency not actually expendedf
Leasing Commission - JLL Existing Building (4% based on 15 years of Basic Rent
and assumed Expenses of $7.50 per RSF)
Leasing Commission – Trask/Cameron Existing Building (2% based on 10 years of
Basic Rent and assumed Expenses of $7.50 per RSF)
Leasing Commission - JLL Parking Deck (4% based on 15 years for the Parking
Deck Rent Adjustment and assumed Expenses of $7.50 per RSF)
Leasing Commission - Trask/Cameron Parking Deck (2% based on 10 years for the
Parking Deck Rent adjustment and assumed Expenses of $7.50 per RSF)
Development Fee (3.75% of hard and soft costs)
Construction Interest Carry (not to exceed 3.3% per annum)
Payment and Performance Bonds (0.75% of hard costs)
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Exhibit C
Amendments Pertaining to Usage of the term Building
1. The following references in the Lease set forth in the articles or sections cited below in the following table, are hereby amended as
detailed in this table.
Articles/Sections

Previous Reference

Amended Reference

2.02
5.01 – “Real Estate Taxes”
17.05
Exhibit B-1 “Manager or Property Manager”

the Building

the Building and the Parking Deck

5.01 – “Expenses”

the Building(,) and/or the Property

the Building, the Parking Deck, and/or the Property

8.01
10.01(A)
30.01
Exhibit B, except items 10, 12 and 21

the Building

the Building or the Parking Deck

10.01(B)
12.01

the Building, or the Property

the Building, the Parking Deck, or the Property

10.02

of the Building

of the Building and the Parking Deck

10.02
15.01
15.02
15.04
17.05

the Premises or (the) Building
-orthe Building or the Premises

the Premises, the Building, or the Parking Deck

15.01

the Building

the Building or the Parking Deck, as applicable,

15.01
15.02

the Building and/or the Premises

the Parking Deck, the Building and/or the Premises

15.01 “Force Majeure Delay”

the Building or other improvements on the the Building, the Parking Deck, or other improvements on
Property
the Property

15.01 “Tenant Delay”

the Building or other improvements on the the Building or other improvements on the Property,
Property
excluding the Parking Deck

Exhibit B

the Building and/or the Land

the Building, the Parking Deck, and/or the Land

Exhibit B, item 12

the Building or its systems

the Building or its systems or the Parking Deck or its
systems

2. For the avoidance of doubt, no amendments are hereby made to references to the Building in Article 1, the definition of Proportionate
Share in Section 5.01, Section 5.02, Section 6.02, Section 8.02, Section 9.05, Section 9.10, Section 13.04, Section 14.01, Section 14.04,
Article 22, Article 29 (otherwise amended herein), Section 31.01, Section 32.08, Section 32.11, Exhibit A-1, Exhibit B-1 (except as
specifically noted above), Exhibit E, or Exhibit F.
3. In addition, the following amendments are hereby made:
a. the third sentence of Section 16.03 is hereby modified as shown in bold underline as follows: If, as a result of any taking, a part
of the Building or the Parking Deck is rendered permanently or temporarily unusable, the Rent shall be reduced by a fair and
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reasonable amount, not to exceed the proportion by which the portion of the Premises or the Parking Deck taken or made
unusable bears to the entirety of the Premises or the Parking Deck, as applicable; provided, however, that any adjustment to
Rent pursuant to this sentence attributable to a taking of Parking Deck shall be limited to the Parking Deck Rent Adjustment.
b. the references in Exhibit B-1 to the Lease to “Parking Garage” are hereby replaced with “Parking Deck”.
c. Item 9 of Exhibit B-2 is modified hereby as shown in bold underline as follows: provide trash removal from any receptacles
in the Parking Deck and from the Building dumpster/compactor at a designated location and, if requested by Tenant,
collection and removal of paper and aluminum cans for recycling.”
d. Exhibit C to the Lease is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the Exhibit attached hereto as Exhibit C-1 and
incorporated herein.
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EXHIBIT C-1

Rules and Regulations
The following rules and regulations shall apply, where applicable, to the Premises, the Building, the parking facilities (if any), the Property and
the appurtenances. In the event of a conflict between the following rules and regulations and the remainder of the terms of the Lease, the
remainder of the terms of the Lease shall control. Capitalized terms have the same meaning as defined in the Lease.
1.

Sidewalks, doorways, vestibules, halls, stairways and other similar areas shall not be obstructed by Tenant or used by Tenant for any
purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the Premises. No rubbish, litter, trash, or material shall be placed, emptied, or thrown
in those areas. At no time shall Tenant permit Tenant’s employees to loiter in the Property’s common areas or elsewhere about the
Building or in the Parking Deck.

2.

Plumbing fixtures and appliances shall be used only for the purposes for which designed and no sweepings, rubbish, rags or other
unsuitable material shall be thrown or placed in the fixtures or appliances. Damage resulting to fixtures or appliances by Tenant, its
agents, employees or invitees shall be paid for by Tenant and Landlord shall not be responsible for the damage.

3.

No signs, advertisements or notices shall be painted or affixed to windows, doors or other parts of the Building or the Parking Deck,
except those of such color, size, style and in such places as are first approved in writing by Landlord. All tenant identification and suite
numbers at the entrance to the Premises shall be installed by Landlord, at Tenant’s cost and expense, using the standard graphics for the
Building. Except in connection with the hanging of lightweight pictures and wall decorations, no nails, hooks or screws shall be
inserted into any part of the Premises or Building except by the Building maintenance personnel without Landlord’s prior approval,
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

4.

If there are multiple tenants in the Building, Landlord may provide and maintain in the first floor (main lobby) of the Building an
alphabetical directory board or other directory device listing tenants and no other directory shall be permitted unless previously
consented to by Landlord in writing.

5.

Tenant shall not place any lock(s) on any door in the Premises or Building without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, and Landlord shall have the right at all times to retain and use keys or other access codes or devices
to all locks within and into the Premises. A reasonable number of keys to the locks on the entry doors in the Premises shall be furnished
by Landlord to Tenant at Tenant’s cost and Tenant shall not make any duplicate keys. All keys shall be returned to Landlord at the
expiration or early termination of the Lease.

6.

All contractors, contractor’s representatives and installation technicians performing work in the Building shall be subject to Landlord’s
prior approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, and shall be required to comply with Landlord’s standard rules,
regulations, policies and procedures, which may be revised from time to time.
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7.

Landlord shall have the right to approve the weight, size, or location of heavy equipment or articles in and about the Premises, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Damage to the Building or the Parking Deck by the installation, maintenance, operation,
existence or removal of Tenant’s Property shall be repaired at Tenant’s sole expense.

8.

Tenant shall not (1) make or permit any improper, objectionable or unpleasant noises or odors in the Building or the Parking Deck, or
otherwise interfere in any way with other tenants or persons having business with them; (2) solicit business or distribute or cause to be
distributed, in any portion of the Building or the Parking Deck, handbills, promotional materials or other advertising; or (3) conduct
or permit other activities in the Building or the Parking Deck that might, in Landlord’s sole opinion, constitute a nuisance.

9.

No inflammable, explosive or dangerous fluids or substances shall be used or kept by Tenant in the Premises, Building, the Parking
Deck, or otherwise about the Property, except for those substances as are typically found in similar premises used for general office
purposes and are being used by Tenant in a safe manner and in accordance with all applicable laws. Tenant shall not, without
Landlord’s prior written consent, use, store, install, spill, remove, release or dispose of, within or about the Premises or any other
portion of the Property, any asbestos-containing materials or any solid, liquid or gaseous material now or subsequently considered toxic
or hazardous under the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq. or any other applicable Environmental Laws which may now or
later be in effect. Tenant shall comply with all applicable laws pertaining to and governing the use of these materials by Tenant and
shall remain solely liable for the costs of abatement and removal.

10.

Tenant shall not use or occupy the Premises in any manner or for any purpose which might injure the reputation or impair the present or
future value of the Premises or the Building, Parking Deck or Property. Tenant shall not use, or permit any part of the Premises to be
used for lodging, sleeping or for any illegal purpose.

11.

Tenant shall not take any action which would violate Landlord’s labor contracts or which would cause a work stoppage, picketing, labor
disruption or dispute or interfere with Landlord’s or any other tenant’s or occupant’s business or with the rights and privileges of any
person lawfully in the Building or the Parking Deck (“Labor Disruption”). Tenant shall take the actions necessary to resolve the Labor
Disruption, and shall have pickets removed and, at the request of Landlord, immediately terminate any work in the Premises that gave
rise to the Labor Disruption, until Landlord gives its written consent for the work to resume. Tenant shall have no claim for damages
against Landlord or any of the Landlord Related Parties nor shall the Commencement Date of the Term be extended as a result of the
above actions.

12.

Tenant shall not install, operate or maintain in the Premises or in any other area of the Building or the Parking Deck, electrical
equipment that would overload the electrical system beyond its capacity for proper, efficient and safe operation as determined solely by
Landlord, Tenant shall not furnish cooling or heating to the Premises, including, without limitation, the use of electric or gas heating
devices, without Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall not use more than its proportionate share of telephone lines and other
telecommunication facilities available to service the Building.

13.

Bicycles and other vehicles are not permitted inside the Building or on the walkways outside the Building or inside the Parking Deck,
except in areas designated by Landlord.
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14.

Landlord may from time to time adopt reasonable systems and procedures for the security and safety of the Building, the Parking
Deck and otherwise with respect to the Property, its occupants, entry, use and contents. Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors,
guests and invitees shall comply with Landlord’s systems and procedures.

15.

Landlord shall have the right to prohibit the use of the name of the Building or any other publicity by Tenant that in Landlord’s sole
opinion may impair the reputation of the Building or its desirability. Upon written notice from Landlord, Tenant shall refrain from and
discontinue such publicity immediately.

16.

Neither Tenant nor its agents, employees, contractors, guests or invitees shall smoke or permit smoking in the Property’s common
areas, unless a portion of such common areas have been declared a designated smoking area by Landlord, nor shall the above parties
allow smoke from the Premises to emanate into such common areas or any other part of the Building. Landlord shall have the right to
designate the Building (including the Premises) and the Parking Deck as a non-smoking building.

17.

Landlord shall have the right to designate and approve standard window coverings for the Premises and to establish rules to assure that
the Building presents a uniform exterior appearance. Tenant shall ensure, to the extent reasonably practicable, that window coverings
are closed on windows in the Premises while they are exposed to the direct rays of the sun.

18.

Deliveries to and from the Premises shall be made only at the times in the areas and through the entrances and exits reasonably
designated by Landlord. Tenant shall not make deliveries to or from the Premises in a manner that might interfere with the use by any
other tenant of its premises or of the Property’s common areas, any pedestrian use, or any use which is inconsistent with good business
practice.

Landlord reserves the right at any time to rescind, alter or waive any rule or regulation at any time prescribed for the Building, common areas
of the Property, and/or Parking Deck and to impose additional rules and regulations when, in its reasonable judgment, it deems it necessary,
desirable or proper for its best interests and for the best interests of the tenants, and no alteration or waiver of any rule or regulation in favor of
one tenant shall operate as an alteration or waiver in favor of any other tenant. Landlord shall not be responsible to any tenant for the nonobservance or violation by any other tenant, however resulting, of any of the rules or regulations at any time prescribed for the Building,
common areas of the Property, and/or Parking Deck.

First Amendment to Office Lease
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Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
Name of Subsidiary
nCino APAC Pty Ltd
FinSuite Pty Ltd
nCino New Zealand Limited
nCino Global Ltd
nCino Germany GmbH
Visible Equity, LLC
nCino K.K.
nCino Canada, Inc.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Australia
Australia
New Zealand
United Kingdom
Germany
Delaware
Japan
Canada

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-239907) pertaining to the nCino, Inc. 2019
Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, nCino, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and nCino, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Stock Ownership and
Long Term Incentive Plan of our report dated March 31, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and the financial statement
schedule listed in Item 15.2. of nCino, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended January 31, 2021.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Raleigh, North Carolina
March 31, 2021

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Pierre Naudé, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of nCino, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ Pierre Naudé
Pierre Naudé
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David Rudow, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of nCino, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ David Rudow
David Rudow
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of nCino, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to
§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ Pierre Naudé
Pierre Naudé
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of nCino, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to
§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ David Rudow
David Rudow
Chief Financial Officer

